# Modulation of Estrogenic Activity in Estrogen Receptor $\alpha$ and $\beta$ by Flavonoids in Women's Health Botanicals

ΒY

Obinna C. Mbachu PharmD. Midwestern University 2014

# THESIS

Submitted as partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Medicinal Chemistry in the Graduate College of the University of Illinois at Chicago, 2020 Chicago, Illinois.

Defense Committee:

Judy L. Bolton, Advisor Stephen DiMagno, Chair Joanna Burdette Terry Moore Jeremy Johnson Birgit Dietz Maarten Bosland, UIC Department of Pathology Dedicated to my God the King for His glory, and to my love-my wife Liz.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First, I want to thank Dr Judy Bolton, who believed in me and granted me an opportunity to join her lab. She was an intelligent woman of leadership, excellence and fortitude. She sought the best for her students. I am grateful for her counsel, training, and teaching. I have been fortunate to be a graduate student in her lab. I am thankful to Dr Birgit Dietz for everything that I learned from her and all her assistance. A special thanks to Dr Stephen DiMagno for his invaluable support, counsel, and character. I thank Dr Joanna Burdette who has always been supportive, especially after the loss of Dr Bolton. I also would like to thank Dr Terry Moore who gave me my first opportunity to learn as a graduate student in his lab, and for always offering me good counsel. I thank Dr Jeremy Johnson for his attentiveness and support. I want to convey my gratitude to Dr Maarten Bosland for allowing me to learn in his lab and for kindly offering his provisions for my project. My gratitude to Dr Guenter Vollmer for his experience and contribution to my work. Special thanks to Dr Charlotte Simmler from whom I learned so much and with whom I collaborated through my research projects. I thank her for her training, guidance and friendship. I also thank Sarah G. Ellis for her kindness and for her training that helped me when I first joined Dr Bolton's lab. My regards to the UIC Botanical Dietary Supplements Research Center for providing a great learning and collaborative environment. Thanks to all my lab members, past and present: Dr Tareisha Dunlap, Dr Atieh Hajirahimkhan, Huali Dong, Caitlin Howell Amanda Maldonado, and Ryan Hitzman for their academic partnership through graduate school. Lastly, I thank all my family and friends for their support and patience through my academic journey.

iii

## **CONTRIBUTION OF AUTHORS**

Figure 5 was generated by Dr Theresa Dunlap and Dr Shuai Wang, and Figure 6 and 7 was generated by Dr Shuai Wang: these were modified by me in this thesis. The information in Chapter 2 and Chapter 3 was reprinted in part with changes to the format from the published paper, "Atieh Hajirahimkhan, Obinna Mbachu, Charlotte Simmler, Sarah Green, Huali Dong, Dejan Nikolic, David C. Lankin, Richard B. van Breemen, Shao-Nong Chen, Guido F. Pauli, Birgit M. Dietz, and Judy L. Bolton "Estrogen Receptor (ER) Subtype Selectivity Identifies 8-Prenylapigenin as an ER<sup>β</sup> Agonist from *Glycyrrhiza inflata* and Highlights the Importance of Chemical and Biological Authentication" Journal of Natural Products 81(4), 966-975 (2018)" in which I was primary coauthor. PPT data in Figure 12 and Figure 13 were generated by Huali Dong and Sarah G. Ellis. Figures 15 and 19 were generated by Dr Atieh Hajirahimkhan. Figure 18, NMR spectra in Figure 21, and Table III was generated by Dr Charlotte Simmler. The information in Chapter 2 was reprinted in part with changes to the format from the manuscript in preparation "Obinna C. Mbachu, Caitlin Howell, Charlotte Simmler, Gonzalo R. Malca Garcia, Kornelia J. Skowron, Huali Dong, Sarah G. Ellis, Atieh Hajirahimkhan, Shao-Nong Chen, Dejan Nikolic, Terry W. Moore, Günter Vollmer, Guido F. Pauli, Judy L. Bolton, Birgit M. Dietz "SAR study on Estrogen Receptor  $\alpha/\beta$ activity of (iso)flavonoids: importance of prenylation, C-ring (un)saturation, and hydroxyl substituents" Journal of Agriculture and Food Chemistry (Manuscript in preparation for submission, 2019). Figure 26 was generated by Caitlin Howell. The rest of the images were generated by me. Figures and tables in Appendices were generated by Dr Charlotte Simmler.

iv

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

	CHAPTER	<u>PAGE</u>
1.	INTRODUCTION	1
	1.1. Estrogens	1
	1.1.1. Estrogen Biosynthesis	2
	1.1.2. Estrogen Metabolism	4
	1.1.3. Biological Functions	5
	1.2. Estrogen Receptors	6
	1.3. Estrogenic Signaling Pathways	8
	1.3.1. Direct Genomic Signaling	8
	1.3.2. Indirect Genomic Signaling	9
	1.3.3. Indirect Non-genomic Signaling	10
	1.4. Breast Cancer	12
	1.4.1. Estrogen and Breast Cancer	12
	1.4.2. Estrogen Carcinogenesis	14
	1.4.3. Estrogen Chemical Carcinogenesis	14
	1.4.4. Estrogen Hormonal Carcinogenesis	16
	1.5. Breast Cancer Chemoprevention	17
	1.6. Menopause and Hormone Therapy	20
	1.7. Botanicals for Women's Health Research	21
	1.8. Women's Health Botanicals and Phytoestrogens	21
	1.8.1. Hops	21
	1.8.2. Red clover	22
	1.8.3. Licorice	23
	1.8.4. Epimedium	24
	1.9. Specific Aims for Study	25
2.	MATERIALS AND METHODS	27
	2.1. Chemicals and Reagents.	27
	2.2. Botanical Extract Preparations.	28
	2.2. Fractionation of <i>G. inflata</i> Crude Extract.	30
	2.3. Confirmation of the Identity and Purity of Commercial Standards	s <b>.</b> 31
	2.4. Cell Culture Condition.	

# TABLE OF CONTENTS (continued)

	CHAPTER	GE
	2.5. Estrogen Responsive Alkaline Phosphatase Induction in Ishikawa cells	35
	2.6. ERβ-ERE-luciferase Induction in MDA-MB-231/β41 Cells	36
	2.7. ER $\alpha$ and ER $\beta$ Competitive Binding assay	37
	2.8. Time Resolved Fluorescence Energy Transfer (TR-FRET) assay in ER $\alpha$ = ER $\beta$	and 38
	2.9. Computational docking model	39
3.	METHOD OPTIMIZATION FOR DETERMINATION OF ER $\alpha$ AND ER $\beta$ ACTIVITY OF (ISO)FLAVONOIDS	40
	3.1. Rationale and Hypothesis	40
	3.1.1 Validation of the Bioassays for Differentiating ER $\alpha$ versus ER $\beta$ Effects.	41
	3.1.2. Results and Discussion	42
4.	IDENTIFICATION OF ESTROGEN RECEPTOR BETA PREFERENTIAL COMPOUNDS IN LICORICE SPECIES	48
	4.1. Rationale and Hypothesis	48
	4.2. Results and Discussion	51
	4.2.1 Comparison of ER $\alpha$ versus ER $\beta$ Activity of Botanicals	51
	4.2.2 Bioassay-Guided Fractionation of <i>G. inflata</i>	54
	4.2.3. A Cautionary Tale: The Importance of Characterizing Purchased Standards.	60
	4.2.4 Differential Activation of the ER Subtypes by 8-Prenylapigenin and Know Phytoestrogens	vn 62
5.	MODULATION OF ESTROGENIC ACTIVITY BY ESTROGEN RECEPTOR BIOACTIVE (ISO)FLAVONOID STRUCTURES IN WOMEN'S HEALTH	
	BOTANICALS	66
	5.1. Rationale and Hypothesis	66
	5.2. Results	71
	5.2.1 Competitive binding assays of (iso)flavonoids in ER $\alpha$ and ER $\beta$	71
		73
	5.2.2 In Silico Computational Models	74
	5.2.3 TR-FRET assay of (iso)flavonoids in ER $\alpha$ and ER $\beta$	77
	5.2.4. Comparative functional estrogenic activity of (iso)flavonoids	79
	5.2.5 Functional estrogenic activity of extracts	85

# TABLE OF CONTENTS (continued)

	CHAPTER	<u>PAGE</u>
	5.2.6. Discussion	
6.	CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS	
CITED LITERATURE		
APPENDICES		
VITA155		

# LIST OF TABLES

TABLE	PAGE
I.	ER $\alpha$ and ER $\beta$ Method Optimization values47
II.	ERα- and ERβ-dependent Estrogenic Effects of Licorice Species and Isolated Compounds59
111.	Comparative Concentrations of Bioactive Compounds in Licorice Extracts. 
IV.	$ER\alpha$ and $ER\beta$ (Iso)Flavonoid ER subtype and Coactivator Affinity76
V.	ERα and ERβ-dependent Estrogenic Effects of Extracts and (Iso)Flavonoids

# LIST OF FIGURES

<u>FIGURE</u>	PAG	iΕ
1.	Structure of Endogenous Estrogens	.1
2.	Putative Scheme of Estrogen Biosynthesis	.4
3.	Direct Genomic Signaling	.9
4.	Putative scheme of indirect non-genomic signaling	1
5.	Schematic representation of estrogenic hormonal pathway and chemical pathway in carcinogenesis	15
6.	Estrogen Hormonal Carcinogenesis1	17
7.	Bioactive Compounds in Hops2	22
8.	Bioactive Isoflavonoids in Red clover2	23
9.	Bioactive Compounds present in Licorice2	<u>2</u> 4
10.	Bioactive compound, Icaritin, present in Epimedium and its <i>in vivo</i> Metabolite2	25
11.	ER Subtype Selective Ligands	12
12.	Method Validation for Defining ER Selectivity by Select Compounds	15
13.	Method Validation Assay Confirming ERβ Modulation for Estrogenic	<del>1</del> 6
14.	Method Validation Confirming assay ER Modulation for Estrogenic Analysi	s 17
15.	The Effect of ER $\beta$ Dependent Pathways on ER $\alpha$ Dependent Proliferation. 4	19
16.	<i>G. inflata</i> has the most overall Estrogenic Activity and is moderately ERβ- preferential	53
17.	Estrogenic Fractions present in <i>G. inflata</i>	55
18.	HPLC Chromatogram of Identified Compounds from Fraction 8	55
19.	Natural products from red clover, soy, hops, and licorice	57
20.	Scheme of Bioassay-guided Fractionation of G.inflata Extract	58
21.	Comparative Estrogenic Activity and qHNMR analysis of Commercial 8-PA Samples	31
22.	8-PA and Genistein show ERβ-preferential activity, 8-PN is Equipotent in both ER subtypes $θ$	35
23.	Putative Scheme of Transactivation of ER $\alpha$ and ER $\beta$	38
24.	Select (Iso)flavonoids and their Respective Botanical Sources	70
25.	Competitive Radioligand Binding to ERα and ERβ of (Iso)flavonoids7	73

# LIST OF FIGURES (continued)

<u>FIGURE</u>	PAGE
26.	In silico computational modelling of ER $\alpha$ and ER $\beta$ binding pocket75
27.	TR-FRET Assessing Coactivator Transcription Factor Recruitment
28.	Prenylation increases induction of functional estrogenic effects in vitro81
29.	Prenylation on isoflavonoids decreases induction of functional estrogenic effects <i>in vitro</i>
30.	Hops, red clover, and inflata licorice show greater overall functional estrogenic activity than epimedium botanicals
31.	Putative flavonoid structures with ER binding orientations
32.	Comparative Functional Estrogenic Activity of 8-PN and Isomers R and S 97
33.	Comparative Functional Estrogenic Activity of 8-PA and LigF98
34.	Comparative Functional Estrogenic Activity of Hydrolyzed and Unhydrolyzed Epimedium Botanical Extracts, Icaritin and Icariin
35.	(Iso)flavonoid Substituents Enhancing ERβ potency106

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AF-1	Activation function 1
AF-2	Activation function 2
AhR	Aryl hydrocarbon receptor
AI	Aromatase Inhibitors
AP-1	Activator protein-1
ATF	Activating transcription function
AhR	Aryl hydrocarbon receptor
cAMP	Cyclic adenosine monophosphate
СВР	Cyclic-AMP response element binding protein
COMT	Catechol-O-methyltransferases
DBD	DNA binding domain
DHEA	Dehydroepiandrosterone
DPN	2,3-bis(4-hydroxyphenyl)-propionitrile
E <sub>1</sub>	Estrone
E <sub>2</sub>	Estradiol
E <sub>3</sub>	Estriol
E <sub>4</sub>	Estretrol
EGFR	Epidermal growth factor receptor
ER	Estrogen Receptor
ERE	Estrogen Response Element
FSH	Follicle Stimulating hormone

Amino acids

aa

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS (continued)

- GPER1 G-protein coupled receptor-1
- HDAC Histone deacetylase HR (+) Hormone Receptor positive 3β-HSD  $3\beta$ -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase/ $\Delta$ 5-4 isomerase 17β-HSD 17β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase IGFR1 Insulin-like growth factor-1 receptor LBD Ligand binding domain LDL low density lipoprotein LH Luteinizing hormone NCOR Nuclear receptor coactivator repressor PKC Protein kinase C PPT 4,4',4"-(4-propyl-[1H]-pyrazole-1,3,5-triyl)trisphenol RR Relative risk ROS Reactive oxygen species SERM Selective estrogen receptor modulator SMRT Silencing mediator for retinoid and thyroid hormone Sp-1 Stimulating protein-1 SRC Steroid receptor coactivator StAR Steroidogenic Acute Regulatory protein

#### SUMMARY

Estrogens are endogenous hormones that are integral to proper physiological development and function in the body. These include development and proper function of reproductive system as well as maintenance of metabolism and the homeostatic function of organ systems. Although estrogens chemically comprise a number of steroid metabolites, the term is mostly used to refer to estradiol ( $E_2$ ), the most biologically active hormone among them.  $E_2$  induces its biological activity through a number of estrogenic pathways. In the classical pathway,  $E_2$  interacts primarily with two intracellular receptors estrogen receptors (ER)  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ . In the presence of  $E_2$ , ER $\alpha$  drives a number of cellular functions including cell proliferation, while ER $\beta$  is associated with cellular differentiation and attenuating ER $\alpha$  driven proliferation in tissues.

Breast cancer, the most frequently occurring type of cancer and the second leading cause of death in women is associated with estrogen exposure. In estrogen carcinogenesis, there are two notable pathways: chemical pathway and hormonal pathway. In the chemical pathway, E<sub>2</sub> is metabolized to 2-hydroxyestradiol or 4-hydroxyestradiol by P450 1A1 and P450 1B1 enzymes, respectively. P450 1B1 is known to be expressed in the breast. The 4-hydroxyestradiol metabolite can be oxidized to a genotoxic quinone. Through redox cycling of the quinone with its semiquinone radical, reactive oxygen species are formed. Ultimately, this leads to alkylation and oxidation of DNA causing DNA damage and genotoxoicity. A second pathway is the hormonal pathway. In this pathway, a ligand-bound ER translocates into the nucleus, recruits' transcription factors such as the steroid receptor coactivator

xiii

(SRC), and binds to specific sites on DNA, initiating transcription. These recruited transcription factors regulate genomic transcription. However, studies report that under certain conditions, when tissue such as mammary gland is exposed to prolonged  $E_2$  stimulation, proliferation rates increase and the risk of genetic mutation is elevated. These events can lead to mammary carcinogenesis which is driven by some pathways including ER $\alpha$  activation. A considerable loss in mammary ER $\beta$  expression during early breast carcinogenesis has also been reported in women, suggesting a possible chemoprotective role for ER $\beta$ . The putative antiproliferative and chemoprotective functions of activated ER $\beta$ , has driven an interest in identifying ligands that favor regulation of the ER $\beta$  pathway.

There have been reports of increased risk of breast cancer in postmenopausal women using combined hormone replacement therapy to manage postmenopausal symptoms. These hormone treatments received by women have comprised estrogens and medroxyprogesterone. Consequently, many women have turned to natural alternatives such as botanicals to manage their postmenopausal symptoms. These relatively poorly characterized botanicals when consumed modulate the function both ER subtypes in a manner not fully understood. Thus, there is still significant need to characterize the pharmacology and safety of dietary supplements derived from botanicals.

We hypothesized that the selected women's health botanicals contain ER $\beta$ – preferential constituents. These ER $\beta$ –preferential (iso)flavonoids and botanicals may

xiv

provide chemoprotection against breast cancer, due to their antiproliferative activity that counterbalances ER $\alpha$  activity. In this work, several (iso)flavonoids and botanicals where studied using cell-based *in vitro* models originating from endometrial and breast carcinomas cells. The three aims of this project were: (1) to optimize assay methods for the analysis of estrogenic activity of ER $\alpha$  and ER $\beta$  (2) to study selected (iso)flavonoids and botanical extracts for these estrogenic activities, and (3) to determine chemical structures in botanicals that demonstrate ER $\beta$ -preferential activity.

In Aim 1, an assay method was optimized to confirm that its estrogenic activity results of the tested bioactive compounds and botanical extracts reflected their estrogenic activity in vitro. For the ERa activity analysis assay, endometrial carcinoma Ishikawa ER $\alpha$  (+) cells were used and E<sub>2</sub>-dependent alkaline phosphatase activity was employed as the endpoint. For the activity analysis assay for ER $\beta$ , stably transfected ER $\beta$  (+) MDA-MB-231/ $\beta$ 41 cells where used in an ERE-luciferase assay; luciferase activity was the colorimetric readout. The ERα selective ligand 4,4',4"- (4-propyl-[1*H*]pyrazole-1,3,5-triyl) *tris*phenol (PPT) showed low nanomolar EC<sub>50</sub> values in the alkaline phosphatase assay and evoked no response in the ERβ assay. The ligand 2,3-bis (4hydroxyphenyl)-propionitrile (DPN), an ERβ-selective synthetic ligand, showed 30-fold selectivity for ER $\beta$  over ER $\alpha$  and low nonmolar EC<sub>50</sub> in ER $\beta$ . Cotreatment with E<sub>2</sub> and fulvestrant (an ER antagonist and ER degrader) in the ER(+) assays and using MDA-MD-231 ER (-) and E<sub>2</sub> in the ERE-luciferase assay showed significantly low activity in both assays. These results confirmed the direct modulation of ER by the compounds and validated our functional estrogenic assay.

In an effort to identify ER $\beta$ -preferential compounds in botanical dietary supplements (Aim 2), the estrogenic activity of all three medicinal species of *Glycyrrhiza* (*G. inflata*, *G. glabra*, and *G. uralensis*), was analyzed using the optimized and validated assays. *G. inflata* had some ER $\beta$ -preferential activity and had the most overall estrogenic potency of the three species. *G. inflata* (or *inflata* licorice) extract were used for bioassay guided fractionation. Using this technique, we obtained several estrogenic extract fractions, of which fraction 8 was selected due to its likely chemical composition and high estrogenic activity. Upon further analysis of this fraction, 8-prenylapigenin (8-PA) was identified and found to exhibit ER $\beta$ -preferential activity with a low nanomolar EC<sub>50</sub> value that is comparable to the known ER $\beta$ -preferential isoflavonoid genistein.

The third aim was to determine (iso)flavonoid structures that exhibit ER $\beta$ preferential activity. Several structurally similar (iso)flavonoids, including the identified 8-PA from our second aim, and selected botanical extracts were tested in a structure activity relationship (SAR) study using our optimized method assay from Aim 1. The data demonstrated that C-8 prenylation in the A-ring of flavonoids, as in 8-PA and 8-PN, resulted in significantly higher overall estrogenic activity than their non-prenylated congeners apigenin (Api) and naringenin (Nrg), respectively. Moreover, site-specific prenylation with C-ring unsaturation at C2-C3 increased ER $\beta$ -preferential potency over ER $\alpha$  as was observed with 8-PA. In flavonols, C3 hydroxylation on the C-ring and 4'-Omethylation on the B-ring, as in desmethylicaritin and icaritin, reduced overall estrogenic activity compared to 8-PA and 8-PN. In contrast, for isoflavonoids the absence of C-8 prenylation on A-ring increased estrogenic activity compared to the

xvi

prenylated compounds [(8-prenylgenistein, (8-PG)]. This non-prenylation with the presence of C-ring unsaturation at C2-C3 favored ER $\beta$  activity over ER $\alpha$  activity, as was observed with genistein. These general trends were observed in the SAR results from the ER binding analysis, SRC recruitment, and functional assay analysis in this study. Computational models employed in this work showed that the prenyl group at the C-8 of the A-ring interacts with a hydrophobic region in the ER active site, resulting in higher estrogenic activity compared to unprenylated flavonoids. Conversely, prenylation at the identical site in isoflavonoids results in unfavorable interactions with a hydrophilic region in the binding site, thereby reducing estrogenic activity. In addition, the SAR work suggested that C-ring unsaturation (at C2-C3) created a more 'planar' structure, leading to a better fit into the ER $\beta$  active site, as is observed with 8-PA and genistein.

In conclusion, the work of this dissertation demonstrates that 8-PA, a compound found in licorice may be able to contribute ER $\beta$  chemoprotective benefits by reducing risk of mammary carcinogenesis when extracts such as *inflata* licorice are consumed for health purposes. Significant *in vivo* studies have already been conducted using genistein. The results reported here suggest that estrogenic *in vivo* studies with 8-PA and *inflata* licorice are warranted. The animal studies should determine if 8-PA activation of ER $\beta$  by botanicals is translatable from *in vitro* to *in vivo*, and results in a demonstrable reduction in breast carcinogenesis.

## **1. INTRODUCTION**

# 1.1. Estrogens

Estrogens are a group of endogenous hormones that provide support to numerous beneficial biological functions (1, 2). The pharmacophores are fused tetracyclic carbon structures consisting of 17 carbons (2). The endogenous estrogens comprise four C18 carbon tetracycles which feature an aromatic A-ring with a C3 hydroxy group (2). Further substitution differentiates the members of the estrogen family: a ketone at C17 yields estrone (E<sub>1</sub>), a hydroxyl group at the C17 gives  $17\beta$ estradiol (E<sub>2</sub>), a hydroxyl group at C16 and C17 gives estriol (E<sub>3</sub>), and hydroxyl group at C15, C16, and C17 yields estretrol (E<sub>4</sub>) (Figure 1). E<sub>2</sub> commonly referred to as estrogen, is produced mainly in the granulosa cells of the ovary in women of child bearing years, and in smaller amounts adipose tissue, breast, bone, brain, and other extra-gonadal tissues during the postmenopausal period (1, 2). E<sub>2</sub> is also produced in the testicular leydig cells in males (1, 3).



Each of the estrogens interacts with estrogen receptors (ER) at different potencies, and induce biological responses of varying degrees (4).  $E_4$  and  $E_3$  are most prevalent during pregnancy;  $E_4$  is produced in fetal hepatic tissue, and  $E_3$  is synthesized by the placenta (5).  $E_1$ , produced in peripheral tissue from androstenedione by aromatase (CYP 19A1), has relatively higher serum levels during menopause and can subsequently be converted to back  $E_2$  (5-7). Among all the estrogens,  $E_2$ , is most biologically dominant and active, especially during women's reproductive years, in comparison to its metabolites  $E_1$  and  $E_3$  (2, 3).

# 1.1.1. Estrogen Biosynthesis

The synthesis of estrogens occurs mainly in the granulosa cells of the ovary through the process of steroidogenesis (2). Steroidogenesis uses cholesterol derived from low density lipoprotein (LDL) as the starting substrate (2, 8). In the initial phase of this pathway, the Luteinizing hormone (LH) interacts with its native G-protein coupled receptor, which is expressed by the theca cells of the ovary (2). This molecular recognition initiates a signaling cascade that ends with the transcription and expression of the Steroidogenic Acute Regulatory Protein (StAR) (2). Free cholesterol from LDL cholesterol, is then translocated to the inner membrane of the mitochondria by StAR where it becomes the substrate for CYP 450css (side-chain cleaving) enzymes and converted to pregnenolone (9). This 21 carbon steroid, a precursor for the steroid hormones, is converted to dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA) after 17 $\alpha$ -hydroxylation and consecutive side chain cleavage by CYP 17A1, and then to androstenedione by 3 $\beta$ -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase/ $\Delta$ 5-4 isomerase (3 $\beta$ -HSD) (2). Androstenedione is

metabolized by two different pathways. It can be converted to testosterone by  $17\beta$ -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase ( $17\beta$ -HSD), followed by oxidation to E<sub>2</sub> by aromatase (2). Androstenedione can also be converted to E<sub>1</sub> by aromatase, and then to E<sub>2</sub> in the granulosa cells of the ovary by  $17\beta$ -HSD (2). Figure 2 shows a putative scheme for estrogen biosynthesis. The Follicle Stimulating Hormone (FSH) regulates aromatase and  $17\beta$ -HSD expression in the granulosa cells and, as a result, FSH also has influence on E<sub>2</sub> production by aromatase and  $17\beta$ -HSD in these cells (2, 5). In the bone and adipocytes, testosterone is converted to E<sub>2</sub> by aromatase (10). However, aromatase is the rate-limiting enzyme in both the conversion of androstenedione to E<sub>1</sub> and the conversion of testosterone to E<sub>2</sub>, making it an important pharmacological target in the cancer treatment (5). Estrogens are also synthesized in the placenta during pregnancy, largely by the action of aromatase and importation of the 19-carbon precursor steroids for estrogen synthesis (11, 12).



StAR: Steroidogenic Acute regulatory protein, scc: side-chain cleaving enzyme, HSD: hydroxyseroid dehydrogenase

Figure 2. Putative Scheme of Estrogen Biosynthesis

# 1.1.2. Estrogen Metabolism

Estrogens are metabolized and excreted from the body via the gastrointestinal tract in bile or feces, or in urine (2).  $E_3$  is the most abundant estrogen in female urine (2, 5).  $E_1$  and  $E_2$  are metabolized following the P450 oxidative pathways in the liver; the principle enzymes involved are P450 3A4 and P450 1A2 (13-15). These are part of the cytochrome P450 family of enzymes and are responsible for 2-hydroxylation and 16-

hydroxylation of E<sub>1</sub> and E<sub>2</sub> in target cells (2, 14, 15). In the mammary gland, P450 1B1 metabolizes estradiol to the 4-hydroxylated metabolite and P450 1A1 to the 2hydroxylated metabolite (16). The P450 1B1 enzyme is also found in the renal gland and parts of the central nervous system (2). The 2-hydroxyestrone/estradiol and 4hydroxyestrone/estradiol are sometimes referred to as catechol estrogens (2). They can undergo further *O*-methylation by catechol-O-methyltransferases (COMT) to methoxy-estrogens (5). Additionally, estrogens are also conjugated in order to make them more soluble for efficient excretion (17). These conjugating enzymes include sulfotranferases and UDP-glucoronosyltransferases (18, 19).

# 1.1.3. Biological Functions

Free estrogens are able to reach target tissue and exert a variety of physiological effects. Central to estrogen signaling pathways are the proper development and function of reproductive organs (1, 2). Additionally, during puberty in females,  $E_2$  is responsible for the growth and proliferation of the epithelial cells in breast and uterine endometrial tissue;  $E_2$  is also important for lactation in pregnant women (20-23). It also regulates inflammation and maintains various metabolic activity and proper functioning of the skeletal, cardiovascular and central nervous systems (1, 2). These myriad functions arise from estrogen interactions with the endogenous estrogen receptors *in vivo*.

#### 1.2. Estrogen Receptors

Estrogen receptors belong to the global class of transcription regulating nuclear hormone receptors. There are two known ER subtypes expressed in tissue; ER $\alpha$  and ER $\beta$  that can be located intracellularly, including in the nucleus (1, 2). ER $\alpha$ , a 67 kDa, protein consisting of 595 amino acids is encoded by ESR-1 on chromosome 6 (1, 2). In contrast, ER $\beta$ , a 59 kDa protein comprising 530 aa, is encoded by ESR2 on chromosome 14 (1, 2).

Estrogen receptors are expressed on the cell membrane as G-protein coupled estrogen receptor-1 (GPER1). This membrane-bound GPER-1 is encoded on chromosome 7 and consists of 7 transmembrane helical subunits. ER $\alpha$  is found in the mammary gland, bone, and uterus, ovary (thecal cells) and adipose tissue, while ER $\beta$  is also expressed in mammary tissue and prostate (epithelial cells) and ovary (granulosa cells), CNS, colon, lungs, and cardiovascular system (1, 24-27). ERa was first identified in the mid 1950's (1, 2). ER $\alpha$  activity includes the induction of cellular proliferation in the presence of  $E_2$  (1, 28). ER $\beta$ , identified in 1996, is known for functions including that attenuation of tissue proliferation and maintenance of proper central nervous system function (1, 2). Both receptors share a generally similar structure. Important differences can be found in their various functional domains, which are notated as regions A through F. The A/B region contains the N-terminal domain and activation function 1 (AF-1), which regulates ligand independent gene transcription. The C region contains the DNA binding domain (DBD) that interacts with specific sites on the DNA prior to transcription; these DNA binding sites are known as estrogen response elements (ERE) prior to transcription. This C region consists of two 'zinc fingers' with regions named P

box and D box, respectively (29). The P box is necessary for DNA site recognition during ER-DNA binding, while the D box participates in ER dimerization (29). The D region contains the 'hinge' portion of the receptor, and E/F region is the carboxyterminal containing the ligand binding domain (LBD) and AF-2. This last region comprises 12  $\alpha$ -helices (H1 – H12). ER homo-or heterodimerization is governed by this region, as is ligand-dependent estrogenic transcription. Region E/F also features coactivator and corepressor interaction (1, 2, 29-31). H12 is of particular importance in ligand binding. When an ER agonist is bound to the receptor, H12 becomes positioned next to H3 and H11 (32). When H12 is in this agonist conformation, a hydrophobic pocket is formed for coactivator binding (32-34). However, when an antagonists such as tamoxifen binds the ER, it stabilizes the H12 in the hydrophobic pocket, blocking coactivator interaction (32, 35). When H12 is in agonist mode and the hydrophobic pocket is formed on the ligand bound ER, coactivators interact with this pocket through a Leu-X-X-Leu-Leu (LXXLL where X can be any amino acid) amino acid sequence in a region called the NR box (34). This NR box consists of amphipathic  $\alpha$ -helices (34). This amphipathic property of the helices keeps the hydrophilic aa residues separated from hydrophobic aa (36) (such as leucine in the LXXLL motif) residues, which are necessary for interaction for interaction with the AF-2 of the ER. Steroid receptor coactivators (SRC) are examples of these coactivators that interact with the ligandbound ER complex in order to enhance transcription (37). In turn, the carboxyl end of these SRC's has regions that bind other necessary transcription cofactors such as cyclic AMP response element binding protein (CBP), and p300, that are necessary for SRC-mediated transcription (37). In other instances, nuclear receptor corepressors

(NCoR) or silencing mediator for retinoid and thyroid hormone (SMRT) can also be recruited to the ER. These cofactors suppress the transcriptional activity of ER in a ligand-independent mode or in the presence of an antagonist (38). Their repression of transcriptional activity is due to the activity of histone deacetylase (HDAC) (38, 39). It is suggested that these HDAC's are recruited, and they inhibit the acetyltransferase functions of the coactivator complex, thereby repressing transcription (40).

ER $\beta$  is reported to have a smaller binding site compared to ER $\alpha$ , and this influences the ligand selectivity and, potentially, biological activity of some exogenous ligands (1, 2). In comparison to ER $\alpha$  and ER $\beta$ , GPER-1 responsible for fast cellular responses of estrogen-mediated cell signaling (2, 41-43). The different cellular pathways that are induced upon activation of these receptors are summarized in the next section.

### 1.3. Estrogenic Signaling Pathways

### 1.3.1. Direct Genomic Signaling

According to the classic estrogenic pathway (Figure 3) of transcription activation, E<sub>2</sub> passes through the cell membrane and binds with cytoplasmic ER $\alpha$  and/or ER $\beta$ . This is binding event is followed by a change in receptor conformation, resulting in a sequestering of chaperone proteins such as heat shock proteins (hsp), dimerization, and eventual translocation of the ligand-ER complex to the nucleus (44-48). In the nucleus, the complex recruits important transcription cofactors (CF) such as steroid receptor coactivators (SRC), cyclic AMP response element binding protein (CBP), and p300, after binding to the estrogen Response Element (ERE) (1, 37). Among a number of functions, this protein complex performs methyltransferase and acetyltransferase activity for chromatin remodeling in preparation for other transcription factors at the promotor to initiate transcriptional activity (37).



Hsp: heat shock protein, CF: transcription cofactors, ERE: estrogen response element, SRC-2: coactivator

# Figure 3. Direct Genomic Signaling

# 1.3.2. Indirect Genomic Signaling

The indirect estrogenic pathway is so named because function is achieved occurs without direct contact of the ER-ligand complex with DNA. Instead, the ER-

ligand complex interacts with specific transcription factors at specific sites on DNA through protein-protein interactions (2, 29, 49). These transcription factors include stimulating protein 1 (Sp-1) which interacts with promoters in proximity to CG rich regions of DNA and activator protein-1 (AP-1) (50, 51). Genes induced through Sp-1 interaction with ER include those for low density lipoprotein (LDL) receptor, progesterone receptor B, and endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) (52-54). AP-1 is a complex consisting of different proteins including c-Fos, c-Jun, and activating transcription factor (ATF) and its functions include modulation of cellular proliferation, stimulating differentiation and triggering apoptotic cell death (55).

# 1.3.3. Indirect Non-genomic Signaling

This estrogenic pathway transduces signaling pathways that involve intracellular second messengers and kinases, producing signaling cascades that ultimately modulate gene expression (56). This mode of signaling follows a variety of pathways. Some of the main categorized pathways include the phospholipase C/protein kinase C (PKC), phosphatidyl inositol 3 kinase/Akt kinase, Ras/Raf/MAPK, and cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP)/protein kinase A (57-61). When stimulated, the kinases involved in these pathways ultimately phosphorylate intracellular transcription factors, including ER (2). Phosphorylation alters their function and ability to interact with the cellular genome, and this event ultimately influences gene expression (2). Studies also indicate that  $E_2$  binding to GPER-1 also stimulates second messengers and results in transcriptional activity (2, 58). A cartoon representation of this putative pathway is shown on figure 4.



Figure 4. Putative scheme of indirect non-genomic signaling

#### 1.4. Breast Cancer

In 2019, it is estimated that there will be over 260,000 new breast cancer cases in women in the United States alone, and more than 40,000 women will die from the disease (62). These alarming statistics correlate to 30% and 15% of all cancer cases and cancer deaths in women, respectively (62). Breast cancers can be categorized into groups based on immunohistochemistry (IHC) classification (63). IHC classification provides information for treatment and disease outcomes (63). IHC categories are usually grouped based on the presence or absence of estrogen receptor (ER), progesterone receptor (PR), and human epidermal growth factor receptor-2 (HER2): ER/PR(+), HER2(+); ER/PR(+), HER2(-); ER/PR(-), HER2(-), or ER/PR(-), HER2(+) (63). Breast cancers are also categorized into different classes based upon tissue of origin, tumor size, histological status, and metastasis to lymph node or other tissue (63). Factors such as alcohol consumption, age, family history, early menarche, late menopause, age, race, lifestyle, hormone replacement therapy, and obesity are reported to increase the risk of breast cancer incidents (64-68). Other conditions such as inheritable mutations in breast cancer susceptible genes BRCA-1 and BRCA-2, are also known to increase the risk of breast cancer (69).

### 1.4.1. Estrogen and Breast Cancer

There is an established correlation between the presence of estrogen and breast cancers (70, 71). Evidence of this connection was first observed by Dr George Beatson a over century ago when breast cancer remission in premenopausal women occurred after removal of their ovaries (72). A number of studies point to the connection of

prolonged estrogen exposure to the increase in risk for breast cancer (73). Additionally, hormone-associated risk factors are associated with an elevated relative risk of this disease. For example, the correlation of obesity with elevated risk is thought to be due to increased estrogen levels resulting from additional aromatase activity in the breast adipose tissue in postmenopausal women (74). Elevated levels of estrogens in the serum is considered a biomarker for higher relative risk of breast cancer (75). In a large study conducted by the Endogenous Hormones and Breast Cancer Collaborative group (JNCI 2002), data on serum analysis was collected from 663 women that had breast cancer and 1765 women that were breast cancer free. The subjects did not use exogenous reproductive hormones during the study and serum was obtained to determine the relative risk (RR) of breast cancer in correlation to varying serum hormone levels. Hormones analyzed included free E<sub>2</sub>, E<sub>2</sub> (conjugated), albumin bound E<sub>2</sub>, E<sub>1</sub>, E<sub>1</sub> sulfate, and rostenedione, testosterone, and dehydroepiandrosterone. The study concluded that there is a strong correlation between sex-related hormone levels and increased risk of breast cancer in postmenopausal women (75). The association between estrogen and increase in breast cancer risk was further supported by Fisher and Constantino, et al. showing the reduction in invasive and non-invasive breast cancer risk by the antiestrogen tamoxifen in pre- and postmenopausal women, and women with a history of breast cancer (76). Results from Fisher and Constantino, et al also showed that the risk of recurrence of ER (+) tumors was reduced significantly with daily long term treatment of tamoxifen (76, 77). Tamoxifen is also an established therapy for breast cancer prevention.

# 1.4.2. Estrogen Carcinogenesis

Estrogen chemical carcinogenesis and estrogen hormonal carcinogenesis are two generally accepted mechanisms for the onset of breast cancer. Estrogen chemical carcinogenesis involves the hydroxylation of the C4 position on  $E_2$  forming a catechol estrogen that is associated with genotoxic effects. Estrogen hormonal carcinogenesis begins when genetic mutations or errors occur during increased cell division and proliferation through  $E_2$ -dependent activation of ER (68, 78).

# 1.4.3. Estrogen Chemical Carcinogenesis

The enzymes P450 1A1 and 1B1 are part of the P450 1 class of enzymes. Estrogen in the body undergoes phase 1 metabolism by 2-hydroxylation by P450 1A1, and 4-hydroxylation catalyzed by P450 1B1 in the mammary tissue (79). The human isoforms of these enzymes have been reported to convert polycyclic aromatic organic compounds into toxic intermediates that caused cancer in rat mammary glands (80, 81). These P450 enzymes and their mRNA are present in normal human breast tissue and in tumors (81-85). P450 1B1 is reported to be more active than P450 1A1 during  $E_2$  metabolism (86, 87). Human Aromatic hydrocarbon Receptor (AhR) acts as a transcription factor and modulates the expression of P450 1A1 and P450 1B1 (79, 88). The 4-hydroxylation of  $E_2$  by P450 1B1 associated with oxidative metabolism promotes estrogen chemical carcinogenesis (89). This metabolic pathway leads to formation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and formation of the genotoxic E-3,4-quinone species that can form DNA-adducts leading to DNA depurination *in vivo* (Figure 5) (90-92). Consequently, this leads to DNA damage, genotoxicity, and potential carcinogenesis.



# Figure 5. Schematic representation of estrogenic hormonal pathway and chemical pathway in carcinogenesis.

A. The hormonal pathway is induced by binding of  $E_2/E_1$  to the native receptor, followed by dimerization and interaction with ERE site on DNA, activating transcription and ultimately proliferation. Genomic mutation and hormone stimulation can drive carcinogenesis. B. In the chemical pathway  $E_2/E_1$  is hydroxylated at the 4 position by P450 1B1, followed by oxidation to the semiquinone radical, then 1 e<sup>-</sup> to the 3,4 quinone. This quinone through the redox cycle is reduced back to the semiquinone radical. The reactive quinone can cause genomic damage (93, 94). (Figure modified from a figure generated from Dr Shuai Wang and Dr Tareisha Dunlap)

## 1.4.4. Estrogen Hormonal Carcinogenesis

It has been suggested for years that excessive exposure of estrogens to a target organ that is estrogen sensitive can promote the risk of carcinogenesis (78). Increased exposure to hormones such as estrogens results in cell division and proliferation in vivo; over time this can increase the chances of genomic replication errors, genetic mutations and tissue carcinogenesis (68, 78). This carcinogenic pathway can continue to progress with the presence of exogenous or endogenous hormone stimulation (68). Normal tissue can consequently progress to a state of hyperplasia then neoplasia (Figure 6) (68, 78). The carcinogenesis and progression of hormone-induced malignancy is also dependent on the types genomic mutations that occur. Studies from Henderson and Feigelson (2000), Ross et al (1998), Sager (1989) and Stanbridge (1990) suggest that mutation of tumor suppressor and DNA repair genes, as well as genes involved in the estrogenic pathway are among these responsible for carcinogenesis (68, 95-98). Specifically, mutation of tumor suppressor genes BRCA-1 and BRCA-2, are included and germline mutation of the TP53 gene can increase breast cancer risk (68, 99, 100). The over-expression of the HER2 gene is also observed in advanced breast cancer (101).



Figure 6. Estrogen Hormonal Carcinogenesis

# 1.5. Breast Cancer Chemoprevention

Cancer incidence is increased by environmental and lifestyle risk such as smoking, obesity, alcohol use, and diet (102, 103). Among women, breast cancer ranks as first among cancer types that occur and the second cause of death (62). Therefore, chemoprevention is of significant importance and could have a dramatic effect upon the number of women succumbing to this disease. Selective estrogen receptor modulators (SERMs) have been extensively studied as potential breast cancer therapeutics. These include tamoxifen and raloxifene. These compounds act as ER $\alpha$ -antagonists, opposing ER $\alpha$ -driven cellular activity in the presence of E<sub>2</sub>. Although, these drugs exhibit toxic side effects such as cardiovascular complications and an increased rate of endometrial cancers (104-106), they have been a mainstay in treatment of breast cancer in women and can be used to prevent recurrence or a second breast cancer after a first breast malignancy and to prevent breast cancer in women that are at high risk.

Aromatase inhibitors (AI) that reduce the generation of estradiol in breast tissue have been shown to be an effective adjuvant treatment in prevention of breast cancer recurrence in postmenopausal women (107-109). Exemestane and anastrazole have been proven effective in postmenopausal women with medium and high respective risk of breast cancer carcinogenesis (108, 110). A five year phase 3 double blind study demonstrated that letrozole decreased the risk of recurrent breast cancer in postmenopausal women (111). However, long term use of AI's is correlated with severe bone loss and cardiovascular side effects.

When tissue is stimulated to proliferation through the classical estrogenic pathway, the ER $\alpha$  subtype is stimulated by estrogens resulting in cell division, while ER $\beta$  is reported to attenuate ER $\alpha$  hyperproliferative activity (1, 112-114). In normal breast tissue, ER $\alpha$  and ER $\beta$  are coexpressed, but there is a significant loss of ER $\beta$ expression in the early stages of breast carcinogenesis (115, 116). Therefore a chemoprotective role in ER $\beta$  activity suggested (116). Helguero et al (2005) reported that when ER $\beta$  expression was suppressed in mouse mammary cells that express both

18

isoforms, an ER $\alpha$ -driven cell proliferation in response to E<sub>2</sub>, was observed (113). This *in vitro* cell growth in soft agar indicates potential for *in vivo* tumorigenesis (113). However, when ER $\alpha$  expression was silenced, apoptosis in the presence of E<sub>2</sub> occurred (113). Helguero et al (2005), who used ER $\alpha$  and ER $\beta$ -selective ligands, also demonstrated the distinct *in vivo* activity of these ER subtypes. When the normal murine mammary epithelial HC11 cells were treated with 4,4',4"-(4-propyl-[1H]-pyrazole-1,3,5-triyl)trisphenol (PPT), an ER $\alpha$ -selective ligand, cell proliferation was induced (113, 117). In contrast, treatment of the same cells with 2,3-bis(4-hydroxyphenyl)-propionitrile (DPN), a selective ER $\beta$  ligand, resulted in inhibition of cell growth and cell death (113, 118). This beneficial effect of ER $\beta$  expression is also suggested to be observed in humans; analysis of breast cancer tissue from women who received adjuvant therapy with tamoxifen seem to show that ER $\beta$  expression is associated with notably better patient survival (119-122).

Phytoestrogens, plant-sourced compounds that function like estrogens, may play an important role in breast cancer prevention (120, 123). Phytoestrogens are present in various botanicals, fruits and vegetables that are used for food or for medicinal purposes. Epidemiological studies show that a diet rich in phytoestrogens is correlated with a decreased risk of breast cancer (124, 125). Upon consumption, phytoestrogens modulate ER $\alpha$  and ER $\beta$  *in vivo*, resulting in pharmacological effects that are complex and still poorly understood. All phytoestrogens so far identified have a lower affinity for ER than E<sub>2</sub>, but, intriguingly, a number of them have higher affinity for ER $\beta$  than ER $\alpha$  as opposed to E<sub>2</sub> that exhibits a similar affinity to both receptor subtypes (120, 123). Some reported ER $\beta$ -preferential phytoestrogens, include genistein, daidzein, liquiritigenin, and
8-prenylapigenin (123, 126, 127). Genistein and liquiritigenin, both of which are classified as (iso)flavonoids, have been reported to suppress carcinogenesis in prepubescent and adult rodent models (126, 128, 129). Moreover, these ER $\beta$ -selective flavonoids showed little toxicity, even in the long term administration in the rodent model (128, 129). Overall, the potential benefits of enhancing ER $\beta$  activity has piqued interest into identifying ER $\beta$ -preferential ligands (1). ER $\beta$ -preferential phytoestrogens present in botanicals may be able to provide chemoprotective benefits against breast carcinogenesis.

#### 1.6. Menopause and Hormone Therapy

Most women enter the stage of menopause between 49 and 52 years of age (130). During this stage, there is a drastic decline in estrogen levels. This leads to symptoms such as hot flashes, night sweats, insomnia, vaginal atrophy, fatigue, weight gain and menstrual irregularities (131). Consequently, women for decades have turned to hormone replacement therapy to manage their symptoms. These are synthetic hormones usually consisting of equine estrogens and medroxyprogesterone (132). In 2002, studies from the Womens' Health Initiative (WHI) reported an increase in risk of breast cancer as a result of hormone replacement treatments consisting of estrogens and medroxyprogesterone (132). These findings by the WHI have prompted postmenopausal women to seek alternative therapies, like botanicals, to alleviate their symptoms (132, 133).

#### 1.7. Botanicals for Women's Health Research

#### 1.7.1. Natural Product Research in the NIH/UIC Botanical Center

The NIH/UIC Botanical Center for Detary Supplements Research (the botanical center) is nationally renowned in the study of natural products, including botanicals for women's health (134). Established in 1999, it has been responsible for numerous high impact publications detailing the *in vivo* and *in vitro* activities of plant-based natural products. Botanicals studied include hops, red clover, licorice, and epimedium. The center has also conducted human clinical trials using some of these popular botanicals. For example, isoflavone-enriched red clover was analyzed in phase 1 and phase 2 trials (135, 136). The center is a leader in isolating, identifying, and assessing the biological activity of plant based natural products.

#### 1.8. Women's Health Botanicals and Phytoestrogens

Natural products have been used for various health purposes through human history. Some notable botanicals of historical importance include red clover, hops, licorice, and epimedium (137).

### 1.8.1. <u>Hops</u>

Hops (*Humulus lupulus*) is part of the Cannabaceae family. Historically it was used in beverage, as a preservative, as a mild sedative, and to manage infections (138, 139). Hops and hops extracts have been used as a diuretic, an anxiolytic, and is recently used to manage gynecological problems such as menstrual irregularities, and to help

with sleep disorders (138, 140). Hops has been used as a flavoring agent and a fragrance in select cosmetics (138). It contains the most potent ERα phytoestrogen known to date, 8-prenylnaringenin (8-PN), as well as 6-prenylnaringenin (6-PN), xanthohumol (XH), and isoxantohumol (IX) (139, 141-143).



Figure 7. Bioactive Compounds in Hops

# 1.8.2. Red clover

Red clover (*Trifolium pratense*) is a part of the Fabeceae plant family.

Red clover has been traditionally used to treat cough and gout (144). It was usually used as an additive to ointments or as tea to treat ulcers (145). Moreover, red clover has been used to treat burns, bruises, fungal infections and even ocular diseases. (145). Some Native Americans used red clover to treat fevers and kidney inflammation. When prepared as a tea it was used to treat pulmonary infections (145). Lately, it is used in some circles as a sedative, for decongestion, and various joint pains. However, it is not regularly used to enhance fertility (145). This botanical contains a number of isoflavonoids including genistein, a potent ER $\beta$  preferential agonist, biochanin A, daidzein, and formononetin (145).



Figure 8. Bioactive Isoflavonoids in Red clover

# 1.8.3. Licorice

Licorice (*Glycyrrhiza sp.*) is a botanical that belongs to the Fabaceae plant family and is mainly found in various provinces in Asia and Europe (146, 147). Three licorice species are used medicinally and approved in international pharmacopeias; these include:

*Glycyrrhiza uralensis*, *Glycyrrhiza glabra*, and *Glycyrrhiza inflata* (127, 146). Licorice has been used for pain relief, as well as stomach inflammation, respiratory problems, and for the management of postmenopausal symptoms (147, 137, 146). Lately, it has been marketed to treat stomach ulcers, hepatic dysfunction and even diseases caused by inflammation such as Addison's disease (146). Studies report various pharmacologic properties of this botanical, including antiviral, anti-inflammatory, anti-tumorigenic activity. These differing pharmacological properties are thought to arise from the various bioactive compounds, found in licorice (146). Some notable bioactive licorice compounds include liquiritigenin (LigF), isoliquiritigenin (LigC), licochalchone A (LicA) and 8-prenylapigenin (8-PA), a potent ERβ preferential agonist (127).



Figure 9. Bioactive Compounds present in Licorice

#### 1.8.4. Epimedium

Horny goat weed is the common name used for 50 different known species of

Epimedium, which include *E. sagittatum*, *E. grandiflorum*, and *E. koreanum* which have

been widely studied (148-150). As part of the Berberaceae plant family, these

*Epimedium* species are well known in Traditional Chinese Medicine (TCM) for natural hormone therapy, including the treatment of menstrual irregularities and osteoporosis (148, 150). Icaritin (Ict) is regarded as the major bioactive flavonoid present in this botanical.



Figure 10. Bioactive compound, Icaritin, present in Epimedium and its *in vivo* Metabolite

# 1.9. Specific Aims for Study

The goal of this study was to identify and characterize ER $\beta$ -preferential (iso)flavonoids present in select botanical extracts used in women's health botanicals. It is *hypothesized* that ER $\beta$ -preferential (iso)flavonoids in women's health botanicals may be able to contribute to chemoprevention while maintaining an improved safety profile by reducing risk of breast carcinogenesis by counteracting potential ER $\alpha$ -induced hyperplasia. Since hops, red clover, licorice, and epimedium are among the most frequently used botanicals for menopausal symptoms containing estrogenic compounds, and are used by menopausal women, this study focused on identifying and

studying select estrogenic flavonoids, flavonols, and isoflavonoids that they contain. Three aims were proposed for these studies:

- i. Optimization of estrogenic assays to assess ER $\alpha$  and ER $\beta$  potency and efficacy of select botanical extracts and respective bioactive compounds
- ii. Identification of any ERβ-preferential compounds in the estrogenic licorice extracts.
- iii. Determination of structural elements that favor ERβ-preferential activity by a structure activity relationship analysis of various (iso)flavonoids.

In this study, authenticated botanical extracts and select pure (iso)flavonoids (compound purity of > 95%) where studied using *in vitro* models of ER $\alpha$ + endometrial carcinoma-(Ishikawa) cells and ER $\beta$ + MDA-MB-231/ $\beta$ 41 breast cancer cells. The ER receptor binding affinity and transcription factor recruitment of select (iso)flavonoids was determined in ER $\alpha$  and ER $\beta$  using recombinant protein models. The potency and efficacy of the (iso)flavonoids and select extracts was quantified in ER $\alpha$  and ER $\beta$ activity assays to assess functional estrogenic activity. Data from ER $\alpha$  and ER $\beta$  were analyzed comparatively to determine ER subtype selectivity. Furthermore, this study identified an ER $\beta$ -preferential flavonoid and provided data on flavonoid structural characteristics that favor ER $\beta$  estrogenic activity.

#### 2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### 2.1. Chemicals and Reagents

2,3-bis(4-hydroxyphenyl)-propionitrile (DPN) and 4,4',4"-(4-propyl-[1H]-pyrazole-1,3,5trivl)trisphenol (PPT) were purchased from Cayman Chemical (Ann Arbor, MI, USA). All cell culture materials were obtained from Fisher Scientific (Itasca, IL, USA), Sigma Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA), and Invitrogen (Grand Island, NY, USA), unless otherwise stated. 8-Prenylnaringenin (8-PN), naringenin (Nrg), apigenin (Api), genistein (Gen), kaempferol (Kfl), icaritin (Ict) and licochalcone A were acquired from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA). Desmethylicaritin (Dmct) was obtained from Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc. (Dallas, TX, USA). 8-Prenylapigenin was initially purchased from ChemFaces (Wuhan, Hubei, People's Republic of China) which was misidentified, and then obtained from Ryan Scientific Inc. (Mount Pleasant, SC, USA) along with 8-Prenylgenistein (8-PG). Dehydrogenistein (Dgn) was obtained from TRC Canada (Toronto Research Chemicals Inc., Toronto, Canada). The purity of each purchased compound was determined as described previously using either the relative 100% or the absolute gHNMR methods (Figure S1, Appendices) (151). All commercial compounds (Api, Ict, Kfl, Dmct, Gen, Dgn, 8-PG) with a purity below 95% w/w or containing structurally related impurities were re-purified by semi-preparative HPLC-UV prior to any biological assays.

#### 2.2. Botanical Extract Preparations

All extract preparation and verification for this study was performed by Core B or Project 1 of the NIH/UIC botanical center.

Hops (*Humulus lupulus* L., Cannabaceae) extract was prepared with ethanol at Hopsteiner (New York, NY, USA) from spent hops (152). The contents (% w/w) of four markers, xanthohumol (XN), isoxanthohumol (IX), 6-prenylnaringenin (6-PN), and 8-PN, in freshly prepared extracts were determined by HPLC-MS/MS to be 0.28  $\pm$  0.03 for 8-PN (see supporting information), 1.22  $\pm$  0.09 for 6-PN, 1.11  $\pm$  0.07 for IX, 33.2  $\pm$  2.8 for XN. Desmethylxanthohumol (DMX) content was determined in the freshly prepared sample to be 0.63  $\pm$  0.06 % w/w. This compound isomerize slowly to 6PN/8PN (5.7:1) (153).

Red clover (*Trifolium pratense* L., Fabaceae) standardized extract was prepared by autohydrolysis using proprietary methods and manufactured by Pure World Botanicals (Purchased by Naturex, Inc., South Hackensack, NJ). Biochanin A and genistein content quantified by QM-qHNMR were  $15.4 \pm 0.6$  and  $0.64 \pm 0.04$  %w/w respectively (154).

Leaves from *Epimedium* botanicals sold as horny goat weed (*Epimedium sp.*, Berberidaceae) were purchased from Starwest Botanicals (part # 209365-51, lot# 60901). The powder was analyzed by means of microscopic analyses, chemical profiling and DNA barcoding (manuscript in preparation, supporting information).

Enzymatic hydrolysis of Epimedium botanicals: An auto-hydrolyzed extract (70.0 mg) was dissolved with 171.60 mg snailase in 2 mL of Milli-Q water and stirred at 40°C. After four days, enzymatic activity was stopped by adding 2.0 mL of methanol.

Aglycones were extracted with 40 mL of organic solvents (hexanes, chloroform, and ethyl acetate). A total of 18.2 mg of snailase-hydrolyzed extract, enriched in icaritin, was thus obtained (155, 156, 157) Icaritin concentration in this extract was determined to be 3.40 % w/w by HPLC-UV (manuscript in preparation, supporting information). Licorice (G. glabra, G. uralensis, and G. inflata) extracts were prepared as described previously (158). Dried root samples of G. glabra and G. uralensis were purchased from a local supplier in Chicago, IL. and the Indiana Botanical Garden, respectively. The licorice species for these studies was *Glycyrrhiza inflata* Batalin (Fabaceae), collected in China (Kuga County, Xinjiang Province, People's Republic of China) and generously provided by Dr. Liang Zhao at Lanzhou Institute of Chemical Physics, CAS. G. inflata was identified using macroscopic/microscopic analyses, chemical profiling, and DNA barcoding as previously described (159). The three *Glycyrrhiza* species were identified by means of macroscopic/microscopic analyses as well as DNA barcoding and compared to voucher specimens from the Field Museum of Natural History (Chicago, IL) (160). The powdered roots were extracted by maceration and percolation at room temperature with a solvent mixture composed of ethanol (200 USP proof), isopropranol, and water (90:5:5, v/v) and a plant powder/volume of solvent ratio of 1/15. After concentration, the produced extract was freeze dried leading to an extraction yield of ~10% (w/w) of the initial powdered roots (158, 160, 161). The powdered roots of G. inflata (licorice) were extracted by hydro-alcoholic maceration and 8-PA content was determined by LC-MS to be  $0.168 \pm 0.014$  % w/w as previously described (127).

#### 2.2. Fractionation of G. inflata Crude Extract

Fractionation of the G. inflata extract for this study was by the analytical core of the NIH/UIC botanical center (Project 1). Fractionation of the crude G. inflata extract was performed by high-speed countercurrent separation (HSCCC) with the solvent system composed of hexanes-ethyl acetate-methanol-water (5:5:5:5 v/v) in an isocratic and descending mode (reverse phase mode). A HSCCC Tauto TBE-300B (Shanghai Tauto Biotech Co., Ltd., Shanghai, People's Republic of China) integrated with the Cherry-One automated CCS system (Cherry Instruments, Chicago, IL., USA) was filled with the organic upper phase (UP) at a flow rate of 3 mL/min at 200 rpm. The system was then equilibrated at a flow rate of 1.5 mL/min leading to a Sf of 88% (VS = 256 mL and Vm = 34 mL) with a rotation speed adjusted to 800 rpm. G. inflata crude extract (521.48 mg), diluted in 2 mL of UP and 2 mL of lower phase (LP) was injected into the column. Fraction collection was set up for 7.5 mL/fraction. The extrusion was performed after 2.6 column volumes. A total of 100 tubes was collected. The fractions were pooled according to their TLC profiles, leading to a total of 17 final fractions, defined as follows: fraction 1: vials 25-29, fraction 2: vials 30-31, fraction 3: vials 32-33, fraction 4: vials 34-36, fraction 5: vials 37-39, fraction 6: vials 40-42, fraction 7: vials 43-45, fraction 8: vials 46-53, fraction 9: vials 54-56, fraction 10: vials 58-65, fraction 11: vials 66-72, fraction 12: vials 66-72, fraction 13: vials 76-78, fraction 14: vials 79-81, fraction 15: vials 82-83, fraction 16:vials 84-85, fraction 17: vials 85-100. All TLC were performed on Alugram silica gel plates (SiO<sub>2</sub> F254, Macherey-Nagel), eluted with CHCl<sub>3</sub>-MeOH (90:10, v/v) and visualized with 5%  $H_2$ SO4/vanillin reagent. All the fractions were dried in order to calculate the weight recovery as % weight fraction/ weight crude extract. Because of

their very low final amounts, fractions 9 and 10 were pooled together yielding fraction 10, likewise fractions 11, 12 and 13 were pooled to give fraction 12.

Isolation and Dereplication of Compounds from Fraction 8. Abyssinone II, 8prenylapigenin, licochalcone C, and licochalcone A were isolated from fraction 8 by semi-preparative HPLC performed on a Waters 600 instruments using a photodiode array detector (Waters 2996) (Figure S1). The separation was performed on a YMC-Pack ODS AQ column (250 × 10 mm, 5 µm, part no. 102500531) utilizing an isocratic elution mode with 58% acetonitrile in water and a flow rate of 1.8 mL/min. Under these conditions, **4** (Abyssinone II) was eluted at 28 min, **3** (8-prenylapigenin, 8-PA) at 31.6 min, **5** (licochalcone C, LicC) at 36 min, and **6** (licochalcone, LicA) at 38 min. The fraction was prepared at 28 mg/mL and 100 µL of solution were injected at each semipreparative run. The identity of all compounds was confirmed by means of MS/MS, (1D and 2D) NMR analyses (see Supporting Information and freely available NMR dataset at Harvard Dataverse (doi:10.7910/DVN/JZOL2U), and comparison with published data (162-164).

#### 2.3. Confirmation of the Identity and Purity of Commercial Standards

The authentication of commercial standards (verification of identity and purity) was performed by the analytical core of the NIH/UIC botanical center (Project 1) by both LC-MS/MS and qHNMR analyses. For NMR analysis, approximately, 1 mg of each sample was precisely weighed, whenever possible, with a Mettler Toledo XS105 Dual Range analytical balance and diluted in 200  $\mu$ L of DMSO-d6 (D 99.9%, Cambridge Isotope Laboratories Inc., Andover, MA, USA). The solution was then transferred with calibrated glass pipets into 3 mm standard NMR tubes (Norell part no. S-3-HT-7, Norell Inc., Landisville, NJ, USA). The 1D <sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra were acquired at 298 °K under quantitative conditions (gHNMR) using a 90° excitation pulse experiment (Bruker pulprog: zg), on a Bruker AVANCE 900 MHz equipped with a 5 mm CPTCI probe, and/or on a Bruker AVANCE 600.13 MHz spectrometer equipped with a 5 mm TXI cryoprobe. The 90° pulse width for each sample was determined by prorating the measured 360° pulse width (p90 =  $1/4 \times p360$ ). The probe was frequency tuned and impedance matched before each acquisition. For each sample, 32 scans (ns) and 4 dummy scans (ds) were recorded with the following parameters: pulse width (P1) of typically 10.65 µ sec. (90° at 900 MHz) and 9.20 µ sec., spectral width of 30 ppm, relaxation delay (D1) of 30-60 sec. Off-line data processing was performed using the Mnova NMR software package (v.6.0.2, MestreLab Research S.L., A Coruña, Spain). <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C chemical shifts ( $\delta$ ) were expressed in ppm with reference to the residual solvent signal (DMSO-d<sub>5</sub>: <sup>1</sup>H spectrum: 2.500 ppm). The following processing scheme was used: a mild Lorentzian-to-Gaussian window function (line broadening = -0.3 Hz, Gaussian factor = 0.01) was applied, followed by zero filling to 256 K acquired data points before Fourier transformation. After manual phasing, a fifth order polynomial baseline correction was applied.

LC-MS/MS analysis was carried out using Waters 2695 solvent delivery system connected to Waters SYNAPT quadrupole/time-of-flight (q/TOF) mass spectrometer operated in the positive ion electrospray mode. Separations were carried out using YMC AQ C18 column (2 x 100 mm, 3 µm particle size), eluted with a mobile phase

consisting of 0.1% formic acid (solvent A) and acetonitrile (solvent B) with a linear gradient from 10-95% B over 30 min. The flow rate was 0.2 mL/min and the column was thermostated at 30 °C. Mass spectrometric measurements were carried out at 10,000 resolving power (FWHM) using leu-enkelphalin as the lock mass. For identification, molecular compositions and tandem mass spectra were compared with the standard spectra from public (MassBank, MoNA) and in-house generated databases as well as with spectra published in the primary literature (162-164). The purity determination of each commercial compound was performed as described previously using the 100% qHNMR method (165). Hence the (commercial phytochemical) purity was calculated to be 95.90% w/w for 8-prenylnaringenin (+/-) (2) (Sigma), 95.49% w/w for 8-prenylapigenin (3) (Ryan Scientific Inc, WuxinPO1673) (see Supporting Information for 8-prenylapigenin (3) and freely available NMR dataset at doi:10.7910/DVN/JZOL2U).

Quantitative Analysis of Tested Licorice Extracts. Quantitative UHPLC-UV analyses were performed on licorice extracts in order to determine the level (in % w/w) of liquiritigenin (**7**) equivalents, isoliquiritigenin (**8**) equivalents as well as the amount of G. inflata species-specific licochalcone A (**6**), as previously described (Table III) (166). In addition, 8-prenylapigenin (**3**) was quantified using HPLC-MS/MS with CID and selected reaction monitoring (SRM). The analyses were carried out on a Shimadzu (Kyoto, Japan) LC-MS-8050 triple quadrupole mass spectrometer equipped with a Shimadzu Nexera UHPLC system and Waters Xbridge C18 column (2.5 x 50 mm, 3 µm). The mobile phase consisted of a 10-min linear gradient from 35% to 70% acetonitrile in water containing 0.1% formic acid. The flow rate was 0.3 mL/min, and the column oven temperature was 45 °C. The negative ion electrospray SRM transitions for 8-prenylapigenin (**3**) were m/z 337 to 281 and 337 to 293 (quantifier and qualifier, respectively) and 353 to 119 for internal standard xanthohumol. The collision energy was 28 eV and the SRM dwell time was 20 m sec. per transition. For the preparation of calibration curves, authenticated commercial 8-prenylapigenin (**3**) (Ryan Scientific Inc.) was diluted with 50% CH<sub>3</sub>CN/water to produce a calibration curve from 10 to 500 nM. Licorice crude extracts were prepared at 0.1 mg/mL in 70% acetonitrile and 3  $\mu$ L was injected for analysis.

## 2.4. Cell Culture Condition

The ERα (+), endometrial carcinoma cells (Ishikawa) were provided by Dr. R. B. Hochberg (Yale University, New Haven, CT) and were maintained in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM/F12) containing 1% sodium pyruvate, 1% non-essential amino acids (NEAA), 1% glutamax-1, 0.05% insulin, and 10% heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum (FBS), as described previously (158). An estrogen-free medium was prepared similarly but with phenol red-free medium and 10% charcoal-stripped FBS replacing heat-inactivated FBS.

The MDA-MB-231/β41 breast carcinoma cell line, stably transfected with ERβ was a gift from Dr. Debra Tonetti (University of Illinois at Chicago, Chicago, IL.) and was maintained in phenol red-free Modified Eagle Medium (MEM) containing 1% non-essential amino acids (NEAA), 1% glutamax, 1% anti-biotic/anti-mycotic, 5% charcoal stripped calf serum, and 0.05% insulin (167).

Treatment with the extracts and compounds did not result in significant cell death under the concentrations used in this study. All DMSO concentrations for the cell culture assays were below 0.1%. All cell lines were authenticated and had well-defined STR profiles.

### 2.5. Estrogen Responsive Alkaline Phosphatase Induction in Ishikawa cells

The protocol from Pisha and Pezzuto (168) for the Alkaline Phosphatase assay was used as previously described (158). Endometrial carcinoma Ishikawa cells were plated at 5  $\times$  10<sup>4</sup> cells/well and in 96 well plates in estrogen-free medium for 24 h. Extracts and compounds were dissolved in DMSO and added in serial concentrations while ensuring that the DMSO concentration was less than 0.1%. After treatment, the plates were incubated at 37 °C for 96 h, washed with PBS and lysed by adding 50 µL of 0.01% Triton X-100 in 0.1 M Tris buffer at pH 9.8; followed by a freeze -80 °C till assay was conducted. Plates were thawed at 37 °C. and the phosphatase substrate, p-nitrophenol phosphate, was added to each well and the alkaline phosphatase activity was measured by assessing the presence of p-nitrophenol at 405 nm using a Power Wave 200 microplate scanning spectrophotometer (Bio-Tek Instruments, Winooski, VT, USA). The fold induction of alkaline phosphatase for each individual treatment, in comparison to the estradiol control (1 nM), denoted estrogenic activity and was calculated as previously described (158). In parallel, the cytotoxicity of the treatments was evaluated using sodium rhodamine B (SRB) reagent, as described previously (158).

#### 2.6. <u>ERβ-ERE-luciferase Induction in MDA-MB-231/β41 Cells</u>

Briefly, ERß stably transfected MDA-MB-231/β41 cells were grown in phenol-red free medium and plated at  $4 \times 10^5$  cells/mL in a 12-well plate. Following a 24 h incubation at 37 °C, the cells were washed with PBS and Opti-MEM medium was added for transfection. The cells were transfected with pERE-luciferase at 3 µg/mL and pRL-tK at 1 µg/mL for 6 h then washed twice with PBS and the phenol-free MEM medium was added before treatment with extracts or compounds for 18 h. E<sub>2</sub> (1 nM) and Diarylpropionitirile (DPN), a selective ER $\beta$  agonist (1  $\mu$ M), were used as positive controls. After the 18 h incubation at 37 °C, the cells were lysed with 1X cell lysis buffer and frozen at -80 °C for 10 min to 24 h. Once thawed, the cell lysates were collected in Eppendorf tubes, centrifuged at 14,000 X g at 4 °C for 10 min, and then 20 µL of the supernatant were placed in white Costar 96-well plates. The plates were placed into the FLUOstar OPTIMA luminometer (BMG Lab Tech, Offenburg, Germany) where 100 µL of the luciferase reagent were injected into the wells followed by 100 µL of the Stop and Glo reagent to guench the firefly luciferase expression and activation of the Renilla vector. To account for transfection efficiency, the average read-out for the luciferase activity was normalized to the average of the Renilla (pRL-tK) activity. To convert the data to fold-induction the results were normalized to the DMSO control.

The data obtained were the mean of three biological replicates and are stated as means ± SD.

### 2.7. ERα and ERβ Competitive Binding assay

The protocol used and validated for this analysis is as previously described with minor modifications (169-172). Briefly, the reaction mixture consisting of 5 µL of compound in DMSO, 5  $\mu$ L of purified full length human recombinant ER $\alpha$  or ER $\beta$ (Invitrogen Carlsbad, CA) diluted in ER binding buffer (3 nM), and 5 µL of "Hot Mix" (400 nM) prepared fresh with 95 Ci/mmol [<sup>3</sup>H] estradiol (E<sub>2</sub>) was diluted in 1:1 ethanol:ER binding buffer (NEN Life Science Products, Boston, MA, USA). [<sup>3</sup>H]-E2 concentration of 20 nM was used as tracer in the reaction mixture in accordance with previously described methods (169-171). Then 85 µL ER binding buffer was added and the mixture was incubated at room temperature for 2 h. Hydroxyapatite (BioRad, Herculus, CA) slurry (HAPS) was added (100  $\mu$ L) to the reaction mixture, which was on ice for 15 min, being vortexed every 5 min. A wash step, repeated three times, was by performed adding 900 µL of appropriate wash buffer for the respective receptor subtype to reaction mixture, which was vortexed, centrifuged at 10,000 g at 4 °C for 1 min and decanted. The HAPS pellet with receptor-ligand complex was re-suspended in 200 µL of ethanol (200 proof) and added to scintillation tubes. Reaction tubes were further rinsed with 200 µL of ethanol and the rinse was added to the scintillation tubes. Cytoscint [(4 ml; ICN (Costa Mesa, CA)] was added to the tube and a Beckman LS 6500 liquid scintillation counter (Schaumburg, IL) was used to count radioactivity. The % inhibition of  $[^{3}H]$ -E2 was calculated using equation (1):

[(dpmsample - dpmblank)/(dpmDMSO - dpmblank) - 1] X 100) = % sample binding (1)

The % binding of the sample was calculated by comparison with that of estradiol (50 nM). The data obtained were the mean of three analytical replicates in triplicates. % Relative Binding Affinity (RBA) values were calculated for each compound using equation (2) to quantitate binding activity relative to  $17\beta$ -E<sub>2</sub> (173).

% relative binding affinity (RBA)=  $[IC_{50 E2}/IC_{50 (iso)flavonoid)}] \times 100$  (2)

RBA  $\beta/\alpha$  values [(%RBA  $\beta$  of compound (A)] / [%RBA  $\alpha$  of compound (A)] were used to express the measure of preferential interaction of each specific (iso)flavonoid for each ER subtype ( $\alpha$  or  $\beta$ ) (174).

# 2.8. <u>Time Resolved Fluorescence Energy Transfer (TR-FRET) assay in ERα and</u> <u>ERβ</u>

The following agonist mode TR-FRET assay protocol was adapted from established procedures (175, 176). For ER $\alpha$ -ligand recruitment assessment, (iso)flavonoids at varied concentrations were incubated with 4 nM ER $\alpha$ -417 (amino acids 304–554; C381,530S; site-specifically labeled at C417 with biotinmaleimide), 1 nM streptavidin terbium chelate (LanthaScreen® Tb-Streptavidin; ThermoFisher Scientific catalog number: PV3965), and 100 nM steroid receptor coactivator 2 (residues 627–829; labeled nonspecifically with 5-iodoacetamidofluorescein) in 80 µL of TR FRET buffer. For ER $\beta$ -ligand recruitment assessment, (iso)flavonoids at varied concentrations were incubated with 7 nM ER $\beta$ -LBD (labeled with GST), 5 nM terbium-anti-GST antibody and 250 nM steroid receptor coactivator 2 (residues 627–829; labeled nonspecifically with 5iodoacetamidofluorescein) in 80 µL of TR FRET buffer. TR FRET buffer contained 20 mM Tris-HCl, 10% glycerol, 50 mM NaCl, 0.02% Nonidet® P 40 substitute at pH 7.5 with a DMSO concentration of 3%. After a 1 hour incubation at room temperature for each respective ER subtype-ligand recruitment measurement, TR-FRET readings were taken on a Biotek Neo2 reader (Gen5 v. 3.02 software package) using 360/40 nm excitation with a 100 µs delay and a 500 µs collection time. Emission was measured at 495/5 nm and 520/25 nm. Experiments were performed in triplicate using Corning black, polystyrene, flat bottom, nonbinding surface area, 96-well half area assay plates. Graphpad Prism v. 7.02 was used to generate bestfit curves of the data (ratio of emission at 520 nm / emission at 495 nm) to sigmoidal, 4PL, where X is log (concentration of inhibitor).

### 2.9. Computational docking model

In silico docking analysis was performed to investigate the interactions of the flavonoids and isoflavanoids with ERα and ERβ. Binding sites of ERα and ERβ bound to genistein were obtained from Protein Data Bank (PDB ID: 1x7r and 1x7j, respectively) and uploaded to Molecular Operating Environment (MOE; Chemical Computing Group, version 2016.0208). All unnecessary water molecules were removed, and the structure was prepared using the quick prep option in MOE. Compounds were docked with triangle matcher placement with London dG scoring and induced fit refinement with GBVI/WSA dG scoring. Figures are shown with the docked compound in molecular surface showing hydrophobicity and lipophilicity of the binding site. *In silico* data was generated by Caitlin Howell.

# 3. METHOD OPTIMIZATION FOR DETERMINATION OF ER $\alpha$ AND ER $\beta$ ACTIVITY OF (ISO)FLAVONOIDS

(Reprinted in part from: Atieh Hajirahimkhan, Obinna Mbachu, Charlotte Simmler, Sarah Green, Huali Dong, Dejan Nikolic, David C. Lankin, Richard B. van Breemen, Shao-Nong Chen, Guido F. Pauli, Birgit M. Dietz, and Judy L. Bolton
 "Estrogen Receptor (ER) Subtype Selectivity Identifies 8-Prenylapigenin as an ERβ
 Agonist from Glycyrrhiza inflata and Highlights the Importance of Chemical and Biological Authentication" Journal of Natural Products 81(4), 966-975 (2018))

#### 3.1. Rationale and Hypothesis

The ER subtype selectivity of phytoestrogens has been investigated in numerous studies (123, 174). Since the identification of ER $\alpha$  decades ago and ER $\beta$  in the mid 90's, there has been a concerted effort to identify or develop ligands that can modulate them (1, 117, 177). These two ER subtypes have distinct, as well as complementary activities *in vivo* as it relates to mammary gland proliferative activity. ER $\alpha$  activity has been shown to be associated with cell proliferation, while ER $\beta$  activity is reported to be antiproliferative and attenuates ER $\alpha$  activity in breast cells (3, 113, 120, 178). E<sub>2</sub> stimulation of ER $\alpha$  drives the proliferation of some breast cancers cell lines (179, 180). In this aim, it is hypothesized that phytoestrogens and botanicals that exhibit ER $\beta$ -preferential activity may be a safer option for women's health BDS, as they won't lead to proliferation in mammary gland carcinogenesis. ER $\beta$  activity may include a protective effect *in vivo* (116). This is due to findings that ER $\beta$  mRNA levels and relative

expression is decreased in a number of cancers, compared to normal tissue (115, 181-183). It has also been suggested that in some clinical cases, targeting a specific ER subtype over its counterpart may offer some biological benefits such as fewer unwanted side effects (1). These side effects can occur through the increased risk of hyperproliferation due to ER $\alpha$  stimulation by E<sub>2</sub>. An *in vitro* cell model was optimized to assess ER subtype activities of the respective (iso)flavonoids and women's health botanicals.

### **3.1.1.** Validation of the Bioassays for Differentiating ERα versus ERβ Effects

A cell-based estrogenic assay protocol was used consisting of an induction of alkaline phosphatase activity assay in Ishikawa (ER $\alpha$ +) cells and an ER $\beta$ -ERE-luciferase assay in MDA-MB-231/ $\beta$ 41 cells was developed to compare ER $\alpha$  and ER $\beta$  activity. Alkaline phosphatase activity in Ishikawa cells is mainly induced by activators of ER $\alpha$  dependent pathways (184, 185). MDA-MB-231/ $\beta$ 41 cells (ER negative cells transfected with ER $\beta$ ), on the other hand, specifically indicate the estrogenic effects associated with ER $\beta$  through the activation of ER $\beta$ -ERE-luciferase (167). The known selective ER $\alpha$  ligand 4,4',4"- (4-propyl-[1*H*]-pyrazole-1,3,5-triyl) *tri*sphenol (PPT) and the selective ER $\beta$  ligand 2,3-*bis* (4-hydroxyphenyl)-propionitrile (DPN) developed by the Katzenellenbogen laboratory, were used as positive controls in these assays (186-188). In addition, the potent ER $\alpha$ /ER $\beta$  phytoestrogen 8-prenylnaringenin (8-PN), the potent ER $\beta$ -preferential isoflavonoid genistein, and the endogenous ER ligand 17 $\beta$ -Estradiol (E<sub>2</sub>) were used to further validate the method development assay (123, 139, 141, 189, 190). A validated assay was expected to show ER $\alpha$ -selectivity for PPT, nanomolar EC<sub>50</sub> for 8-PN in ER $\alpha$ ,

and for ER $\beta$ , nanomolar EC<sub>50</sub>'s with ER $\beta$  preferential activity over ER $\alpha$  for DPN and genistein.



Synthetic ER $\alpha$ -selective agonist



17β–Estradiol (E<sub>2</sub>) endogenous ER ligand

Potent ER $\alpha/\beta$  agonist Figure 11. ER Subtype Selective Ligands

8-prenylnaringenin (8-PN)

HO



HO

Genistein **Potent ER**β-preferential agonist

# 3.1.2. Results and Discussion

The ER $\alpha$  ligand PPT induced alkaline phosphatase activity in ER $\alpha$  (+) Ishikawa cells with a low nanomolar potency (Table I, Figure 12A and 13A), but it did not exhibit any estrogenic response in MDA-MB-231/ $\beta$ 41 ER $\beta$  (+) cells (Table I, Figure 12B and 13B). These data were consistent with previous studies and confirmed the ERa selectivity of PPT and validated the use of the optimized ER $\alpha$  assay (117, 191). The ER $\beta$  ligand DPN showed estrogenic sub-micromolar potency in the alkaline phosphatase activity assay in Ishikawa cells (Table I, Figure 12A and 13A) and low nanomolar potency and

ER $\beta$  preferential activity in the ER $\beta$ -ERE-luciferase assay in MDA-MB-231/ $\beta$ 41 cells (Table I, Figure 12B and 13B) with a considerable (30-fold) selectivity for ER $\beta$ . Other *in vitro* studies report DPN as having a 12 to 30-fold selectivity for ER $\beta$  over ER $\alpha$  (191,192, 193). Finally, the known phytoestrogens 8-PN also had low nanomolar ER $\alpha$  and ER $\beta$  potency but no selectivity for either of the two ER subtypes, and genistein with a 100-fold ER $\beta$  selectivity exhibited the expected effects in these estrogenic assays (Figure 12A and B).

Further steps were taken to further confirm that results from the developed method were reflective of the ER specific activity. Dose-response assays using DPN in MDA-MB-231 ER (-) cells were used in the ER $\beta$ -ERE-luciferase assay (Figure 13B). As expected, the absence of ER $\beta$  expression resulted in significantly lower luciferase activity at every DPN concentration (Figure 13B). Additionally, an alkaline phosphatase activity assay in Ishikawa (ER $\alpha$ +) cells was conducted comparing cells cotreated with E<sub>2</sub> and fulvestrant (ICI 182.780, an ER antagonist) with cells treated with E<sub>2</sub> alone (Figure 14A). Results showed that cells cotreated with  $E_2$  and fulvestrant had significantly lower activity compared to those the cells that were treated with  $E_2$  only (Figure 14A). This further confirmed that ER $\alpha$  activity is modulated in the developed assay. This same assay verification was conducted using MDA-MB-231/β41 cells in the ERβ-EREluciferase assay (Figure 14B). The findings showed that cotreatment of these cells with  $E_2$  and fulvestrant significantly reduced ER $\beta$  activity compared to those treated with  $E_2$ alone (Figure 14B), confirming the modulation of ER $\beta$  activity in this assay. The use of different cell lines and assay types to analyze the respective ER subtype activities in this study were recognized limitations for our method. This may also explain the

difference in our ER $\alpha$  EC<sub>50</sub> value for genistein of 0.4 µM from that of other studies of 0.038 µM (192). However, the results in our stated assays were generally consistent with previous publications (117,191,192). Taken together, our data suggests that the developed bioassays functioned effectively and were suitable for the purpose of evaluating plant extracts and their phytoconstituents for differential ER $\alpha$  versus ER $\beta$  effects (158, 186, 187, 194, 195). Our validated biological assays enabled the identification of ER $\alpha$  and ER $\beta$ -preferential extracts and bioactive compounds which were necessary for our next aim (Aim 2). The goal of this next project was to identify ER $\alpha$  and ER $\beta$  biological activity of extracts, especially licorice, used in women's health and their various phytoestrogens.



Figure 12. Method Validation for Defining ER Selectivity by Select Compounds. A) ER $\alpha$ -dependent alkaline phosphatase induction. B) ER $\beta$ -ERE-luciferase induction using E2 (black, filled circle), PPT (tangerine, filled diamond), and 8-PN (blue, filled circle) and DPN (pink, filled square) and genistein (ER $\beta$  selective ligands) (teal, filled circle). The methods for the Ishikawa and ERE-luciferase assays are described in the methods section. The data represent the averages +/- SEM of three independent determinations.



Figure 13. Method Validation Assay Confirming ER $\beta$  Modulation for Estrogenic Analysis. A) ER $\alpha$ -dependent alkaline phosphatase induction. B) ER $\beta$ -ERE-luciferase induction using E<sub>2</sub> (black, open circle), PPT (tangerine, filled diamond) and DPN (pink, closed square). The methods for the Ishikawa and ERE-luciferase assays are described in methods section. The dashed lines in magenta represent ERE-luciferase activity of DPN in ER $\beta$ (-) MDA-MB-231 cells. The data represent the averages +/- SEM of three independent determinations.



Figure 14. Method Validation Confirming assay ER Modulation for Estrogenic Analysis. A) ER $\alpha$ -dependent alkaline phosphatase induction. B) ER $\beta$ -ERE-luciferase induction using DMSO, E<sub>2</sub> (1nM), E<sub>2</sub> (1nM) + ICI (10  $\mu$ M). The methods for the Ishikawa and ERE-luciferase assays are described in Experimental Section. The data represent the averages +/- SEM of three independent determinations defines receptor route. Data analyzed with by two-tailed unpaired T-test.

	EC <sub>50</sub> <sup>b</sup>	Maximum efficacy	EC <sub>50</sub> <sup>b</sup>	Maximum efficacy
17β-estradiol	$0.03 \pm 0.00^{\circ}$	100 ± 10	0.03 ± 0.00c	100 ± 4
PPT	$1.0 \pm 0.2^{c}$	119 ± 14	N/A	N/A
DPN	0.08 ± 0.02	90 ± 7.0	0.0024 ± 0003	119 ± 3
Genistein	0.24 ± 0.10	92 ± 4.0	0.0024 ± 0.0002	121 ± 11
8-PN	0.0050 ± 0.001	108 ± 18	0.0050 ± 0.0005	87 ± 9.0

**Table I. ERa and ERB Method Optimization Values.** <sup>a</sup>Values are expressed as the mean  $\pm$  SEM of at least 3 independent determinations in triplicate/duplicate. Experimental details are described in the methods section. <sup>b</sup> µM compounds in general. <sup>c</sup>nM. N/A, not active.

# 4. IDENTIFICATION OF ESTROGEN RECEPTOR BETA PREFERENTIAL COMPOUNDS IN LICORICE SPECIES

(Reprinted in part from: Atieh Hajirahimkhan, Obinna Mbachu, Charlotte Simmler, Sarah Green, Huali Dong, Dejan Nikolic, David C. Lankin, Richard B. van Breemen, Shao-Nong Chen, Guido F. Pauli, Birgit M. Dietz, and Judy L. Bolton
"Estrogen Receptor (ER) Subtype Selectivity Identifies 8-Prenylapigenin as an ERβ Agonist from Glycyrrhiza inflata and Highlights the Importance of Chemical and Biological Authentication" *Journal of Natural Products* 81(4), 966-975 (2018))

### 4.1. Rationale and Hypothesis

Menopause is a phase of life for women that is marked by a drastic decline in the levels of estrogen in the circulation. This hormonal change causes a number of symptoms such as hot flashes, insomnia, mood changes, and vaginal atrophy, and bone loss, which could have a dramatic negative influence on the quality of life of women (196). It is well known that  $E_2$  (Figure 15) plays a crucial role in human physiology (197). In its classical pathway,  $E_2$  binds to two estrogen receptors (ERs), ER $\alpha$  and ER $\beta$ , followed by the interaction of the ERs with estrogen responsive elements (EREs) at the promoter region of the estrogen dependent genes, which ultimately results in the transcription of these genes and the final biological responses (Figure 15) (197). With the onset of menopause, these events are significantly decreased due to the scarcity of estrogens. While hormone therapy (HT) can ameliorate this situation by supplementing estrogens, the 2002 Women's Health Initiative (WHI) showed that an increased breast cancer risk

is associated with HT comprising of estrogen and medroxyprogesterone (198-201). Because of the elevated risk associated with HT, there have been rigorous investigations to find safer options for treating menopausal symptoms (198). It has been reported that activators of ER $\beta$  pathways may balance the proliferative effects associated with ER $\alpha$  and might have a better safety profile than typical hormonal therapy (Figure 15) (197, 202-205).



Figure 15. The Effect of ERβ Dependent Pathways on ERα Dependent Proliferation.

Increasing evidence suggests that ER $\beta$  can play a potential protective role in various disease conditions including mammary tissue (206-208). Some constituents of botanical dietary supplements used in women's health that have become popular after the WHI report have shown preferential activity for ER $\beta$  pathways (203, 209, 210). For

example, soy, red clover, and their isoflavone, genistein [(1) (Figure 19)] have exhibited ERβ effects in various models, although the *in vivo* results have not been conclusive (195, 196, 211-215). Studies have suggested that genistein plays a protective role against various cancers (203). However, other studies report that genistein increases estrogen dependent breast tumors cells in vivo (216). These findings, along with the fact that Asian women consuming a phytoestrogen-rich diet have a lower breast cancer incidence and less frequent and/or less severe hot flashes, warrant a more in-depth evaluation of the estrogenic effects of botanicals used for women's health (196, 217, 218). Licorice, which is among the popular botanicals in traditional medicine, is being used for various women's health indications, and is marketed in the U.S. as a dietary supplement ingredient targeting menopausal women (218, 219). Among its 30 different reported species, *Glycyrrhiza glabra* L. (G. glabra), *G. inflata* Batal., and G. uralensis Fisch ex DC. are the three species approved in international pharmacopeias (127). At the same time, it has been shown that these three *Glycyrrhiza* species in the family Fabaceae have distinctly different chemical profiles and, consequently, demonstrate varying levels and various types of estrogenic activity (158, 160, 194, 196, 220). Additionally, studies have suggested the lack of proliferative effects for licorice species in reproductive and mammary tissues of rodents (221). It is suggested that these observations could be associated with the ERß preferential activity of select licorice extracts (221). Liquiritigenin (LigF) is common to all licorice species and exhibits weak estrogenic effects with a moderate selectivity for ER $\beta$  (126, 158, 160, 161, 220, 222, 223). Other studies have also evaluated the estrogenic properties of various components of licorice and have suggested selective ER modulator (SERM) like effects

with some of these phytochemicals (222, 224, 225). However, the different species of licorice have not been explored systematically for comparative ER subtype selectivity, and previously unidentified, preferential and potent ER $\beta$  ligands might yet to be found in licorice dietary supplements. The current study compared the ER $\alpha$  and ER $\beta$  activities of the three medicinal licorice species. The outcomes showed that *G. inflata* is the most estrogenic of the licorice species that were investigated, and it comprises components that have nanomolar potency for ER $\beta$ . Collectively, this suggests that this species might be a safe and effective botanical for postmenopausal women's health. Consequently, this study's aim was determined to identify the presence of ER $\beta$ -preferential compound(s) in *G. inflata* that may be contributing to this observed ER $\beta$  activity.

## 4.2. Results and Discussion

# 4.2.1. Comparison of ERα versus ERβ Activity of Botanicals

When tested in the alkaline phosphatase activity assay in Ishikawa cells (ER $\alpha$ ), all three extracts (*G. glabra*, *G. inflata*, and *G. uralensis*) showed dose-dependent activity (Figure 17A). The relative EC<sub>50</sub> and the maximum efficacy rankings of the extracts in Ishikawa cells were: *G. inflata* > *G. uralensis* > *G. glabra* (Table II, Figure 16A). The results with *G. uralensis* and *G. glabra* were consistent with previous publications while there are very few reports on the estrogenic activity of authenticated *G. inflata* (158, 224, 226). When the extracts were studied in the ER $\beta$ -ERE-luciferase induction assay in MDA-MB-231/ $\beta$ 41 cells, the rank order for the potency of these extracts was: *G. inflata* > *G. glabra* > *G. uralensis* (Table II, Figure 16B). Interestingly, a 2-fold increase in potency

was observed in ER $\beta$ -ERE-luciferase signal for *G. inflata* in MDA-MB-231/ $\beta$ 41 cells compared to the estrogenic activity of this extracts in Ishikawa cells (ERa) (Table II, Figure 16A, Figure 16B). While the increase in ERβ potency of G. uralensis and G. glabra was 2.3-fold and 3.4-fold, respectively, G. inflata had the highest ERß potency. The rank order for the maximum efficacy of these extracts in ER $\beta$ -ERE-luciferase induction was: G. uralensis > G. inflata > G. glabra (Table II, Figure 16B). Additionally, when compared with the alkaline phosphatase data, all the three extracts exhibited increased maximum efficacy in ER $\beta$ -ERE-luciferase signal (Table II, Figure 16A and B). These data suggested that overall G. inflata has ERβ preferential activity at lower concentrations, and that it might have a better safety profile because its ER $\beta$  activity could protect hormone responsive tissues against ERa dependent proliferation. While the ER $\beta$  selectivity of the licorice extracts have not been fully investigated, previous studies have suggested that liquiritigenin (LigF) is responsible for the ERβ-selectivity for licorice extracts in the competitive ER binding assays [(7) (Figure 19)]. This compound was previously identified as a selective ER $\beta$  ligand (126, 158). Moreover, the most potent of the tested licorice extracts (G. inflata) contained relatively little of the putative bioactive component liquiritigenin (7) (Table III). Interestingly, liquiritigenin (7) was present in relatively higher concentrations in the G. glabra extract, and yet this extract was not the most ERβ potent of the tested licorice extracts (Table II and III). Therefore, it was evident that another compound in G. inflata was likely responsible for the observed ER $\beta$  potency.



Figure 16. *G. inflata* has the most overall Estrogenic Activity and is moderately ERβpreferential. Induction of estrogenic activity with the three medicinal licorice extracts (*G. inflata*, green, filled triangle; *G. glabra*, brown, open diamond; *G. uralensis*, blue, open hexagon). A) alkaline phosphatase activity induction in Ishikawa cells and B). ERβ-ERE-luciferase assay in MDA-MB-231/β41 cells. The data represent the averages + SEM of three independent determinations.

# 4.2.2. Bioassay-Guided Fractionation of G. inflata

The observed higher ER $\beta$  potency of *G. inflata* (Table II, Figure 16), suggested the presence of unidentified potent ER $\beta$  ligands [other than the weak estrogenic compound, liquiritigenin (**7**)] in this extract. Therefore, bioassay-guided fractionation of *G. inflata* extract (Figure 17 and 20) was performed and eventually led to the selection of fractions 8 and 10, both of which displayed estrogenic activities in both the alkaline phosphatase induction assay in Ishikawa cells (ER $\alpha$ +) and the ER $\beta$ -ERE-luciferase assay in MDA-MB-231/ $\beta$ 41 cells (ER $\beta$ +) (Figure 17 and 20), as a potential source of new ER $\beta$  ligands.



**Figure 17. Estrogenic Fractions present in** *G. inflata.* Bioassay guided fractionation of *G. inflata* extract yielding fractions (1-17). Fractions assessed for ER $\alpha$  activity by alkaline phosphatase induction assay in Ishikawa cells (ER $\alpha$ +) and ER $\beta$ -ERE-luciferase assay in MDA-MB-231/ $\beta$ 41 cells for ER $\beta$  activity. Fraction 8 was selected for isolation of pure compound(s) to be used for further determination of estrogenicity. The data represent the averages +/- SEM of three independent determinations. Data analyzed with one way ANOVA and Dunnett's multiple comparison post test. (\*p < 0.05)



Figure 18. HPLC Chromatogram of Identified Compounds from Fraction 8
Fraction 10, which represented only 0.8% w/w of the crude extract, had a rather complex phytochemical profile (see Appendices), indicating that isolation of pure compounds in amounts sufficient for structure elucidation and further bioassay assessment would be challenging. Interestingly, fraction 8, representing 2.2% w/w of the crude extract was characterized by four major compounds. After purification by semi-preparative HPLC (Figure 18), these four compounds were obtained and identified as, 8-prenylapigenin (3, 8-PA, also called licoflavone C), abyssinone II (4), licochalcone C (5), and licochalcone A (6), by means of NMR (1D/2D) MS analyses, and comparison to published data (Figure 19) (162-164, 227-230). Quantitative <sup>1</sup>H NMR analysis was performed to estimate the relative abundance of each of the four compounds within fraction 8. Relative percentages of each major component in the extract were as follows: (4) 4.5% w/w, (3) 5.1% w/w, (5) 25.5% w/w, (6) 64.8% w/w. Interestingly, (6), which is usually regarded as a the most relevant and species-specific bioactive marker of G. inflata, showed no estrogenic activity in either assay (Figure 20B). The estrogenic activities of 3 - 6 were evaluated in estrogenic activity assays. Only 8-PA (3) exhibited significant activity in both the alkaline phosphatase induction and the ERβ-EREluciferase assays. 8-PA (3) had been previously reported to have estrogenic activity in ER(+) MCF-7/BOS cells (162). However, the preference of 8-PA (3) for ER $\beta$  had not been recognized. This ER $\beta$  activity provides additional evidence suggesting an enhancement of botanical safety profile of licorice preparations.



Figure 19. Natural products from red clover, soy, hops, and licorice. Genistein (1) is an ER $\beta$  preferential compound from red clover and soy. 8prenylnaringenin (2) is a potent estrogenic compound from hops. 8-prenylapigenin (3) is an ER $\beta$  preferential compound isolated from licorice (*G. inflata*). Abyssinone II (4), licochalcone C (5), and licochalcone A (LicA) (6) are isolated compounds from licorice (*G. inflata*) with no estrogenic activity. Liquiritigenin (7) and isoliquiritigenin (8) are the estrogenic pair isolated from various licorice extracts.



## Figure 20. Scheme of Bioassay-guided Fractionation of G.inflata Extract.

The crude extract of *G. inflata* was fractionated by countercurrent chromatography (CCC). The different *G. inflata* fractions were tested for their estrogenic properties on both ER $\alpha$  and ER $\beta$  models. Fractions 8 and 10 displayed significant activity on both the ER $\alpha$  and ER $\beta$  models. Fraction 8, with the highest mass yield at 2.2 % w/w crude extract was further processed by semi-preparative HPLC to isolate and identify four major compounds, namely, 8-prenylapigenin (3), licochalcone C (5), licochalcone A (6), and abyssinone II (4). B). Induction of differential estrogenic activity with the isolated compounds from the active bioassay-guided fraction 8 (Figure 18) in alkaline phosphatase activity induction assay in Ishikawa cells (ER $\alpha$ ) and in ER $\beta$ -ERE-luciferase assay in MDA-MB-231/ $\beta$ 41 cells. The methods for the Ishikawa and ERE-luciferase assays are described in Materials and Methods. The data represent the averages +/- SEM of three independent determinations.

While liquiritigenin and its (pro-drug) bio-equivalent glycosylated derivatives (158, 166) are present in all licorice species, and contribute to the estrogenic activity observed with these extracts, the presence of 8-PA (**3**) could fully explain the higher ER $\beta$  potency and observed with *G. inflata* compared to *G. glabra* and *G. uralensis*. In order to evaluate this hypothesis, quantitation of 8-PA (**3**) in all three *Glycyrrhiza* extracts was carried out by LC-MS/MS (Table III). The quantitative data revealed that 8-PA (**3**) was 33 times more concentrated in *G. inflata* compared to the other two *Glycyrrhiza* extracts. These data suggest that **3** plays a fundamental role in the high ER $\beta$  potency observed with *G. inflata*.

treatment	alkaline phosphatase induction		ERβ-ERE-luciferase	
	EC <sub>50</sub> <sup>b</sup>	Maximum efficacy	EC <sub>50</sub> <sup>b</sup>	Maximum efficacy
17β-estradiol	$0.03 \pm 0.00^{c}$	100 ± 10	$0.03 \pm 0.00^{\circ}$	100 ± 4
PPT	$1.0 \pm 0.2^{c}$	119 ± 14	N/A	N/A
DPN	$0.08 \pm 0.02$	90 ± 7.0	$0.020 \pm 0.005$	117 ± 10
8-PA, <b>3</b>	$0.050 \pm 0.006$	93 ± 7.0	0.0035 ± 0.0004	104 ± 6.0
8-PN, <b>2</b>	0.005 ± 0.001	108 ± 18	0.0050 ± 0.0005	87 ± 9.0
Genistein <b>, 1</b>	0.24 ± 0.10	92 ± 4.0	0.0024 ± 0.0002	121 ± 11
G. glabra	$5.4 \pm 0.5$	19 ± 2.0	1.6 ± 0.4	58 ± 9.0
G. uralensis	$4.7 \pm 0.2$	41 ± 3.0	2.1 ± 0.3	101 ± 17
G. inflata	1.10 ± 0.2	57 ± 6.0	0.6 ± 0.2	80 ± 10

Table II. ERα- and ERβ-dependent Estrogenic Effects of Licorice Species and Isolated Compounds. <sup>a</sup>Values are expressed as the mean ± SEM of at least 3 independent determinations in triplicate/duplicate. Experimental details are described in the method section. <sup>b</sup>Values are expressed in µg/mL for extracts and µM for isolated compounds. N/A, not active. <sup>c</sup>nM.

Species	6	8 equivalents <sup>b</sup>	7 equivalents <sup>c</sup>	<b>3</b> <sup>d</sup>	
		% w/w crude extract			
G. glabra	$ND^a$	3.61 ± 0.06	$8.55 \pm 0.06^{c}$	<loq< td=""></loq<>	
G. uralensis	ND <sup>a</sup>	0.59 ± 0.01	3.86 ± 0.16	0.005	
				(52 ± 2.86 ppm)	
G. inflata	7.07 ± 0.61	$2.32 \pm 0.04$	3.67 ± 0.31 <sup>c</sup>	0.168 ± 0.045	
G. glabra G. uralensis G. inflata	ND <sup>a</sup> ND <sup>a</sup> 7.07 ± 0.61	3.61 ± 0.06 0.59 ± 0.01 2.32 ± 0.04	$8.55 \pm 0.06^{\circ}$ $3.86 \pm 0.16$ $3.67 \pm 0.31^{\circ}$	<loq 0.005 (52 ± 2.86 ppr 0.168 ± 0.04</loq 	

**Table III. Comparative Concentrations of Bioactive Compounds in the Licorice Extracts**. <sup>a</sup>ND: below the Limit of Detection, <sup>b</sup>The term LigC equivalents is used to represent the total amount of LigC aglycone plus LigC glycosides (isoliquiritin, isoliquiritin apioside and licuraside) in each crude extract. <sup>c</sup>LigF equivalents is used to represent the total amount of LigF aglycone plus LigF glycosides (liquiritin, liquiritin apioside and liquiritigenin-7-O-apiosylglucoside) in each crude extract. <sup>d</sup>8-PA was quantified by LC-MS analysis. The values are expressed as means ± SD of independent measures.

#### 4.2.3. <u>A Cautionary Tale: The Importance of Characterizing Purchased Standards.</u>

As the steps of the bioassay-guided fractionation were underway and small quantities of the compounds were isolated and characterized, the acquisition of reference standards became necessary to enable a thorough study of the pharmacological activities of isolated 8-PA (**3**). The first reference materials for 8-PA (**3**) were acquired commercially from a recognized vendor. This material was immediately subject to biological testing for its estrogenic properties. However, to our surprise, no estrogenic activity was observed, leading to initial questioning of the bioassay-guided fractionation results altogether (Figure 21A). However, in-depth NMR and MS analyses of this commercial reference material demonstrated that the material consisted of a mixture of the chalcone, 4'-O-methylbroussochalcone B (**10**), and its flavanone isomer, bavachinin (**9**) (Figure 21A) (162, 228-230).



**Figure 21. Comparative Estrogenic Activity and qHNMR analysis of Commercial 8-PA Samples.** A) The first commercial compound. Identified by NMR (and MS/MS) analyses as being 4'-O-methylbroussochalcone B (10) (triangle highlight within the NMR spectrum). The <sup>1</sup>H NMR spectrum of the adulterated commercial compound also displays proton resonances belonging to its flavanone isomer, bavachinin (\*) and B) The second commercial compound. Identified by NMR (and MS) analyses and had expected estrogenic activity. The purity of 3 was found to be 98.8% using the qHNMR 100% method.

Interestingly, both 8-PA (**3**) and 4'-O-methylbroussochalcone B (**10**) have the same molecular mass but a different molecular formula. Hence performance of HR-MS analysis was an integral part of the quality control measures, aimed at assuring the

botanical integrity for the overall study. A second batch of "pure" 8-PA (**3**) was purchased from a second company, and in-house quality control combining NMR and HR-MS analysis (see Appendices) was performed to verify the identity and determine the purity of the material. This successfully authenticated batch of 8-PA (**3**) (purity 98.8% w/w, determined by the 100% method) displayed the expected estrogenic activity in the alkaline phosphatase induction assay (Figure 21B). Collectively, these results emphasized once more the fundamental need for the implementation of a rigorous quality control element for chemical authentication (verification of identity and purity determination) of commercial standards intended to be tested in bioassays (231). Such measures are prerequisites to ensure that *in vitro* and *in vivo* evaluations of pure and more complex plant natural products and their formulations can be performed with botanical integrity (https://nccih.nih.gov/research/policies/naturalproduct.htm).

# 4.2.4. <u>Differential Activation of the ER Subtypes by 8-Prenylapigenin and Known</u> Phytoestrogens.

In order to define the ER subtype selectivity of 8-PA (**3**) in comparison to known phytoestrogens including 8-PN (**2**) from *Humulus lupulus* (hops) and genistein (**1**) from *Trifolium pratense* (red clover) and *Glycine max* (soy), the compounds were studied in the alkaline phosphatase induction assay in Ishikawa cells (ER $\alpha$ +), and in the ER $\beta$ -ERE-luciferase assay in MDA-MB-231/ $\beta$ 41 cells (ER $\beta$ +). 8-PN (**2**) exhibited the highest potency in the alkaline phosphatase induction assay, followed by 8-PA (**3**) and genistein (**1**) (Table II, Figure 22A). When studied in the ER $\beta$ -ERE-luciferase assay, **1** exhibited the highest potency, followed by 8-PA (**3**) and 8-PN (**2**) (Table II, Figure 22B). The comparison of the potencies shown in Figure 22A and Figure 22B suggested a 14-fold ER $\beta$  preferential activity over ER $\alpha$  for 8-PA (**3**) and a 100-fold preference with genistein (**1**). 8-PA showed considerably more ER $\beta$  potency than liquiritigenin (Figure 34). Additionally, the difference in the abundance of liquiritigenin in the three licorice extracts is not as large as the abundance of 8-PA (**3**), which is 33 times more concentrated in *G. infata*. Based upon our resulting observations, 8-PA (**3**) is suggested to be responsible for the high ER $\beta$  potency of *G. inflata*. Moreover, this greater ER $\beta$  preferential activity might enhance the safety profile of this extract compared to *G. glabra* and *G. uralensis*. While genistein (**1**) has ER $\beta$  preferential activity in various *in vitro* studies, *in vivo* experiments have yielded conflicting results; uterine proliferation effects have been reported in certain concentration ranges (232, 233). To establish the safety of *G. inflata* extracts and the role of its ER $\beta$  preferential ligand, 8-PA (**3**), *in vivo* studies are warranted.

To conclude, botanical dietary supplements have become increasingly popular among menopausal women for the alleviation of menopausal symptoms, and establishing their potential efficacy as well as their safety profiles are important areas of research. While estrogenic effects are essential for relieving menopausal discomfort, especially hot flashes and night sweats, studies have suggested that ER $\alpha$ -dependent estrogenic activity could be associated with enhanced tissue proliferation and hormonal carcinogenesis. In contrast, ER $\beta$ -dependent estrogenic effects may oppose ER $\alpha$ dependent proliferation and enhance the safety profile. Therefore, botanical supplements with preferential ER $\beta$  effects could be beneficial for menopausal women. *G. inflata* and its active compound 8-prenylapigenin (**3**) which display enhanced ER $\beta$  effects, along with ERα activities could be considered a safer licorice species for menopausal symptom relief. Future *in vivo* studies are needed to define the clinical relevance of the *in vitro* findings. This study also presents an important cautionary note with regard to the pitfalls of natural products with compromised integrity, specifically with misidentified and/or sufficiently impure compounds. Adulteration of crude botanicals affects good research practices in the field of botanicals. Recognition of these supply chain challenges is particularly important for researchers and trainees in natural product chemistry, who must be ever vigilant when they acquire chemical standards for their research. While many vendors provide quality products with reliable certificates of analysis, it is still crucial to perform full authentication (i.e., structure verification and purity determination) of commercially available compounds prior to their application in expensive biological and clinical studies.



Figure 22. 8-PA and Genistein show ER $\beta$ -preferential activity, 8-PN is Equipotent in both ER subtypes. Induction of differential estrogenic activity with 8-PA (3) (blue, filled circle) compared to E<sub>2</sub> (black, closed circle) and the known phytoestrogens, genistein (purple, filled triangle) and 8-PN (pink, filled square) in A) alkaline phosphatase activity induction assay in Ishikawa cells and B) in ER $\beta$ -ERE-luciferase assay in MDA-MB-231/ $\beta$ 41 cells. The methods for the Ishikawa and ERE-luciferase assays are described in the methods section. The data represent the averages +/- SEM of three independent determinations.

# 5. MODULATION OF ESTROGENIC ACTIVITY BY ESTROGEN RECEPTOR BIOACTIVE (ISO)FLAVONOID STRUCTURES IN WOMEN'S HEALTH BOTANICALS

(Reprinted in part from: Obinna C. Mbachu, Caitlin Howell, Charlotte Simmler, Gonzalo R. Malca Garcia, Kornelia J. Skowron, Huali Dong, Sarah G. Ellis, Atieh Hajirahimkhan, Shao-Nong Chen, Dejan Nikolic, Terry W. Moore, Günter Vollmer, Guido F. Pauli, Judy

L. Bolton, Birgit M. Dietz "SAR study on Estrogen Receptor α/β activity of (iso)flavonoids: importance of prenylation, C-ring (un)saturation, and hydroxyl substituents" *Journal of Agriculture and Food Chemistry* (Manuscript in preparation for

submission, 2019)

#### 5.1. Rationale and Hypothesis

Botanicals have been used for many years because of the perceived health benefits they provide (148, 234, 235). The Women's Health Initiative study (WHI) report which showed an increased risk of breast cancer and cardiovascular complications associated with conventional hormone therapy of conjugated equine estrogens and medroxyprogesterone acetate (132), stimulated an uptick in botanical use as an alternate choice in women's health, including usage for the alleviation of menopausal symptoms (234). This increased interest arises out of the perception that botanicals are generally safer option than conventional drugs (132, 234, 236, 237). Frequently used botanicals for women's health include (1) red clover leaves (*Trifolium pratense L.*), (2) hops strobili (*Humulus lupulus L.*), (3) licorice roots (*Glycyrrhiza sp.*), and (4) horny goat weed leaves (*Epimedium sp.*) (234). Historically, red clover was used to treat respiratory ailments in traditional medicine (145). Today, red clover constituents are contained in many botanical dietary supplements aimed at relief of menopausal symptoms (145). Similarly, hops were traditionally utilized as a sedative before their use in women's health (140, 144). Licorice roots have been widely used for stomach inflammation, respiratory problems, and for the management of postmenopausal symptoms (147, 137, 146). Three licorice species, which include *Glycyrrhiza inflata*, to be referred to as *"inflata* licorice", are used medicinally and approved in international pharmacopeias (127). Horny goat weed is the common name used for 50 different known species of Epimedium, which include *E. sagittatum*, *E. grandiflorum*, and *E. koreanum* to cite a few widely studied species (148-150). These Epimedium species are staples of Traditional Chinese Medicine (TCM) for natural hormone therapy, including the treatment of menstrual irregularities and osteoporosis (148). In the present manuscript, the term *"Epimedium* botanical" is used to describe plant material of the Epimedium genus sold as horny goat weed.

All four described botanicals contain phytoestrogenic (iso)flavonoids, plantsourced compounds that function like endogenous estrogen (234, 238, 239). Spent hops contains the most potent ER $\alpha$  agonistic phytoestrogen known to date, 8prenylnaringenin (8-PN) and red clover is known to contain the potent ER $\beta$  agonist genistein (Gen) and its precursor biochanin A (141, 189, 123, 139, 190). Alcoholic extracts from *inflata* licorice showed preferential activity for ER $\beta$  over ER $\alpha$  and contain the highest concentration of the ER $\beta$ -preferential flavone 8-prenylapigenin (8-PA), in comparison to the remaining two approved medicinal species of licorice (127). Lastly, *Epimedium* botanicals contain glycosides of the major bioactive flavonol, icaritin (Ict), which is metabolized to desmethylicaritin (Dmct) *in vivo* (Figure 10) (240, 241). Both lct and Dmct are reported to be estrogenic (240). When consumed, the bioavailable flavonoids in these botanicals can interact with the two known estrogen receptors (ER), ER $\alpha$  and ER $\beta$  (1, 112). ER $\alpha$  expression is predominant in organs like the mammary gland, uterus, ovary (thecal cells), and adipose tissue, while ER $\beta$ , is present in the breast (mainly epithelial cells), ovary (granulosa cells), brain, as well as colon (1, 27, 25, 26, 24). ER $\alpha$  activity drives cellular proliferation in estrogen responsive tissues such as breast and uterus, and studies point to potential increased risk of hormone–dependent cancers when ER $\alpha$  is selectively stimulated (1, 113, 242). For example, purified 8-PN, which is equipotent in both ER subtypes, has been shown to increase proliferative activity in breast and uterine tissues in murine models (127, 173, 243). In contrast, ER $\beta$  activity is reported to be antiproliferative, suppressing ER $\alpha$ -driven cellular proliferation (Figure 23), potentially reducing the risk of carcinogenesis (1, 112, 174, 244, 245). There has been an increased interest in ER $\beta$ -selective ligands due to their potential antiproliferative properties and their additional health benefits (1, 112).



ER: estrogen receptor, ERE: estrogen response element, CF: transcription cofactors

#### Figure 23. Putative Scheme of Transactivation of ERα and ERβ

In this study, a Structure Activity Relationship (SAR) analysis of respective structurally similar bioactive (iso)flavonoids present in select botanicals was conducted. The compounds examined were: 8-PN, 8-PA, naringenin (Nrg), apigenin (Api), Ict, Dmct, kaempferol (Kfl), Gen, dehydrogenistein (Dgn), and 8-prenylgenistein (8-PG) (Figure 24). 8-PN, 8-PA, Dmct, Ict, and 8-PG have site-specific prenylation, and all the tested isoflavonoids have other subtle structural differences that could give rise to an interesting SAR study (Figure 24). The primary aim was to determine how structural variations to the conserved (iso)flavonoid pharmacophore modulate ER-subtype selectivity—specifically ER $\beta$ -preferential activity—and overall ER activity. It was hypothesized that site-specific prenylation, (un)saturation, hydroxylation, and methylation can modulate ER-subtype affinity and activity of (iso)flavonoids.



## Figure 24. Select (Iso)flavonoids and their Respective Botanical Sources.

A) Estradiol, endogenous ligand; identified bioactive flavonoids present in hops, licorice (mainly Glycyrrhiza inflata : GI), Epimedium botanical sold as horny goat weed, and flavonoids present in ubiquitous plant sources as indicated. B) Identified bioactive isoflavonoids present in red clover/soy and lupin bean, as well as dihydrogenistein, a biotransformed metabolite of genistein.

Additionally, the estrogenic activity of selected extracts containing some of these (iso)flavonoids — hops (8-PN), red clover (Gen), *inflata* licorice (8-PA), and *Epimedium* botanical (lct)—were also assessed. Another aim was to determine whether the estrogenic activity of the studied extracts correlates with the observed estrogenic behavior of their respective identified bioactive (iso)flavonoids. This approach may show the extent of influence these bioactive compounds have on the overall estrogenicity of their respective botanical extracts. Botanicals containing potent ER $\beta$ -preferential (iso)flavonoids may be able to provide the proposed ER $\beta$ -related protective benefits by counterbalancing ER $\alpha$  proliferative activity *in vivo*.

#### 5.2. Results

#### 5.2.1. Competitive binding assays of (iso)flavonoids in ERα and ERβ

This assay was used to assess the comparative binding affinity of the tested isoflavonoids for the respective ER subtypes. Among the flavanones and flavones, 8-PN had the highest affinity (% RBA) for ER $\alpha$ , followed by 8-PA (Figure 25). 8-PN showed greater affinity for ER $\alpha$  over ER $\beta$ , while 8-PA demonstrated the strongest binding affinity for ER $\beta$  with preferential binding for ER $\beta$  over ER $\alpha$  (Table IV, Figure 25). Api and Nrg had significantly weaker affinity for ER $\alpha$  and ER $\beta$  than their prenylated congeners. The decreasing order of affinity for flavanones/flavones in ER $\alpha$  was 8-PN > 8-PA>> Nrg  $\approx$  Api, while for ER $\beta$  the order was 8-PA >> 8-PN >> Api > Nrg (Table IV). The flavonols (Dmct, Kfl, Ict) showed significantly less overall ER affinity than the corresponding flavone, 8-PA (Table IV, Figure 25). The low affinity for ER $\alpha$  and ER $\beta$  by Dmct and Kfl was similar to the unprenylated flavonoids, Api and Nrg (Table IV, Figure 25). However, all four flavonoids, Api, Nrg, Dmct, and Kfl, demonstrated low, but preferential ER $\beta$  affinity. The 4' methoxylated Ict had negligible binding activity in ER $\alpha$  and ER $\beta$ . All three isoflavonoids (Gen, Dgn, 8-PG) had significantly weaker affinity for ER $\alpha$  than for ER $\beta$ . Gen had the strongest affinity for ER $\beta$  among the isoflavonoids (Table IV). The overall decreasing affinity ranking order in ER $\alpha$  was Gen >> Dgn  $\approx$  8-PG and in ER $\beta$  Gen > Dgn > 8-PG, demonstrating a clear decrease in affinity with isoflavonoid prenylation as in 8-PG (Table IV). 8-PN showed preferential affinity for ER $\alpha$  at RBA  $\beta/\alpha$  of 0.3 (Table IV). In contrast, 8-PA and Gen had ER $\beta$ -preferential affinity with RBA  $\beta/\alpha$  of 2.7 and 3.5, respectively (Table IV). The 8-PN and Gen RBA  $\beta/\alpha$  values were consistent with some previous publications (172, 173). Among all the (iso)flavonoids tested, 8-PA showed the strongest ER $\beta$  binding affinity, while Gen showed the best overall ER $\beta$ -preferential affinity (Table IV).



**Figure 25. Competitive Radioligand Binding to ERa and ERß of (Iso)flavonoids.** Flavanones, flavones (A - C), flavonols (D - F) and isoflavonoids (G - I) as doseresponse evaluations to assess affinity for ERa and ERβ. Data represents average ± SEM from three independent determinations plus IC<sub>50</sub> ( $\mu$ M) as determined by Graph Pad Prism® 7.0 (Graph Pad software, San Diego, CA).

#### 5.2.2. In Silico Computational Models

Our in vitro findings are further explained by our *in silico* docking results (Figure 26A and B), in which the C-8-prenyl group on 8-PN interacts with lipophilic regions in the ER $\alpha$  binding pocket (Figure 26A). This interaction is positioned to strengthen 8-PN binding to ER $\alpha$  and helps explain the potent IC<sub>50</sub> values that were determined for 8-PN in comparison to its unprenylated counterpart, Nrg (Table IV, Figure 25A and C). In contrast, the prenyl group of the isoflavonoid, 8-PG, interacts with hydrophilic regions in the ER $\beta$  binding pocket (Figure 26B), leading to an unfavorable binding interaction, as opposed to the unprenylated counterpart, Gen, that exhibits strong potency in this ER subtype (Table IV, Figure 25G and I)



Figure 26. In silico computational modelling of ER $\alpha$  and ER $\beta$  binding pocket. The green regions of the binding pocket are lipophilic and contain non-polar residues, which interact favorably with a prenyl group; the purple regions are hydrophilic with polar amino acid residues that interact unfavorably with a prenyl group. A) 8-PN (magenta) and Nrg (yellow) are docked in the binding pocket of ER $\alpha$ . The prenyl group of 8-PN interacts with the lipophilic region of the ER $\alpha$  pocket creating favorable binding conditions. B) Gen (yellow) and 8-PG (magenta) are docked in the ER $\beta$  binding pocket. Gen binds well in the ER $\beta$  pocket, while 8-PG places its prenyl group in a hydrophilic region creating unfavorable binding conditions

Compounds	ΕRα		ERβ		RBA β/α
	% RBA <sup>b</sup>	% RRE <sup>c</sup>	% RBA <sup>b</sup>	% RRE <sup>c</sup>	
17β-Estradiol	100	100	100	100	
		<u>Flavanones,</u>	<u>Flavones</u>		
8-PN	30	94.7	9	51.2	0.3
8-PA	18	43.2	48	47.2	2.7
Nrg	<0.002	12.6	0.05	23.0	
Api	<0.002	15.4	0.6	32.8	
		Flavon	ols		
Dmct	<0.002	9.1	0.5	16.6	
lct	<0.002	10.2	<0.002	11.9	
Kfl	<0.002	31.1	0.2	18.8	
		Isoflavor	noids		
Gen	5.6	62.7	19.4	50.2	3.5
Dgn	<0.002	25.1	14	38.7	
8-PG	<0.002	33.5	0.9	17.2	

# Table IV. ER $\alpha$ and ER $\beta$ (Iso)flavonoid ER subtype and Coactivator Affinity<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Values are expressed as the mean of at least 3 independent analytical determinations in triplicate. Method details are described in the Experimental Section. <sup>b</sup>% relative binding affinity (RBA)= (IC<sub>50</sub> E2/ IC<sub>50</sub> (iso)flavonoid))\*100, <sup>c</sup>% relative recruitment efficacy (RRE) = (max FRET efficacy (iso)flavonoid) / max FRET efficacy E<sub>2</sub>)\*100, E<sub>2</sub> arbitrarily set at 100%.

#### 5.2.3. TR-FRET assay of (iso)flavonoids in ERα and ERβ

The % Relative Recruitment Efficacy (RRE) (246) reflects a measure of the efficacy of the transcription factor, steroid receptor coactivator-2 (SRC-2), recruitment by each ERligand complex. This assay comparatively assesses the affinity of each respective (iso)flavonoid-ER complex for the SRC-2, relative to the affinity of the E<sub>2</sub>-ER complex reference. In ERa, 8-PN had the strongest % RRE, followed by 8-PA. The order of % RRE readings in ERα for flavanones and flavones were: 8-PN > 8-PA >> Api ≈ Nrg (Table IV, Figure 27). In ERβ, 8-PN and 8-PA showed comparable activity, while Api showed more activity than Nrg (Table IV, Figure 27). Both 8-PN and 8-PA had greater activity than Api and Nrg, giving an ER $\beta$  % RRE order of 8-PN  $\approx$  8-PA > Api > Nrg (Table IV, Figure 27). As observed in the ER-binding assay, the flavonols, Dmct, Ict, and Kfl, exhibited weak overall results, but Kfl showed comparatively the highest activity in both ER subtypes. However, in comparison to 8-PA the flavonols had significantly lower overall % RRE values (Table IV). Lastly, Gen exhibited the highest % RRE in ER $\alpha$  and ER $\beta$  among the isoflavonoids, followed by 8-PG and Dgn resulting in a ranking order of ER $\alpha$ : Gen > 8-PG > Dgn and ER $\beta$ : Gen > Dgn >> 8-PG (Table IV).





SRC-2 recruitment is increased by prenylation on the flavonoid in the ligand-ER complex, but recruitment is decreased when isoflavonoids in the complex are prenylated. Flavanones and flavones (A and D) flavanols (B and E), isoflavonoids (C and F) assessed in ERα and ERβ. The measure of respective ligand-ER recruitment efficacy is represented by A/D: the normalized acceptor molecule emission signals (A) /normalized donor molecule emission signal (D). Data represents average from two or three independent determinations as calculated with Graph Pad Prism® 7.0 (GraphPad software, San Diego, CA).

#### 5.2.4. Comparative functional estrogenic activity of (iso)flavonoids

The functional activity of the (iso)flavonoids and select botanical extracts enriched in these targeted compounds was determined in an alkaline phosphatase activity assay in ER $\alpha$  (+) endometrial carcinoma-(Ishikawa) cells and in ER $\beta$ -Luciferase assay in ER $\beta$  (+) MDA-MB-231/ $\beta$ 41 breast cancer cells with validated methods (117, 118). Prenylation at C-8 on the A-ring of flavonoids showed higher ER $\alpha$  and ER $\beta$  functional activity as was observed in 8-PN, 8-PA, and Dmct in comparison to their unprenylated congeners, Nrg, Api, and Kfl, with the exception of the 4'-O-methylated, Ict (Figure 24A, Table V, Figure 28A - D). However, prenylation at the same site on isoflavonoids, as in 8-PG, showed significantly lower functional activity compared to Gen and Dgn (Figure 24B, Table V, Figure 29).

*a) Flavanones and flavones.* The prenylated flavanone, 8-PN which has saturation at the C2-C3 position on the C-ring showed the highest ER $\alpha$  potency, followed by the prenylated flavone 8-PA with C2-C3 unsaturation at the same position. The order of potency observed in the ER $\alpha$  assay is as follows: 8-PN > 8-PA >> Nrg  $\approx$  Api (Table V, Figure 28A). However, 8-PA demonstrated considerably higher ER $\beta$  potency and was the most ER $\beta$ -preferential over ER $\alpha$  among the flavonoids in this assay, while 8-PN was equipotent in both subtypes. The resulting ER $\beta$  potency order was 8-PA  $\approx$  8-PN >> Nrg  $\approx$  Api (Table V, Figure 28B). While Nrg and Api were the least estrogenic flavanone and flavone, respectively, both show some preferential ER $\beta$  potency (Table V, Figure 28B).

*b) Flavonols*. Similar to results from the ER-binding and FRET assay, C-ring hydroxylation at 3-position, as seen in Dmct, Ict, and Kfl, reduced the overall estrogenic activity of these compounds compared to 8-PA (Table V, Figure 28C-D). Additional 4' O-methylation, as observed in Ict, further reduced the estrogenic potency compared to the non-methylated congener, Dmct (Table V, Figure 28C-D). In ER $\alpha$  the order of estrogenic activity was 8-PA >> Dmct > Ict > Kfl (Table V, Figure 28C). However, in ER $\beta$ , O-methylation at the 4' position seemed to obscure the potentiating effect of C-8 prenylation of Ict, making unprenylated Kfl more active than Ict for this ER subtype: 8-PA > Dmct > Kfl >> Ict (Table V, Figure 28D). In comparison to the tested flavonols, 8-PA also showed the most ER $\beta$ -preferential activity.



Figure 28. Prenylation increases induction of functional estrogenic effects in *vitro*. Flavanones/flavones (A and B) and flavonols (C and D): (A, C) ER $\alpha$ , estrogendependent induction of alkaline phosphatase activity in Ishikawa cells. ER $\beta$ , estrogendependent induction of ERE-luciferase activity in MDA-MB-231/ $\beta$ 41 cells. Data represents average ± SEM from three independent determinations.

	ΕRα		ΕRβ		
Extracts	EC <sub>50</sub>	Maximum efficacy	<b>EC</b> <sub>50</sub>	Maximum efficacy	
Hops	0.030 ± 0.010	72 ± 4.0	0.50 ± 0.050	107 ± 8.0	
Red clover	1.8 ± 0.20	94 ± 12	0.45 ± 0.10	139 ± 7.0	
inflata licorice	1.1 ± 0.20 <sup>127</sup>	$57 \pm 6.0^{127}$	$0.60 \pm 0.20^{127}$	80 ± 10 <sup>127</sup>	
<i>Epimedium</i> botanical	$3.2 \pm 0.20$	53 ± 5.0	$2.5 \pm 0.090$	53 ± 0.60	
Compounds <sup>c</sup>	EC <sub>50</sub>	Maximum efficacy	EC <sub>50</sub>	Maximum efficacy	
17β-Estradiol	$0.030 \pm 0.00^{d,127}$	$100 \pm 10^{127}$	$0.030 \pm 0.00^{d}$ , <sup>127</sup>	$100 \pm 4.0^{127}$	
Flavanones, Flavones					
8-PN	$0.0050 \pm 0.0010^{127}$	$108 \pm 18^{127}$	$0.0050 \pm 0.00050^{127}$	87 ± 9.0 <sup>127</sup>	
8-PA	$0.050 \pm 0.0060^{127}$	93 ± 7.0 <sup>127</sup>	$0.0035 \pm 0.00040^{127}$	104 ± 6.0 <sup>127</sup>	
Nrg	$3.7 \pm 0.50$	69 ± 6.0	0.10 ± 0.040	$99 \pm 4.0$	
Api	$3.2 \pm 0.030$	45 ± 3.0	0.16 ± 0.020	118 ± 5.0	
Flavonols					
Dmct	$0.20 \pm 0.020$	67 ± 12	0.010 ± 0.0070	90 ± 11	
lct	$1.6 \pm 0.40$	53 ± 8.0	1.7 ± 0.70	69 ± 4.0	
Kfl	5.1 ± 4.0	36 ± 5.0	$0.20 \pm 0.050$	75 ± 4.0	
<u>Isoflavonoids</u>					
Gen	$0.40 \pm 0.050$	117 ± 25	0.0022 ± 0.0004	131 ± 3.0	
Dgn	0.80 ± 0.10	84 ± 4.0	0.020 ± 0.010	114 ± 12	
8-PG	0.50 ± 0.20	49 ± 10	0.30 ± 0.0030	74 ± 7.0	

**Table V. ERα- and ERβ-dependent Estrogenic Effects of Extracts and (Iso)flavonoids.** <sup>a</sup>Values are expressed as the mean ± SEM of at least 3 independent determinations in triplicate. Method details are described in the Method Section. <sup>b</sup>Values are expressed in µg/mL for extracts. <sup>c</sup>Values are expressed in µM for compounds. <sup>d</sup>nM

*c) Isoflavonoids*. In contrast to what was observed with flavonoids, prenylation of isoflavonoids resulted in a significant decrease of overall estrogenic efficacy and potency as was observed in 8-prenylgenistein (Figure 24B, Table V, Figure 29A and B). Saturation at the C2-C3 position in ring C also led to an overall reduction in estrogenic functional activity as was observed for Dgn in comparison to Gen. The isoflavonoids were significantly less potent ER $\alpha$  ligands than ER $\beta$  ligands; the order of ER $\alpha$  potency was Gen  $\approx$  Dgn  $\approx$  8-PG. However, these compounds showed a more defined decreasing order of efficacy in ER $\alpha$ : Gen > Dgn > 8-PG (Table V, Figure 29A). This was determined by the measure their comparative alkaline phosphatase activity relative to % of E<sub>2</sub> control (Figure 29). In ER $\beta$ , Gen had the strongest potency as expected followed by Dgn, with 8-PG showing the lowest potency and efficacy relative to the former compounds: Gen >> Dgn >> 8-PG (Table V, Figure 29B).



Figure 29. Prenylation on isoflavonoids decreases induction of functional estrogenic effects *in vitro*. Gen, Dgn, 8-PG. (A) Estrogen-dependent induction of alkaline phosphatase activity in Ishikawa cells. (B) Estrogen-dependent induction of ERE-luciferase activity in MDA-MB-231/ $\beta$ 41 cells. Data represents average ± SEM from three independent determinations.

#### 5.2.5. Functional estrogenic activity of extracts

The botanical extracts, each containing one of the studied flavonoids/flavonols (8-PN, 8-PA, lct) and isoflavonoids (Gen) were analyzed for their ER $\alpha$  and ER $\beta$  potency. The tested hops extract was generally equipotent in both ER $\alpha$ -(Ishikawa) and ER $\beta$  (MDA-MB-231/ $\beta$ 41) cell-based assays. In addition, hops extract displayed the highest potency in ER $\alpha$  assay compared to the other tested botanical extracts (Table V, Figure 30). Hops, red clover, and *inflata* licorice extracts did show similar overall activity in ERβ. Red clover and *inflata* licorice extracts both demonstrated preferential potency for ERß over ER $\alpha$ . While red clover behaved as a full agonist in ER $\alpha$  and ER $\beta$  inflata licorice mainly demonstrated partial agonistic activity in ERa. However, *inflata* licorice extract had greater functional efficacy in ER $\beta$  compared to ER $\alpha$  (Table V, Figure 30). Epimedium botanical showed the least overall activity, behaving as a partial agonist in ER $\alpha$  and ER $\beta$ . The order of functional activity of botanical extracts for ER $\alpha$  was: hops > inflata licorice > red clover >> Epimedium botanical (Table V, Figure 30). In the ER $\beta$ assay the rank order was red clover  $\approx$  hops  $\approx$  inflata licorice >> Epimedium botanical (Table V, Figure 30)



# Figure 30. Hops, red clover, and inflata licorice show greater overall functional estrogenic activity than epimedium botanicals.

Induction of estrogenic effects *in vitro* by botanical extracts enriched in target (iso)flavonoids: (A, E) hops, (B, F) red clover, (C, G) inflata licorice, and (D, H) Epimedium botanical. The panels A to D represent the ER $\alpha$ -dependent induction of alkaline phosphatase activity in Ishikawa cells. The panels E to H represent the ER $\beta$ -dependent induction of ERE-luciferase activity in MDA-MB-231/ $\beta$ 41 cells. Data represent average ± SEM from three independent determinations.

#### 5.2.6. Discussion

ER $\alpha$  and ER $\beta$  are co-expressed in a number of estrogen-sensitive tissues, such as the mammary gland, but the relative ratio of these ER subtypes varies depending on the tissue (247, 248). For example, the uterus is reported to have a higher ER $\alpha$  to ER $\beta$ expression ratio, while ER $\beta$  is reported to be more prominently expressed than ER $\alpha$  in normal mammary tissue (27, 247, 249). Therefore, the relative ratio of ER $\beta$  and ER $\alpha$  in a given tissue can influence the level of ER $\beta$ -driven protection from ER $\alpha$ -mediated proliferation and potential estrogen carcinogenesis (245, 247, 248). Studies suggest a potential protective role of ER $\beta$  from carcinogenesis in normal cells. This is indicated by loss of ER $\beta$  expression in early stages of breast carcinogenesis such as ductal carcinomas, as well as its inverse relationship in expression with Ki-67, a biomarker of cell proliferation (115, 249-254). Studies also show that in the presence of  $E_2$ , ER $\beta$ activity also increased in vitro expression of p21 WAF1/cip1, a tumor suppressor cellular protein that inhibits cell cycle progression (179), and inhibited the expression of the proproliferative proteins such as c-Myc and cyclin D1 (255). In cells, this p21WAF1/cip1 is reported to bind to, and inhibit the activity of the proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA), responsible for DNA replication during cell proliferation (256, 257). In in vivo studies, tissue exposure to ERβ-preferential (iso)flavonoids did not induce endometrial tissue growth and suppressed risk of uterine and mammary carcinogenesis (128, 126, 129, 258, 259).

The initial steps in induction of estrogenic activity involve the binding of the compound to the ER. Both ER receptor subtypes contain polar binding residues in the

ligand binding site, and these residues interact with the A- and D-ring of the endogenous ligand  $E_2$  (Figure 31) (1). These specific regions contain polar amino acid residues crucial for ligand binding including arginine and glutamic acid (A-ring pocket) and histidine (D-ring pocket), which interact with select hydroxyl moieties on ligands, promoting receptor binding (Figure 31, B.1 - B.3) (1). One of the basic requirements for binding of a ligand to the ER is the presence of two optimally positioned hydroxyl groups (or bio-isosteres in some cases), approximately 11Å apart, separated by a hydrophobic core (1). This helps to form crucial hydrogen bonds with the respective amino acids for adequate ligand-binding affinity for both ER subtypes as in the case of E<sub>2</sub> (Figure 31) (1). However, binding affinity is ligand-dependent (246). A majority of (iso)flavonoids used in our study generally harbor these structural characteristics and consequently displayed estrogenic activity (Tables IV and V, Figure 31). Planarity generally tends to favor ER $\beta$  selectivity, as is observed in the ER $\beta$  agonist Gen, although this feature has some limitations (1, 260). The ER $\beta$  active site is narrower than its counterpart, ER $\alpha$  (1). As a result planar flavonoids, such as Gen, are able to fit into the active site with closer proximity to non-polar residues resulting in stronger hydrophobic interactions with amino acids such as methionine (Met 336) (1). This is likely one explanation for the increased preferential binding activity for ER $\beta$  over ER $\alpha$  of planar flavonoids (Table IV, Figure 25). However, some non-planar compounds like 8<sup>β</sup>-vinyl estradiol also display very strong  $ER\beta$  selectivity due to ligand rigidity and optimally positioned substituents (1).



## Figure 31. Putative flavonoid structures with ER binding orientations.

(A.1) Flavanone and flavone structure with A-ring prenylation at 8 position (C-8) and (un)saturation at C2-C3. (A.2) Flavonol structure with C-3 hydroxyl group and B-4' position for hydroxyl or methoxy group (A.3) Isoflavonoid structure with C-8 prenylation. The open green arrow represents an increased activity when the considered substitution is present on the core flavonoid structure, whereas the open red arrow indicated a decreased activity. (B.1) ER binding orientations of flavanones and flavones, (B.2) of flavonols, (B.3) of isoflavonoids in relation to E2. Blue full-tailed arrows represent moieties with hydrogen bond (H-bond) interactions with the histidine residue in the ER binding site; magenta dash-tailed arrows represent moieties with H-bond interactions with glutamic acid residues in ER binding site

After the ligand is bound to the ER, coregulators, for example SRC-2, are recruited to the ligand-ER complex (246). When complexed with the ER, the ligand structure also determines the resulting conformation of the bound ER, which in turn uniquely determines the respective strength of coactivator recruitment activity (246). Consequently, two different ligands with similar binding affinities can reflect different recruitment abilities (246), resulting in their different functional biological activities. Binding affinity of a compound and subsequent coactivator recruitment are closely associated to the resulting biological response of the cell; however, there are some exceptions to this correlation (246, 261). The SRC-2 coactivator has a moderately stronger affinity for ER $\alpha$  over ER $\beta$  (262). This likely explains the stronger TR-FRET assay readouts observed in our ER $\alpha$  data compared to ER $\beta$  (Table IV, Figure 27). In addition to the SRC-2; there are two other isoforms, SRC-1 and SRC-3. Studies report they have stronger affinities for ER $\alpha$  over ER $\beta$  (37, 262).

In general, the current SAR results from the binding assays mirror observations from the TR-FRET and functional estrogenic results in both ER subtypes (Table IV and V, Figure 25 - 29). Flavanone and flavone prenylation at C-8 showed increased ligand binding, elevated SRC-2 recruitment to the ligand-ER complex and higher functional activity compared to the unprenylated congeners, while prenylation on the same site in isoflavonoids decreased these estrogenic activities (Table IV and V). The computational studies provide a clearer explanation for the observed estrogenic effects of prenylation. A hydrophobic groove is formed in the binding pocket of ER when bound by prenylated flavonoids similar to those tested in this study (260). This hydrophobic groove interacts with the prenyl group on the A-ring of flavonoids like 8-PN, as shown in the computational docking analysis (Figure 26A) (260). This groove likely envelops the prenyl group present on the 8-position of the A-ring of similar flavonoids such as 8-PA, stabilizing the compound in the pocket (Figure 26) (260). This may explain the greater affinity of the 8-prenylated flavonoids for the ER and subsequent SRC-2 recruitment, as well as higher overall functional activity compared to their unprenylated counterparts, Nrg and Api (Table IV and V, Figure 25, 27 and 28) (260). These observations are consistent with those reported in prior publications (263, 260, 264). In contrast, prenylation on C-6, as in 6-PN found in hops, leads to significantly lower functional estrogenic activity compared to that observed with 8-PN (152).

The C-3 hydroxylation on flavonols resulted in low estrogenic activity, (Table IV and V, Figure 24A, 25, 27, and 28). The prenylated Dmct had the highest overall estrogenic functional activity compared to the B-ring 4'O-methylated Ict and unprenylated Kfl (Table V, Figure 28C and D). Additionally, the functional potency of the unprenylated Kfl with a 4'-OH group was significantly stronger than the prenylated and 4'O-methylated Ict in ER $\beta$  (Figure 24A, Table V, Figure 28D). These results highlight the important role of the B-ring 4'-OH group in these flavonoid-receptor interactions as observed with Kfl and Ict (Table V, Figure 28D). This B-ring 4'-OH group mirrors the activity of the C3-hydroxyl group on the endogenous ligand, E<sub>2</sub>, because both moieties form hydrogen bonds with the same polar amino acid residues in the ER active site during ligand binding (Figure 31) (1, 239). Interestingly, unprenylated Kfl showed the highest overall SRC-2 recruitment activity compared to the prenylated congeners Dmct and Ict, especially in ER $\alpha$  in the coactivator affinity studies (Table IV,
Figure 27). Additional comparative studies of cofactor recruitment, including the impact of binding upon ER conformational change, by Kfl and other similar structures may be beneficial to further explain these observations.

The isoflavonoid, 8-PG, and the flavone, 8-PA, are constitutional isomers. However, the B-ring in 8-PG is attached to the C-3-position instead of the 2-position, as it is the case with 8-PA (Figure 24A and B). As a result, the B-ring in 8-PG will be positioned differently from that of flavonoids, such as 8-PA, in the ligand binding site (Figure 26B). This can lead to differences in binding affinity and activity (Figure 25 - 29). Interestingly, for isoflavonoids, the functional effects of prenylation are mainly observed in differences in the efficacy in ER $\alpha$  assays, while in ER $\beta$  these effects are reflected in both potency and efficacy (Table V, Figure 29). The reduction in estrogenic efficacy and potency that was observed for 8-PG as compared to unprenylated Gen correlated with results from past studies. The origin of these effects was further clarified here using computational docking studies (Figure 26B) (264).

Api and Gen, which are constitutional isomers of each other (Figure 24), should also bind differentially to the ER subtypes resulting in varying estrogenic activity (Table V, Figure 28 and 29). While both compounds showed preferential ER $\beta$  activity, the isoflavone, Gen, was significantly more potent in ER $\beta$  (Figure 25 and 29). Similarly, in the ER $\beta$  assay, 8-PA also showed much stronger potency than the unprenylated congener Api, and comparable ER $\beta$  potency and ER $\beta$ -preferential activity to Gen (Table V, Figure 28 and 29) (127). In keeping with the SAR study, a comparative estrogenic analysis of 8-PN (racemic), 8-PN (R) isomer and 8-PN (S) isomer was conducted (Figure 32). Our results did not show any ER $\beta$  preferential activity by any of the 8-PN isomers, and all three generally equipotent in ER $\alpha$  and ER $\beta$ , while 8-PN (racemic) showed the most efficacy in ER $\alpha$  (Figure 32).

Studies report that ER $\alpha$  tends to be more transcriptionally dominant than ER $\beta$  (265), and thus the potential for ER $\alpha$  dependent proliferation leading to an increased risk of mammary carcinogenesis is a significant concern. The results in this study showed that 8-PA and Gen have stronger binding affinity to ER $\beta$  than to ER $\alpha$  and higher ER $\beta$ -preferential functional activity over ER $\alpha$  (Table IV and V, Figure 25, 27 and 28). Therefore, these compounds may be of physiological benefit *in vivo* since sustained leverage towards ER $\beta$  cellular activity by these ER $\beta$ -preferential (iso)flavonoids could provide a counterweight to ER $\alpha$  pro-proliferative gene expression, thereby maintaining normal overall activity in mammary tissue. Further animal studies are warranted to substantiate this *in vitro* observation.

Our results indicate that the estrogenic activity of the tested extracts mimicked the potent/abundant bioactive (iso)flavonoids they contain. Studies suggest that 8-PN was shown to be mainly responsible for the estrogenic activity observed in hops (169, 152). Like 8-PN, the tested hops extract was equipotent in both ER subtypes in functional assays (Table V, Figure 30). The tested red clover extract contains the potent isoflavonoid Gen and its precursor biochanin A, present at 0.64% w/w and 15.2% w/w, respectively (154, 190). Studies report that these two compounds contribute considerably to the observed estrogenic activity of red clover compounds (154, 171). Although some ERβ-preferential binding activity has been reported for biochanin A in competitive ER ligand binding assays (171), much of its reported in cell ERβ-preferential estrogenic activity is likely due to its metabolism to Gen (123, 266-268). Similarly, in the current results, the tested red clover extract showed ERβ-preferential activity over ERα (Table V, Figure 30). Likewise, 8-PA, present in an *inflata* licorice extract at 0.17 % w/w, was also an ERβ-preferential flavonoid (Table V, Figure 28) (127). In addition, the flavanone, liquiritigenin (LigF) present at 0.12 % w/w in this inflata licorice extract has also been demonstrated to have estrogenic activity (238, 127, 159). However, 8-PA exhibited greater overall estrogenicity and a stronger ERβ-potency than LigF with an ERα EC<sub>50</sub> for 8-PA of 0.050 µM (Table V) and for LigF of 3.4 µM, as well as an ERβ EC<sub>50</sub> of 8-PA 0.0035 µM (Table V) and for LigF of 0.037 µM for LigF (127, 238, 126). The *inflata* licorice extract, like 8-PA and LigF, displayed overall preferential activity for ERβ over ERα (Table V, Figure 30). Due to 8-PA's higher estrogenic activity, 8-PA most likely had a greater contribution to the estrogenic activity of inflata licorice than LigF.

During menopause, there is a considerable decrease in  $E_2$  serum levels, which may lead to undesired symptoms (171, 269). In clinical studies, isoflavones from soy botanicals have been reported to alleviate menopausal symptoms without evidence of mammary tissue hyperproliferation, although these studies have limitations (270). Women that use soy, red clover, and *inflata* licorice for menopausal symptoms may benefit from their ER $\beta$ -protective properties against increased risk of mammary gland carcinogenesis provided by their respective bioactive phytoestrogens, Gen and 8-PA. The botanical extract obtained from *Epimedium* botanical had the lowest ER $\alpha$  and ER $\beta$ activity of all the extracts studied (Table V, Figure 30). *Epimedium* botanicals contain different glycosides of lct (icariins) (271). To mimic the hydrolysis of the glycosides in the intestine *in vivo*, the extract from *Epimedium* botanical used in this study was hydrolyzed prior to biological analysis yielding an extract enriched in aglycones including the weakly estrogenic lct (Figure 28). While Dmct was only detected in traces in the hydrolyzed extract, lct is metabolized by P450 enzymes to the estrogenic metabolite, Dmct, (Figure 24, Figure 28C and D) *in vivo* (272). It is likely that in cells similar to biochanin A and Gen, lct is also in part metabolized to the more estrogenic Dmct. The estrogenic results with Epimedium botanical may correlate with the effects observed with its weakly estrogenic major flavonol, lct, and its metabolite, Dmct. Our findings suggest that the estrogenic effects of the tested extracts could correlate with the order of activity of their corresponding bioactive (iso)flavonoids; in ER $\alpha$ , 8-PN / hops > 8-PA / inflata licorice  $\approx$  Gen / red clover > Dmct / Epimedium botanical > lct (Table V), in ER $\alpha$  assays. Likewise, in ER $\beta$  studies, the observed activity ranking was Gen / red clover ≥ 8-PA / *inflata* licorice  $\approx$  8-PN / spent hops >> Dmct / Epimedium botanical >> lct / Epimedium botanical (Table V).

The analyzed phytoestrogens can activate both ER receptors (ER $\alpha$  and ER $\beta$ ), therefore, inducing various cellular pathways (e.g., ER $\alpha$  relief of hot flashes, proliferation; ER $\beta$ : influence on memory, antiproliferation) and leading to an overall "polypharmacological" effect (273, 274). Other constituents in the extract can also influence the specific phytoestrogen's activity. In line with this, the concentration of the selected bioactive (iso)flavonoid in the extract, timing of supplementation (275), *in vivo* pharmacokinetics, estrogenic potency, and influence by the activity of other phytoconstituents in the extract, could influence how much a specific bioactive flavonoid modulates the activity of botanical extracts (276). For example, studies report that hops neither increased or decreased uterine tissue weight, while its bioactive flavonoid 8-PN,

in dietary concentrations, increased uterine weight in rats (277), likely indicating ERα activity (243).

As previously mentioned, the *Epimedium* botanical was hydrolyzed prior to biological analysis. The functional estrogenic activity of this extract was conducted in comparison to its unhydrolyzed form. The data from this study showed that hydrolysis of our tested epimedium botanical extract increased its overall functional estrogenic activity in both ER subtypes compared to its unhydrolyzed form (Figure 34A and B). Similarly, the flavonol aglycone lct showed significantly greater estrogenic activity in both ER subtypes compared to its glycosylated congener icariin (Figure 34C and D).

Overall, it needs to be mentioned that there may be other molecular pathways, other than ER $\beta$  activation, that may be induced by the tested compounds and parent extracts that can confound any biological benefits and breast cancer risk reduction in women.



Figure 32. Comparative Functional Estrogenic Activity of 8-PN and Isomers R and S. 8-PN, 8-PN isomers R and S induction of estrogenic effects *in vitro*. 8-PN, R isomer, and S isomer, were generally equipotent in both ER subtypes. A) Estrogen-dependent induction of alkaline phosphatase activity in Ishikawa cells. B) Estrogen-dependent induction of ERE-luciferase activity in MDA-MB-231/ $\beta$ 41 cells. Data represents average ± SEM from three independent determinations.



Figure 33. Comparative Functional Estrogenic Activity of 8-PA and LigF. Induction of estrogenic effects *in vitro* by 8-PA and LigF. 8-PA demonstrated the most overall estrogenic potency followed by LigF. A) Estrogen-dependent induction of alkaline phosphatase activity in Ishikawa cells. B) Estrogen-dependent induction of ERE-luciferase activity in MDA-MB-231/ $\beta$ 41 cells. Data represents average ± SEM from three independent determinations.



Figure 34. Comparative Functional Estrogenic Activity of Hydrolyzed and Unhydrolyzed Epimedium Botanical Extracts, Icaritin and Icariin. Induction of estrogenic effects *in vitro* by flavonols and epimedium botanicals. The hydrolyzed epimedium botanical extract was more estrogenic than the unhydrolyzed epimedium extract in both ER subtypes; the aglycone icaritin showed more overall estrogenic activity than the glycoside, icariin. A) Estrogen-dependent induction of alkaline phosphatase activity in Ishikawa cells. B) Estrogen-dependent induction of ERE-luciferase activity in MDA-MB-231/ $\beta$ 41 cells. Data represents average ± SEM from three independent determinations.

In conclusion, we have shown that 8-PA and Gen possess ER $\beta$ -preferential activity. Both compounds can contribute to the properties of *inflata* licorice and red clover, respectively, to regulate ER $\alpha$  pathways by preferentially stimulating ER $\beta$  activity. This preferential activation may increase the safety of these dietary supplements when consumed by women for health purposes. The ER $\alpha$  activities of these extracts may offer favorable health benefits including assistance in management of postmenopausal symptoms. *In vivo* studies on estrogenic effects of Gen and red clover preparations have already been reported; however, *in vivo* estrogenic studies evaluating the effects of 8-PA and inflata licorice are warranted. From the described SAR observations, we may be able to predict the potential estrogenic activity and related health benefits of similar iso(flavonoids) and of botanicals containing these types of (iso)flavonoid phytoestrogens, in the absence of any known or suspected genotoxicity.

## 6. CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Botanicals have been used throughout human history by various cultures to manage or treat various disorders and maintain health (234, 278, 279). Lately, the increased use of botanicals for health purposes has been driven, in part, by the desire to prevent illness and the belief that they are safer alternatives to conventional medication (280, 132, 234). Additionally, there has been growing skepticism about hormone therapy for postmenopausal women due to the reported increased risk of breast cancer associated with estrogen and medroxyprogesterone hormone treatment. Continued study on the pharmacological activity of these natural products and bioactive compounds is still needed to provide evidence for their efficacy, ensure their safety, and understand their pharmacodynamics (280). Our focus on the safety on the safety of these botanicals led us to seek to identify and study ER $\beta$  preferential (iso)flavonoids present in botanical extracts in keeping with the hypothesis that enhanced ER<sup>β</sup> activity is correlated with antiproliferative effects. In order to conduct this study, estrogenic analysis of (iso)flavonoids and select parent extracts was conducted to determine their comparative ER $\alpha$  and ER $\beta$  activity.

This research project addressed three aims. The first aim was to optimize an *in vitro* cell model to assess ER subtype activities of the respective (iso)flavonoids and botanicals tested. Results from the optimized functional assays used in this study have been verified as able to reflect the ER subtype functional activity of the tested (iso)flavonoids in *in vitro* mammalian cell models. The results obtained using the ER $\alpha$  and ER $\beta$  selective ligands, PPT and DPN, respectively, generally correlate with other studies reported in literature as previously stated. Using the optimized assay method,

PPT behaved as a full agonist in ER $\alpha$  but showed no estrogenic activity on ER $\beta$ , while DPN showed ER $\beta$ -preferential activity. Using this valuable assay, we verified that the observations for the tested samples (EC<sub>50</sub> and efficacy) truly reflect ER modulating activity. Confirmation was also evident in the lower estrogenic readouts obtained in the optimized method ER assay with inhibition of ER with ICI (fulvestrant), or absence of ER $\beta$  in the *in vitro* cell models. It should be noted that an optimal *in vitro* cell model for this assay would have employed stably transfected epithelial mammary cells expressing either ER $\alpha$  or ER $\beta$ , or expressing both ER $\alpha$  and ER $\beta$ , and would have used the same assay readout for analysis. Here we used ER $\alpha$  (+) uterine endometrial cells instead of ER $\beta$  (+) mammary epithelial cells and an alkaline phosphatase assay instead of ERE-luciferase assay. However, the estrogenic values obtained in this aim were in general agreement with those reported in literature.

In the second aim, the optimized assays from the first aim (Aim 1) were used to determine the comparative estrogenicity of three medicinal licorice species, *G. inflata*, *G. glabra*, and *G. uralensis* and to identify ER $\beta$  preferential ligand(s) present in licorice. Our findings showed that *G. inflata* was the most ER $\beta$  potent licorice species compared to the latter two species. With the goal of finding the ER $\beta$  compound(s) in *G. inflata* that may be responsible for this observation, we used bioassay guided fractionation with *G. inflata* to isolate and elucidate the structures of bioactive constituents in *G. inflata*. As a selected fraction (fraction 8) showed considerable estrogenic activity, compounds were isolated from this compound. Among the isolated compounds, LicA had the highest concentration in fraction 8 at 64% w/w, but showed no estrogenic activity. However, 8-PA which was present at a lower concentration in the same fraction at 5.1% w/w, had

the highest overall estrogenicity compared to the other compounds. Importantly, 8-PA showed ER $\beta$ -preferential activity and a comparable ER $\beta$  EC<sub>50</sub> value to genistein, the known ER $\beta$  preferential phytoestrogen (3.5 nM vs 2.2 nM, respectively). The estrogenic activity for the flavonoid in *G. inflata*, LigF, was also conducted in this study (Figure 33). Although our findings show that LigF was ER $\beta$ -preferential (Figure 34), which correlates with past findings (126), 8-PA is the most potent ER $\beta$  ligand identified in the extract; our ER $\beta$  EC<sub>50</sub> value for 8-PA was 3.5 nM, and one for LigF was 38 nM (Figure 33). The bioassay guided fractionation performed with *G. inflata* yielded other estrogenic fractions. Besides the selected fraction 8 used to identify 8-PA, a number of them also showed ER $\beta$ /ER $\alpha$  activity. For example, the tested *G. inflata* fractions 2 – 6 had higher ER $\beta$  activity than ER $\alpha$  activity (Figure 17). Further analysis of these fractions may possibly lead identification of other potent ER $\beta$ -preferential agonists. However, 8-PA identified as a potent ER $\beta$ -preferential agonist in licorice, was most concentrated in the tested *G. inflata* extract at 0.168% w/w (Table III).

In the third aim, structurally similar flavans, flavones, flavonols, and isoflavonoids from various botanical sources were used in a structure activity relationship (SAR) study using the optimized assays from the first aim (Aim 1). The objective of this aim was to identify structures that favor ERβ-preferential activity. The binding affinity, transcription coactivator recruitment affinity (SRC-2), and functional estrogenic activity of select compounds were analyzed. According to the findings, C-8 prenylation on the A-ring in flavonoids increases overall estrogenic activity (Table IV and V, Figure 24 and 28). The *in silico* data showed the importance of the positioned prenyl group as it interacts with a hydrophobic pocket in the ER, improving binding. This C-8 prenylation on the A-ring,

with C2 - C3 unsaturation on the C-ring significantly increases ER $\beta$  functional potency, and increases ER $\beta$  preferential activity as observed in 8-PA compared to 8-PN (Table V, Figure 24, 28A and B, 35A). However, C2 - C3 saturation at C-ring results in loss of this ER $\beta$ -preferential functional activity as observed in 8-PN. In contrast, for isoflavonoids, C-8 prenylation on the A-ring, and C2 - C3 unsaturation on the C-ring significantly reduced the overall functional estrogenic activity (8-PG). Absence of this prenylation on isoflavonoids, with C2 - C3 unsaturation on the C-ring, resulted in increased ER $\beta$ -preferential functional activity over ER $\alpha$  as observed in Gen (Figure 24, 29 and 35B).



Figure 35. (Iso)flavonoid Substituents Enhancing ER $\beta$  potency. Presence of green open arrows indicate structures contributing to ER $\beta$  potency. Red dashed structures on isoflavonoids convey absence of indicated structure.

Additionally, the C3 hydroxylation on the C-ring of the tested prenylated flavonols reduced overall functional estrogenic activity compared to the prenylated flavone 8-PA, as it is observed in Dmct and Ict (Figure 24 and 28). The presence of the methoxy group at the 4' position on the prenylated icaritin also resulted in significantly lower ER $\beta$  functional activity compared to the unprenylated kaempferol with a 4' hydroxyl group (Figure 24 and 28). This highlights the importance of the 4' positioned hydroxyl group in the tested flavonols as vital for robust estrogenic binding interactions and functional activity. In this aim, the SAR study was limited and it would be interesting to conduct a more comprehensive study with more structurally diverse flavonoids and different compound classes. Additionally, ER subtype specific gene and protein expression assays of the identified ER $\beta$ -preferential agonists would be needed to better understand the biological endpoints of the select compounds.

The functional estrogenic activity of hops, red clover, *inflata* licorice, and epimedium, were assessed. Their trend of estrogenic activity seems to mimic the activity of the most prominent bioactive compounds they contain; 8-PN, genistein, 8-PA, and icaritin, respectively. It is suggested in this study that these potent bioactive compounds contribute to the estrogenic behavior of their parent extracts. From the described SAR observations, we may be able to predict the potential estrogenic activity and related health benefits of other botanicals containing these types of (iso)flavonoid phytoestrogens.

Different *in vivo* studies on estrogenic effects of Gen and red clover preparations have already been reported. For the future, *in vivo* estrogenic studies evaluating the chemoprotective and estrogenic properties of 8-PA and *G. inflata* are still needed to

provide a better picture of the potential biological benefits of ingesting these botanical dietary supplements. Such studies are feasible since they can employ rodent models to study ER $\beta$ -specific genes, (anti)proliferative biomarkers, and relevant phenotypes such as terminal end buds (TEB) in mammary gland tissue. An example of the *in vivo* models may include use of adult ovariectomized rats, in an attempt to represent the low serum E<sub>2</sub> status that occurs in postmenopausal women (269).

The development of 8-PA-enriched designer extracts of *G. inflata* for *in vivo* and clinical studies may be advantageous for a better understanding of the mentioned safety and health benefits in postmenopausal women. As previously mentioned, the concentration of 8-PA in our tested *G. inflata* extract was only 0.168 % (127). Although the concentration may vary from batch to batch, enrichment of the botanical extracts may ensure that 8-PA activity through ERß as well as ER $\alpha$  at tissue target site.

Women that consume various botanicals may be able to benefit from a reduction in risk of breast cancers when they consume botanical extracts that contain the ER $\beta$ preferential (iso)flavonoids. The health benefit of some of these botanicals may also include management of menopausal symptoms, due to the retained ER $\alpha$  activities of some of these natural products in the absence of genotoxic properties. This needs to be shown in further *in vivo* and clinical studies. However, the ER $\beta$ -preferential (iso)flavonoids present in these products used by menopausal women may contribute a chemoprotective and safer profile by attenuating the tissue proliferation may result from ER $\alpha$  activation. We may also be able to predict in the future the potential estrogenic activity and related health benefits of other (iso)flavonoids and women's health botanicals containing these types of ER $\beta$ -preferential phytoestrogens.

## **CITED LITERATURE**

- 1. Nilsson, S.; Koehler, K. F.; Gustafsson, J. Å., Development of subtype-selective oestrogen receptor-based therapeutics. *Nat. Rev. Drug. Discov.* **2011**, *10*, 778.
- 2. Fuentes, N.; Silveyra, P., Estrogen receptor signaling mechanisms. *Adv. Protein Chem. Str.* **2019**, *116*, 135.
- 3. Dey, P.; Barros, R. P.; Warner, M.; Ström, A.; Gustafsson, J. Å., Insight into the mechanisms of action of estrogen receptor β in the breast, prostate, colon, and CNS. *J. Mol. Endocrinol.* **2013**, *51*, T61-T74.
- 4. Watson, C. S.; Jeng, Y.-J.; Kochukov, M. Y., Nongenomic actions of estradiol compared with estrone and estriol in pituitary tumor cell signaling and proliferation. *FASEB J.* **2008**, *22*, 3328-3336.
- 5. Samavat, H.; Kurzer, M. S., Estrogen metabolism and breast cancer. *Cancer Lett.* **2015**, *356*, 231-243.
- Bulun, S. E.; Zeitoun, K.; Sasano, H.; Simpson, E. R. In Aromatase in aging women, Semin. Reprod. Endocr., 1999; Copyright© 1999 by Thieme Medical Publishers, Inc.: 1999; pp 349-358.
- 7. Coelingh Bennink, F.; Holinka, C.; Visser, M.; Coelingh Bennink, H., Maternal and fetal estetrol levels during pregnancy. *Climacteric* **2008**, *11*, 69-72.
- Carr, B. R.; MacDonald, P. C.; Simpson, E. R., The role of lipoproteins in the regulation of progesterone secretion by the human corpus luteum. *Fertil. Steril.* 1982, *38*, 303-311.
- 9. Belfiore, C. J.; Hawkins, D. E.; Wiltbank, M. C.; Niswenders, G. D., Regulation of cytochrome P450scc synthesis and activity in the ovine corpus luteum. *J. Steroid Biochem.* **1994**, *51*, 283-290.
- 10. Simpson, E. R.; Clyne, C.; Rubin, G.; Boon, W. C.; Robertson, K.; Britt, K.; Speed, C.; Jones, M., Aromatase—a brief overview. *Annu. Rev. of Physiol.* **2002**, 64, 93-127.

- 11. Nelson, L. R.; Bulun, S. E., Estrogen production and action. *J. Am. Acad. Dermatol.* **2001**, *45*, S116-S124.
- 12. Labrie, F.; Bélanger, A.; Luu-The, V.; Labrie, C.; Simard, J.; Cusan, L.; Gomez, J.-L.; Candas, B., DHEA and the intracrine formation of androgens and estrogens in peripheral target tissues: its role during aging. *Steroids* **1998**, 63, 322-328.
- 13. Usmani, K. A.; Cho, T. M.; Rose, R. L.; Hodgson, E., Inhibition of the human liver microsomal and human cytochrome P450 1A2 and 3A4 metabolism of estradiol by deployment-related and other chemicals. *Drug Metab. Dispos.* **2006**, *34*, 1606-1614.
- 14. Lee, A. J.; Kosh, J. W.; Conney, A. H.; Zhu, B. T., Characterization of the NADPH-dependent metabolism of 17β-estradiol to multiple metabolites by human liver microsomes and selectively expressed human cytochrome P450 3A4 and 3A5. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* **2001**, *298*, 420-432.
- Lee, A. J.; Cai, M. X.; Thomas, P. E.; Conney, A. H.; Zhu, B. T., Characterization of the oxidative metabolites of 17β-estradiol and estrone formed by 15 selectively expressed human cytochrome P450 isoforms. *Endocrinology* **2003**, *144*, 3382-3398.
- 16. Liehr, J. G.; Ricci, M. J., 4-Hydroxylation of estrogens as marker of human mammary tumors. *Proc. Ntl. Acad. Sci. USA* **1996**, *93*, 3294-3296.
- 17. Lakhani, N. J.; Venitz, J.; Figg, W. D.; Sparreboom, A., Pharmacogenetics of estrogen metabolism and transport in relation to cancer. *Curr. Drug Metab.* **2003**, *4*, 505-513.
- 18. Cheng, Z.; Rios, G. R.; King, C. D.; Coffman, B. L.; Green, M. D.; Mojarrabi, B.; Mackenzie, P. I.; Tephly, T. R., Glucuronidation of catechol estrogens by expressed human UDP-glucuronosyltransferases (UGTs) 1A1, 1A3, and 2B7. *Toxicol. Sci.* **1998**, *45*, 52-57.
- 19. Garbacz, W. G.; Jiang, M.; Xie, W., Sex-Dependent Role of Estrogen Sulfotransferase and Steroid Sulfatase in Metabolic Homeostasis. In *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol.*, 2017; Vol. 1043, pp 455-469.

- 20. Simpson, E. R.; Misso, M.; Hewitt, K. N.; Hill, R. A.; Boon, W. C.; Jones, M. E.; Kovacic, A.; Zhou, J.; Clyne, C., Estrogen—the good, the bad, and the unexpected. *Endocr. Rev.* **2005**, *26*, 322-330.
- 21. Koos, R. D., Minireview: putting physiology back into estrogens' mechanism of action. *Endocrinology* **2011**, *152*, 4481-4488.
- 22. Gruber, C. J.; Tschugguel, W.; Schneeberger, C.; Huber, J. C., Production and actions of estrogens. *New Engl. J. Med.* **2002**, *346*, 340-352.
- 23. Voogt, J., Control of hormone release during lactation. *Clin. Obstet. Gynaecol.* **1978**, *5*, 435-55.
- 24. Scobie, G. A.; Macpherson, S.; Millar, M. R.; Groome, N. P.; Romana, P. G.; Saunders, P. T., Human oestrogen receptors: differential expression of ERalpha and beta and the identification of ERbeta variants. *Steroids* **2002**, *67*, 985-992.
- Saunders, P.; Millar, M.; Williams, K.; Macpherson, S.; Bayne, C.; O'sullivan, C.; Anderson, T.; Groome, N.; Miller, W., Expression of oestrogen receptor beta (ERβ1) protein in human breast cancer biopsies. *Brit. J. Cancer* 2002, *86*, 250-256.
- 26. Speirs, V.; Skliris, G.; Burdall, S.; Carder, P., Distinct expression patterns of ERα and ERβ in normal human mammary gland. *J. Clin. Pathol.* **2002**, *55*, 371-374.
- 27. Pelletier, G.; El-Alfy, M., Immunocytochemical localization of estrogen receptors  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  in the human reproductive organs. *J. Clin. Endocr. Metab.* **2000**, *85*, 4835-4840.
- Williamson, L. M.; Lees Miller, S. P., Estrogen receptor α-mediated transcription induces cell cycle-dependent DNA double-strand breaks. *Carcinogenesis* 2010, 32, 279-285.
- 29. Aranda, A.; Pascual, A., Nuclear hormone receptors and gene expression. *Physiol. Rev.* **2001**, *81*, 1269-1304.
- 30. Truss, M.; Beato, M., Steroid hormone receptors: interaction with deoxyribonucleic acid and transcription factors. *Endocr. Rev.* **1993**, *14*, 459-479.

- 31. Kumar, R.; Zakharov, M. N.; Khan, S. H.; Miki, R.; Jang, H.; Toraldo, G.; Singh, R.; Bhasin, S.; Jasuja, R., The dynamic structure of the estrogen receptor. *J. Amino Acids* **2011**, *2011*.
- Nettles, K. W.; Sun, J.; Radek, J. T.; Sheng, S.; Rodriguez, A. L.; Katzenellenbogen, J. A.; Katzenellenbogen, B. S.; Greene, G. L., Allosteric control of ligand selectivity between estrogen receptors α and β: implications for other nuclear receptors. *Mol. cell* **2004**, *13*, 317-327.
- 33. Darimont, B. D.; Wagner, R. L.; Apriletti, J. W.; Stallcup, M. R.; Kushner, P. J.; Baxter, J. D.; Fletterick, R. J.; Yamamoto, K. R., Structure and specificity of nuclear receptor–coactivator interactions. *Genes Dev.* **1998**, *12*, 3343-3356.
- Shiau, A. K.; Barstad, D.; Radek, J. T.; Meyers, M. J.; Nettles, K. W.; Katzenellenbogen, B. S.; Katzenellenbogen, J. A.; Agard, D. A.; Greene, G. L., Structural characterization of a subtype-selective ligand reveals a novel mode of estrogen receptor antagonism. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* 2002, *9*, 359.
- 35. Shiau, A. K.; Barstad, D.; Loria, P. M.; Cheng, L.; Kushner, P. J.; Agard, D. A.; Greene, G. L., The structural basis of estrogen receptor/coactivator recognition and the antagonism of this interaction by tamoxifen. *Cell* **1998**, *95*, 927-937.
- 36. Drin, G.; Antonny, B., Amphipathic helices and membrane curvature. *FEBS Lett.* **2010**, *584*, 1840-1847.
- 37. Xu, J.; Wu, R. C.; O'malley, B. W., Normal and cancer-related functions of the p160 steroid receptor co-activator (SRC) family. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* **2009**, *9*, 615-630.
- Feige, J. N.; Gelman, L.; Michalik, L.; Desvergne, B.; Wahli, W., From molecular action to physiological outputs: peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors are nuclear receptors at the crossroads of key cellular functions. *Prog. Lipid Res.* 2006, *45*, 120-159.
- 39. Robyr, D.; Wolffe, A. P.; Wahli, W., Nuclear hormone receptor coregulators in action: diversity for shared tasks. *Mol. Endocrinol.* **2000**, *14*, 329-347.
- 40. McKenna, N. J.; O'Malley, B. W., Combinatorial control of gene expression by nuclear receptors and coregulators. *Cell* **2002**, *108*, 465-474.

- 41. Filardo, E. J.; Thomas, P., Minireview: G protein-coupled estrogen receptor-1, GPER-1: its mechanism of action and role in female reproductive cancer, renal and vascular physiology. *Endocrinology* **2012**, *153*, 2953-2962.
- 42. Barton, M.; Filardo, E. J.; Lolait, S. J.; Thomas, P.; Maggiolini, M.; Prossnitz, E. R., Twenty years of the G protein-coupled estrogen receptor GPER: Historical and personal perspectives. *J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol.* **2018**, *176*, 4-15.
- 43. Prossnitz, E. R.; Barton, M., Estrogen biology: new insights into GPER function and clinical opportunities. *Mol. Cell. Endocrinol.* **2014**, *389*, 71-83.
- 44. Marino, M.; Galluzzo, P.; Ascenzi, P., Estrogen signaling multiple pathways to impact gene transcription. *Curr Genomics* **2006**, *7*, 497-508.
- 45. Le Dily, F.; Beato, M., Signaling by steroid hormones in the 3D nuclear space. *Int J Mol Sci* **2018**, *19*, 306.
- 46. O'Malley, B. W., A life-long search for the molecular pathways of steroid hormone action. *Mol Endocrinol* **2005**, *19*, 1402-1411.
- 47. Klinge, C. M., Estrogen receptor interaction with estrogen response elements. *Nucleic Acids Res* **2001**, *29*, 2905-2919.
- 48. Powell, E.; Wang, Y.; Shapiro, D. J.; Xu, W., Differential requirements of Hsp90 and DNA for the formation of estrogen receptor homodimers and heterodimers. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2010**, *285*, 16125-16134.
- 49. Göttlicher, M.; Heck, S.; Herrlich, P., Transcriptional cross-talk, the second mode of steroid hormone receptor action. *J. Mol. Med.* **1998**, *76*, 480-489.
- 50. Bajic, V. B.; Tan, S. L.; Chong, A.; Tang, S.; Strom, A.; Gustafsson, J.-A.; Lin, C.-Y.; Liu, E. T., Dragon ERE Finder version 2: a tool for accurate detection and analysis of estrogen response elements in vertebrate genomes. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **2003**, *31*, 3605-3607.
- 51. Gaub, M.-P.; Bellard, M.; Scheuer, I.; Chambon, P.; Sassone-Corsi, P., Activation of the ovalbumin gene by the estrogen receptor involves the fos-jun complex. *Cell* **1990**, *63*, 1267-1276.

- 52. Chambliss, K. L.; Shaul, P. W., Rapid activation of endothelial NO synthase by estrogen: evidence for a steroid receptor fast-action complex (SRFC) in caveolae. *Steroids* **2002**, *67*, 413-419.
- 53. O'Lone, R.; Frith, M. C.; Karlsson, E. K.; Hansen, U., Genomic targets of nuclear estrogen receptors. *Mol. Endocrinol.* **2004**, *18*, 1859-1875.
- 54. Li, C.; Briggs, M. R.; Ahlborn, T. E.; Kraemer, F. B.; Liu, J., Requirement of Sp1 and estrogen receptor α interaction in 17β-estradiol-mediated transcriptional activation of the low density lipoprotein receptor gene expression. *Endocrinology* **2001**, *142*, 1546-1553.
- 55. Piu, F.; Aronheim, A.; Katz, S.; Karin, M., AP-1 repressor protein JDP-2: inhibition of UV-mediated apoptosis through p53 down-regulation. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **2001**, *21*, 3012-3024.
- 56. Lösel, R.; Wehling, M., Nongenomic actions of steroid hormones. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* **2003**, *4*, 46.
- 57. Marino, M.; Pallottini, V.; Trentalance, A., Estrogens cause rapid activation of IP3-PKC-α signal transduction pathway in HEPG2 cells. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **1998**, *245*, 254-258.
- 58. Garcia Dos Santos, E.; Dieudonne, M. N. I.; Pecquery, R.; Le Moal, V.; Giudicelli, Y.; Lacasa, D. I., Rapid nongenomic E2 effects on p42/p44 MAPK, activator protein-1, and cAMP response element binding protein in rat white adipocytes. *Endocrinology* **2002**, *143*, 930-940.
- 59. Watters, J. J.; Campbell, J. S.; Cunningham, M. J.; Krebs, E. G.; Dorsa, D. M., Rapid membrane effects of steroids in neuroblastoma cells: effects of estrogen on mitogen activated protein kinase signalling cascade and c-fos immediate early gene transcription. *Endocrinology* **1997**, *138*, 4030-4033.
- 60. Picotto, G.; Massheimer, V.; Boland, R., Acute stimulation of intestinal cell calcium influx induced by 17β-estradiol via the cAMP messenger system. *Mol. Cell. Endocrinol.* **1996**, *119*, 129-134.
- 61. Marino, M.; Acconcia, F.; Trentalance, A., Biphasic estradiol-induced AKT phosphorylation is modulated by PTEN via MAP kinase in HepG2 cells. *Mol. Biol. Cell* **2003**, *14*, 2583-2591.

- 62. Siegel, R. L.; Miller, K. D.; Jemal, A., Cancer statistics, 2019. *CA-Cancer J Clin* **2019**, *69*, 7-34.
- 63. Onitilo, A. A.; Engel, J. M.; Greenlee, R. T.; Mukesh, B. N., Breast cancer subtypes based on ER/PR and Her2 expression: comparison of clinicopathologic features and survival. *Clin. Med. Res.* **2009**, *7*, 4-13.
- 64. Willett, W., Diet and breast cancer. J. Intern. Med. 2001, 249, 395-411.
- 65. Carmichael, A. R.; Bates, T., Obesity and breast cancer: a review of the literature. *The Breast* **2004**, *13*, 85-92.
- 66. Pharoah, P. D.; Day, N. E.; Duffy, S.; Easton, D. F.; Ponder, B. A., Family history and the risk of breast cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int. J. Cancer* **1997**, *71*, 800-809.
- 67. MacMahon, B.; Cole, P.; Lin, T.; Lowe, C.; Mirra, A.; Ravnihar, B.; Salber, E.; Valaoras, V.; Yuasa, S., Age at first birth and breast cancer risk. *Bull. World Health Org.* **1970**, *43*, 209.
- 68. Henderson, B. E.; Feigelson, H. S., Hormonal carcinogenesis. *Carcinogenesis* **2000**, *21*, 427-433.
- 69. Rahman, N.; Stratton, M. R., The genetics of breast cancer susceptibility. *Annu. Rev. Genet.* **1998**, *32*, 95-121.
- 70. Clemons, M.; Goss, P., Estrogen and the risk of breast cancer. *New Engl J Med* **2001**, *344*, 276-285.
- 71. Lupulescu, A., Clinical science review: estrogen use and cancer incidence: a review. *Cancer Invest* **1995**, *13*, 287-295.
- 72. Beatson, G., On the treatment of inoperable cases of carcinoma of the mamma: suggestions for a new method of treatment, with illustrative cases. *Cancer J.* (*Villejuif*) **1989**, *2*, 303-306.
- 73. Yager, J. D.; Davidson, N. E., Estrogen carcinogenesis in breast cancer. *N. Eng. J. Med.* **2006**, *354*, 270-282.

- 74. Group, E. H. B. C. C., Body mass index, serum sex hormones, and breast cancer risk in postmenopausal women. *J. Ntl. Cancer I.* **2003**, *95*, 1218-1226.
- 75. Hormones, E.; Group, B. C. C., Endogenous sex hormones and breast cancer in postmenopausal women: reanalysis of nine prospective studies. *J. Ntl. Cancer I.* **2002**, *94*, 606-616.
- 76. Fisher, B.; Costantino, J. P.; Wickerham, D. L.; Redmond, C. K.; Kavanah, M.; Cronin, W. M.; Vogel, V.; Robidoux, A.; Dimitrov, N.; Atkins, J., Tamoxifen for prevention of breast cancer: report of the National Surgical Adjuvant Breast and Bowel Project P-1 Study. *J. Ntl. Cancer I.* **1998**, *90*, 1371-1388.
- 77. Fisher, B.; Costantino, J. P.; Wickerham, D. L.; Cecchini, R. S.; Cronin, W. M.; Robidoux, A.; Bevers, T. B.; Kavanah, M. T.; Atkins, J. N.; Margolese, R. G., Tamoxifen for the prevention of breast cancer: current status of the National Surgical Adjuvant Breast and Bowel Project P-1 study. *J. Ntl. Cancer I.* 2005, *97*, 1652-1662.
- 78. Henderson, B.; Ross, R.; Berstein, L., Estrogens as a cause of human cancer: the Richard and Hinda Rosenthal Foundation award lecture. *Cancer Res* **1988**, *48*, 246-253.
- 79. Spink, D. C.; Spink, B. C.; Cao, J. Q.; DePasquale, J. A.; Pentecost, B. T.; Fasco, M. J.; Li, Y.; Sutter, T. R., Differential expression of CYP1A1 and CYP1B1 in human breast epithelial cells and breast tumor cells. *Carcinogenesis* **1998**, *19*, 291-298.
- 80. Shimada, T.; Yun, C.; Yamazaki, H.; Gautier, J.; Beaune, P.; Guengerich, F., Characterization of human lung microsomal cytochrome P-450 1A1 and its role in the oxidation of chemical carcinogens. *Mol. Pharmacol.* **1992**, *41*, 856-864.
- Shimada, T.; Hayes, C. L.; Yamazaki, H.; Amin, S.; Hecht, S. S.; Guengerich, F. P.; Sutter, T. R., Activation of chemically diverse procarcinogens by human cytochrome P-450 1B1. *Cancer Res.* **1996**, *56*, 2979-2984.
- McKay, J. A.; Melvin, W. T.; Ah-See, A.; Ewen, S. W.; Greenlee, W. F.; Marcus, C. B.; Burke, M. D.; Murray, G. I., Expression of cytochrome P450 CYP1B1 in breast cancer. *FEBS Lett.* **1995**, *374*, 270-272.

- 83. Murray, G.; Foster, C.; Barnes, T.; Weaver, R.; Ewen, S.; Melvin, W.; Burke, M., Expression of cytochrome P450IA in breast cancer. *Brit. J. Cancer* **1991**, *63*, 1021.
- 84. Murray, G. I.; Taylor, M. C.; McFadyen, M. C.; McKay, J. A.; Greenlee, W. F.; Burke, M. D.; Melvin, W. T., Tumor-specific expression of cytochrome P450 CYP1B1. *Cancer Res.* **1997**, *57*, 3026-3031.
- Huang, Z.; Fasco, M. J.; Figge, H. L.; Keyomarsi, K.; Kaminsky, L. S., Expression of cytochromes P450 in human breast tissue and tumors. *Drug Metab. Dispos.* 1996, *24*, 899-905.
- 86. Spink, D. C.; Eugster, H.-P.; Lincoln II, D. W.; Schuetz, J. D.; Schuetz, E. G.; Johnson, J. A.; Kaminsky, L. S.; Gierthy, J. F., 17β-Estradiol hydroxylation catalyzed by human cytochrome P450 1A1: a comparison of the activities induced by 2, 3, 7, 8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin in MCF-7 cells with those from heterologous expression of the cDNA. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* **1992**, 293, 342-348.
- Hayes, C. L.; Spink, D. C.; Spink, B. C.; Cao, J. Q.; Walker, N. J.; Sutter, T. R., 17 beta-estradiol hydroxylation catalyzed by human cytochrome P450 1B1. *Proc. Ntl. Acad. Sci. USA* **1996**, 93, 9776-9781.
- Kawajiri, K.; Watanabe, J.; Gotoh, O.; Tagashira, Y.; Sogawa, K.; Fujii Kuriyama, Y., Structure and drug inducibility of the human cytochrome P-450c gene. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **1986**, *159*, 219-225.
- 89. Yager, J. D., Mechanisms of estrogen carcinogenesis: The role of E2/E1– quinone metabolites suggests new approaches to preventive intervention–A review. *Steroids* **2015**, *99*, 56-60.
- 90. Zahid, M.; Kohli, E.; Saeed, M.; Rogan, E.; Cavalieri, E., The greater reactivity of estradiol-3, 4-quinone vs estradiol-2, 3-quinone with DNA in the formation of depurinating adducts: implications for tumor-initiating activity. *Chem. Res. Toxicol.* **2006**, *19*, 164-172.
- 91. Chen, Z.-H.; Hurh, Y.-J.; Na, H.-K.; Kim, J.-H.; Chun, Y.-J.; Kim, D.-H.; Kang, K.-S.; Cho, M.-H.; Surh, Y.-J., Resveratrol inhibits TCDD-induced expression of CYP1A1 and CYP1B1 and catechol estrogen-mediated oxidative DNA damage

in cultured human mammary epithelial cells. *Carcinogenesis* **2004**, 25, 2005-2013.

- 92. Li, K.-M.; Todorovic, R.; Devanesan, P.; Higginbotham, S.; Köfeler, H.; Ramanathan, R.; Gross, M. L.; Rogan, E. G.; Cavalieri, E. L., Metabolism and DNA binding studies of 4-hydroxyestradiol and estradiol-3, 4-quinone in vitro and in female ACI rat mammary gland in vivo. *Carcinogenesis* **2004**, *25*, 289-297.
- 93. Bolton, J. L.; Pisha, E.; Shen, L.; Krol, E.; Iverson, S. L.; Huang, Z.; van Breemen, R. B.; Pezzuto, J. M., The reactivity of o-quinones which do not isomerize to quinone methides correlates with alkylcatechol-induced toxicity in human melanoma cells. *Chem-Biol. Interact.* **1997**, *106*, 133-148.
- 94. Bolton, J. L.; Trush, M. A.; Penning, T. M.; Dryhurst, G.; Monks, T. J., Role of quinones in toxicology. *Chem. Res. Tox.* **2000**, *13*, 135-160.
- 95. Feigelson, H. S.; Ross, R. K.; Yu, M. C.; Coetzee, G. A.; Reichardt, J. K.; Henderson, B. E., Genetic susceptibility to cancer from exogenous and endogenous exposures. *J. Cell. Biochem.* **1996**, *63*, 15-22.
- Ross, R. K.; Pike, M. C.; Coetzee, G. A.; Reichardt, J. K.; Mimi, C. Y.; Feigelson, H.; Stanczyk, F. Z.; Kolonel, L. N.; Henderson, B. E., Androgen metabolism and prostate cancer: establishing a model of genetic susceptibility. *Cancer Res.* 1998, *58*, 4497-4504.
- 97. Sager, R., Tumor suppressor genes: the puzzle and the promise. *Science* **1989**, 246, 1406-1412.
- 98. Stanbridge, E. J., Identifying tumor suppressor genes in human colorectal cancer. *Science* **1990**, *247*, 12-14.
- Miki, Y.; Swensen, J.; Shattuck-Eidens, D.; Futreal, P. A.; Harshman, K.; Tavtigian, S.; Liu, Q.; Cochran, C.; Bennett, L. M.; Ding, W., A strong candidate for the breast and ovarian cancer susceptibility gene BRCA1. *Science* **1994**, 66-71.
- Wooster, R.; Bignell, G.; Lancaster, J.; Swift, S.; Seal, S.; Mangion, J.; Collins, N.; Gregory, S.; Gumbs, C.; Micklem, G., Identification of the breast cancer susceptibility gene BRCA2. *Nature* 1995, 378, 789.

- 101. Pietras, R. J.; Pegram, M. D., Oncogene activation and breast cancer progression. In *Endocrinology of Breast Cancer*, Springer: 1999; pp 133-153.
- 102. Sauer, A. G.; Siegel, R. L.; Jemal, A.; Fedewa, S. A., Current prevalence of major cancer risk factors and screening test use in the United States: disparities by education and race/ethnicity. *Cancer Epidemiol. Biomarkers Prev.* **2019**, *28*, 629-642.
- Islami, F.; Goding Sauer, A.; Miller, K. D.; Siegel, R. L.; Fedewa, S. A.; Jacobs, E. J.; McCullough, M. L.; Patel, A. V.; Ma, J.; Soerjomataram, I., Proportion and number of cancer cases and deaths attributable to potentially modifiable risk factors in the United States. *CA Cancer J. Clin.* **2018**, *68*, 31-54.
- 104. Armstrong, K.; Quistberg, D. A.; Micco, E.; Domchek, S.; Guerra, C., Prescription of tamoxifen for breast cancer prevention by primary care physicians. *Arch. Intern. Med.* **2006**, *166*, 2260-2265.
- 105. Vogel, V. G.; Costantino, J. P.; Wickerham, D. L.; Cronin, W. M.; Cecchini, R. S.; Atkins, J. N.; Bevers, T. B.; Fehrenbacher, L.; Pajon, E. R.; Wade, J. L., Effects of tamoxifen vs raloxifene on the risk of developing invasive breast cancer and other disease outcomes: the NSABP Study of Tamoxifen and Raloxifene (STAR) P-2 trial. *JAMA* **2006**, *295*, 2727-2741.
- 106. Ropka, M. E.; Keim, J.; Philbrick, J. T., Patient decisions about breast cancer chemoprevention: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J. Clin. Oncol.* **2010**, *28*, 3090.
- 107. Dowsett, M.; Cuzick, J.; Ingle, J.; Coates, A.; Forbes, J.; Bliss, J.; Buyse, M.; Baum, M.; Buzdar, A.; Colleoni, M., Meta-analysis of breast cancer outcomes in adjuvant trials of aromatase inhibitors versus tamoxifen. *J. Clin. Oncol.* **2009**, *28*, 509-518.
- Cuzick, J.; Sestak, I.; Baum, M.; Buzdar, A.; Howell, A.; Dowsett, M.; Forbes, J. F., Effect of anastrozole and tamoxifen as adjuvant treatment for early-stage breast cancer: 10-year analysis of the ATAC trial. *Lancet Oncol.* 2010, *11*, 1135-1141.
- 109. Coates, A. S.; Keshaviah, A.; Thurlimann, B.; Mouridsen, H.; Mauriac, L.; Forbes, J. F.; Paridaens, R.; Castiglione-Gertsch, M.; Gelber, R. D.; Colleoni, M., Five years of letrozole compared with tamoxifen as initial adjuvant therapy for

postmenopausal women with endocrine-responsive early breast cancer: update of study BIG 1-98. *J. Clin. Oncol.* **2007**, *25*, 486-492.

- 110. Goss, P. E.; Ingle, J. N.; Alés-Martínez, J. E.; Cheung, A. M.; Chlebowski, R. T.; Wactawski-Wende, J.; McTiernan, A.; Robbins, J.; Johnson, K. C.; Martin, L. W., Exemestane for breast-cancer prevention in postmenopausal women. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **2011**, *364*, 2381-2391.
- 111. Group, B. I. G.-C., A comparison of letrozole and tamoxifen in postmenopausal women with early breast cancer. *N. Eng. J. Med.* **2005**, 353, 2747-2757.
- 112. Paterni, I.; Granchi, C.; Katzenellenbogen, J. A.; Minutolo, F., Estrogen receptors alpha (ERα) and beta (ERβ): subtype-selective ligands and clinical potential. *Steroids* **2014**, *90*, 13-29.
- 113. Helguero, L. A.; Faulds, M. H.; Gustafsson, J. Å.; Haldosen, L. A., Estrogen receptors alfa (ERα) and beta (ERβ) differentially regulate proliferation and apoptosis of the normal murine mammary epithelial cell line HC11. Oncogene **2005**, *24*, 6605-6616.
- 114. Frasor, J.; Danes, J. M.; Komm, B.; Chang, K. C.; Lyttle, C. R.; Katzenellenbogen, B. S., Profiling of estrogen up-and down-regulated gene expression in human breast cancer cells: insights into gene networks and pathways underlying estrogenic control of proliferation and cell phenotype. *Endocrinology* **2003**, *144*, 4562-4574.
- 115. Roger, P.; Sahla, M. E.; Mäkelä, S.; Gustafsson, J. Å.; Baldet, P.; Rochefort, H., Decreased expression of estrogen receptor β protein in proliferative preinvasive mammary tumors. *Cancer Res.* **2001**, *61*, 2537-2541.
- 116. Bardin, A.; Boulle, N.; Lazennec, G.; Vignon, F.; Pujol, P., Loss of ERβ expression as a common step in estrogen-dependent tumor progression. *Endocr. Relat. Cancer* **2004**, *11*, 537-551.
- 117. Stauffer, S. R.; Coletta, C. J.; Tedesco, R.; Nishiguchi, G.; Carlson, K.; Sun, J.; Katzenellenbogen, B. S.; Katzenellenbogen, J. A., Pyrazole ligands: structure– affinity/activity relationships and estrogen receptor-α-selective agonists. *J. Med. Chem.* **2000**, *43*, 4934-4947.

- 118. Meyers, M. J.; Sun, J.; Carlson, K. E.; Marriner, G. A.; Katzenellenbogen, B. S.; Katzenellenbogen, J. A., Estrogen receptor-β potency-selective ligands: structure–activity relationship studies of diarylpropionitriles and their acetylene and polar analogues. *J. Med. Chem.* **2001**, *44*, 4230-4251.
- 119. Gruvberger-Saal, S. K.; Bendahl, P.-O.; Saal, L. H.; Laakso, M.; Hegardt, C.; Edén, P.; Peterson, C.; Malmström, P.; Isola, J.; Borg, Å., Estrogen receptor β expression is associated with tamoxifen response in ERα-negative breast carcinoma. *Clin. Cancer Res.* **2007**, *13*, 1987-1994.
- 120. Hartman, J.; Ström, A.; Gustafsson, J.-Å., Estrogen receptor beta in breast cancer—diagnostic and therapeutic implications. *Steroids* **2009**, *74*, 635-641.
- 121. Honma, N.; Horii, R.; Iwase, T.; Saji, S.; Younes, M.; Takubo, K.; Matsuura, M.; Ito, Y.; Akiyama, F.; Sakamoto, G., Clinical importance of estrogen receptor-β evaluation in breast cancer patients treated with adjuvant tamoxifen therapy. *J. Clin. Oncol.* **2008**, *26*, 3727-3734.
- 122. Wu, X.; Subramaniam, M.; Grygo, S. B.; Sun, Z.; Negron, V.; Lingle, W. L.; Goetz, M. P.; Ingle, J. N.; Spelsberg, T. C.; Hawse, J. R., Estrogen receptor-beta sensitizes breast cancer cells to the anti-estrogenic actions of endoxifen. *Breast Cancer Res.* **2011**, *13*, R27.
- 123. Kuiper, G. G.; Lemmen, J. G.; Carlsson, B.; Corton, J. C.; Safe, S. H.; Van Der Saag, P. T.; Van Der Burg, B.; Gustafsson, J. A. k., Interaction of estrogenic chemicals and phytoestrogens with estrogen receptor β. *Endocrinology* **1998**, *139*, 4252-4263.
- 124. Kolonel, L. N., Variability in diet and its relation to risk in ethnic and migrant groups. In *Basic Life Sci.*, Springer: 1988; pp 129-135.
- 125. Parkin, D. M., Cancers of the breast, endometrium and ovary: geographic correlations. *Eur. J. Cancer Clin. Oncol.* **1989**, *25*, 1917-1925.
- Mersereau, J. E.; Levy, N.; Staub, R. E.; Baggett, S.; Zogric, T.; Chow, S.; Ricke, W. A.; Tagliaferri, M.; Cohen, I.; Bjeldanes, L. F., Liquiritigenin is a plant-derived highly selective estrogen receptor β agonist. *Mol. Cell Endocrinol.* **2008**, 283, 49-57.

- 127. Hajirahimkhan, A.; Mbachu, O.; Simmler, C.; Ellis, S.; Dong, H.; Nikolić, D.; Lankin, D. C.; van Breemen, R. B.; Chen, S. N.; Pauli, G. F.; Dietz, B. M.; Bolton, J. L., Estrogen Receptor (ER) Subtype Selectivity Identifies 8-Prenylapigenin as an ERβ Agonist from Glycyrrhiza inflata and Highlights the Importance of Chemical and Biological Authentication. *J. Nat. Prod.* **2018**, *81*, 966-975.
- 128. Fritz, W. A.; Coward, L.; Wang, J.; Lamartiniere, C. A., Dietary genistein: perinatal mammary cancer prevention, bioavailability and toxicity testing in the rat. *Carcinogenesis* **1998**, *19*, 2151-2158.
- 129. Murrill, W. B.; Brown, N. M.; Zhang, J. X.; Manzolillo, P. A.; Barnes, S.; Lamartiniere, C. A., Prepubertal genistein exposure suppresses mammary cancer and enhances gland differentiation in rats. *Carcinogenesis* **1996**, *17*, 1451-1458.
- 130. Morabia, A.; Costanza, M. C.; Neoplasia, W. H. O. C. S. o.; Contraceptives, S., International variability in ages at menarche, first livebirth, and menopause. *Am. J. Epidemiol.* **1998**, *148*, 1195-1205.
- 131. Grady, D., Management of menopausal symptoms. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **2006**, *355*, 2338-2347.
- 132. Chlebowski, R. T.; Hendrix, S. L.; Langer, R. D.; Stefanick, M. L.; Gass, M.; Lane, D.; Rodabough, R. J.; Gilligan, M. A.; Cyr, M. G.; Thomson, C. A., Influence of estrogen plus progestin on breast cancer and mammography in healthy postmenopausal women: the Women's Health Initiative Randomized Trial. *JAMA* **2003**, *289*, 3243-3253.
- 133. Kolata, G., Race to fill void in menopause-drug market. *The New York Times* **2002**.
- 134. Farnsworth, N. R.; Krause, E. C.; Bolton, J. L.; Pauli, G. F.; van Breemen, R. B.; Graham, J. G., The university of Illinois at Chicago/National institutes of health center for botanical dietary supplements research for women's health: from plant to clinical use. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* **2008**, *87*, 504S-508S.
- 135. Piersen, C.; Booth, N.; Sun, Y.; Liang, W.; Burdette, J.; Breemen, R. v.; Geller, S.; Gu, C.; Banuvar, S.; Shulman, L., Chemical and biological characterization and clinical evaluation of botanical dietary supplements: a phase I red clover extract as a model. *Curr. Med. Chem.* **2004**, *11*, 1361-1374.

- 136. Geller, S. E.; Shulman, L. P.; Van Breemen, R. B.; Banuvar, S.; Zhou, Y.; Epstein, G.; Hedayat, S.; Nikolic, D.; Krause, E. C.; Piersen, C. E., Safety and efficacy of black cohosh and red clover for the management of vasomotor symptoms: a randomized controlled trial. *Menopause* **2009**, *16*, 1156.
- 137. Geller, S. E.; Studee, L., Botanical and dietary supplements for menopausal symptoms: what works, what does not. *J. Women's Health* **2005**, *14*, 634-649.
- 138. Aghamiri, V.; Mirghafourvand, M.; Mohammad-Alizadeh-Charandabi, S.; Nazemiyeh, H., The effect of Hop (Humulus lupulus L.) on early menopausal symptoms and hot flashes: A randomized placebo-controlled trial. *Complement. Ther. Clin. Pract.* **2016**, 23, 130-135.
- 139. Milligan, S.; Kalita, J.; Pocock, V.; Heyerick, A.; De Cooman, L.; Rong, H.; De Keukeleire, D., Oestrogenic activity of the hop phyto-oestrogen, 8-prenylnaringenin. *Reproduction* **2002**, *123*, 235-242.
- 140. Keiler, A. M.; Zierau, O.; Kretzschmar, G., Hop extracts and hop substances in treatment of menopausal complaints. *Planta Med.* **2013**, *79*, 576-579.
- 141. Milligan, S.; Kalita, J.; Heyerick, A.; Rong, H.; De Cooman, L.; De Keukeleire, D., Identification of a potent phytoestrogen in hops (Humulus lupulus L.) and beer. *J. Clin. Endocr. Metab.* **1999**, *84*, 2249-2249.
- Legette, L.; Karnpracha, C.; Reed, R. L.; Choi, J.; Bobe, G.; Christensen, J. M.; Rodriguez-Proteau, R.; Purnell, J. Q.; Stevens, J. F., Human pharmacokinetics of xanthohumol, an antihyperglycemic flavonoid from hops. *Mol. Nutr. Food Res.* 2014, *58*, 248-255.
- 143. Nikolic, D.; Li, Y.; Chadwick, L. R.; Pauli, G. F.; van Breemen, R. B., Metabolism of xanthohumol and isoxanthohumol, prenylated flavonoids from hops (Humulus lupulus L.), by human liver microsomes. *J. Mass Spectrom.* **2005**, *40*, 289-299.
- 144. Fugh-Berman, A.; Kronenberg, F., Red clover (Trifolium pratense) for menopausal women: current state of knowledge. *Menopause* **2001**, *8*, 333-337.
- 145. Booth, N. L.; Piersen, C. E.; Banuvar, S.; Geller, S. E.; Shulman, L. P.; Farnsworth, N. R., Clinical studies of red clover (Trifolium pratense) dietary supplements in menopause: a literature review. *Menopause* **2006**, *13*, 251-264.

- 146. Yang, R.; Wang, L. Q.; Yuan, B. C.; Liu, Y., The pharmacological activities of licorice. *Planta Med.* **2015**, *81*, 1654-1669.
- 147. Wang, Z. Y.; Nixon, D. W., Licorice and cancer. Nutr. Cancer 2001, 39, 1-11.
- 148. Indran, I. R.; Zhang, S. J.; Zhang, Z. W.; Sun, F.; Gong, Y.; Wang, X.; Li, J.; Erdelmeier, C. A.; Koch, E.; Yong, E. L., Selective estrogen receptor modulator effects of epimedium extracts on breast cancer and uterine growth in nude mice. *Planta Med.* **2014**, *80*, 22-28.
- 149. Stearn, W. T.; Shaw, J.; Green, P. S.; Mathew, B., *Genus Epimedium and other herbaceous Berberidaceae*. Timber Press: 2002.
- 150. Wu, H.; Lien, E. J.; Lien, L. L., Chemical and pharmacological investigations of Epimedium species: a survey. In *Prog. Drug Res.*, Springer: 2003; Vol. 60, pp 1-57.
- 151. Pauli, G. F.; Chen, S. N.; Simmler, C.; Lankin, D. C.; Gödecke, T.; Jaki, B. U.; Friesen, J. B.; McAlpine, J. B.; Napolitano, J. G., Importance of purity evaluation and the potential of quantitative 1H NMR as a purity assay: miniperspective. *J. Med. Chem.* **2014**, *57*, 9220-9231.
- 152. Dietz, B. M.; Chen, S. N.; Alvarenga, R. F. R.; Dong, H.; Nikolić, D.; Biendl, M.; Van Breemen, R. B.; Bolton, J. L.; Pauli, G. F., DESIGNER Extracts as Tools to Balance Estrogenic and Chemopreventive Activities of Botanicals for Women's Health. *J. Nat. Prod.* **2017**, *80*, 2284-2294.
- 153. Chen, S. N.; Lankin, D. C.; Chadwick, L. R.; Jaki, B. U.; Pauli, G. F., Dynamic residual complexity of natural products by qHNMR: solution stability of desmethylxanthohumol. *Planta Med.* **2009**, *75*, 757.
- 154. Phansalkar, R. S.; Simmler, C.; Bisson, J.; Chen, S. N.; Lankin, D. C.; McAlpine, J. B.; Niemitz, M.; Pauli, G. F., Evolution of quantitative measures in NMR: quantum mechanical qHNMR advances chemical standardization of a red clover (Trifolium pratense) extract. *J. Nat. Prod.* **2017**, *80*, 634-647.
- 155. Xia, Q.; Xu, D.; Huang, Z.; Liu, J.; Wang, X.; Wang, X.; Liu, S., Preparation of icariside II from icariin by enzymatic hydrolysis method. *Fitoterapia* **2010**, *81*, 437-442.

- 156. Cheng, T.; Yang, J.; Zhang, T.; Yang, Y. S.; Ding, Y., Optimized biotransformation of icariin into icariside II by β-glucosidase from Trichoderma viride using central composite design method. *BioMed. Res. Int.* **2016**, *1-10*.
- 157. Jin, X.; Zhang, Z.; Sun, E.; Li, S.; Jia, X., Statistically designed enzymatic hydrolysis of an icariin/β-cyclodextrin inclusion complex optimized for production of icaritin. *Acta. Pharm. Sin. B* **2012**, *2*, 83-89.
- 158. Hajirahimkhan, A.; Simmler, C.; Yuan, Y.; Anderson, J. R.; Chen, S. N.; Nikolic, D.; Dietz, B. M.; Pauli, G. F.; van Breemen, R. B.; Bolton, J. L., Evaluation of estrogenic activity of licorice species in comparison with Hops used in botanicals for menopausal symptoms. *PLoS One* **2013**, *8*, e67947.
- 159. Dunlap, T. L.; Wang, S.; Simmler, C.; Chen, S. N.; Pauli, G. F.; Dietz, B. M.; Bolton, J. L., Differential effects of glycyrrhiza species on genotoxic estrogen metabolism: licochalcone A downregulates P450 1B1, whereas isoliquiritigenin stimulates it. *Chem. Res. Toxicol.* **2015**, *28*, 1584-1594.
- 160. Simmler, C.; Anderson, J. R.; Gauthier, L.; Lankin, D. C.; McAlpine, J. B.; Chen, S. N.; Pauli, G. F., Metabolite profiling and classification of DNA authenticated licorice botanicals. *J. Nat. Prod.* **2015**, *78*, 2007-2022.
- Simmler, C.; Jones, T.; Anderson, J. R.; Nikolic, D. C.; van Breemen, R. B.; Soejarto, D. D.; Chen, S. N.; Pauli, G. F., Species-specific Standardisation of Licorice by Metabolomic Profiling of Flavanones and Chalcones. *Phytochem. Anal.* **2014**, *25*, 378-88.
- 162. Dong, X.; Fan, Y.; Yu, L.; Hu, Y., Synthesis of four natural prenylflavonoids and their estrogen-like activities. *Arch. Pharm.* **2007**, *340*, 372-6.
- 163. Edziri, H.; Mastouri, M.; Mahjoub, M. A.; Mighri, Z.; Mahjoub, A.; Verschaeve, L., Antibacterial, antifungal and cytotoxic activities of two flavonoids from Retama raetam flowers. *Molecules* **2012**, *17*, 7284-93.
- 164. Lin, Y.; Kuang, Y.; Li, K.; Wang, S.; Ji, S.; Chen, K.; Song, W.; Qiao, X.; Ye, M., Nrf2 activators from Glycyrrhiza inflata and their hepatoprotective activities against CCl4-induced liver injury in mice. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.* **2017**, *25*, 5522-5530.

- Pauli, G. F.; Chen, S. N.; Simmler, C.; Lankin, D. C.; Godecke, T.; Jaki, B. U.; Friesen, J. B.; McAlpine, J. B.; Napolitano, J. G., Importance of purity evaluation and the potential of quantitative (1)H NMR as a purity assay. *J. Med. Chem.* 2014, *57*, 9220-31.
- 166. Hajirahimkhan, A.; Simmler, C.; Dong, H.; Lantvit, D. D.; Li, G.; Chen, S. N.; Nikolic, D.; Pauli, G. F.; van Breemen, R. B.; Dietz, B. M.; Bolton, J. L., Induction of NAD(P)H:quinone oxidoreductase 1 (NQO1) by *Glycyrrhiza* species used for women's health: differential effects of the Michael acceptors isoliquiritigenin and licochalcone A. *Chem. Res. Toxicol.* **2015**, *28*, 2130-2141.
- 167. Tonetti, D. A.; Rubenstein, R.; DeLeon, M.; Zhao, H.; Pappas, S. G.; Bentrem, D. J.; Chen, B.; Constantinou, A.; Craig Jordan, V., Stable transfection of an estrogen receptor beta cDNA isoform into MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells. *J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol.* **2003**, *87*, 47-55.
- 168. Pisha, E.; Pezzuto, J. M., Cell-based assay for the determination of estrogenic and anti-estrogenic activities. *Methods Cell Sci.* **1997**, *19*, 37-43.
- Milligan, S.; Kalita, J.; Pocock, V.; Van De Kauter, V.; Stevens, J.; Deinzer, M.; Rong, H.; De Keukeleire, D., The endocrine activities of 8-prenylnaringenin and related hop (Humulus lupulus L.) flavonoids. *J. Clin. Endocr. Metab.* 2000, *85*, 4912-4915.
- 170. Obourn, J. D.; Koszewski, N. J.; Notides, A. C., Hormone-and DNA-binding mechanism of the recombinant human estrogen receptor. *Biochemistry* **1993**, *32*, 6229-6236.
- 171. Overk, C. R.; Yao, P.; Chadwick, L. R.; Nikolić, D.; Sun, Y.; Cuendet, M. A.; Deng, Y.; Hedayat, A.; Pauli, G. F.; Farnsworth, N. R., Comparison of the in vitro estrogenic activities of compounds from hops (Humulus lupulus) and red clover (Trifolium pratense). *J. Agric. Food Chem.* **2005**, *53*, 6246-6253.
- 172. Hwang, C. S.; Kwak, H. S.; Lim, H. J.; Lee, S. H.; Kang, Y. S.; Choe, T. B.; Hur, H. G.; Han, K. O., Isoflavone metabolites and their in vitro dual functions: they can act as an estrogenic agonist or antagonist depending on the estrogen concentration. *J. Steroid Biochem.* **2006**, *101*, 246-253.
- 173. Helle, J.; Kräker, K.; Bader, M. I.; Keiler, A. M.; Zierau, O.; Vollmer, G.; Welsh, J.; Kretzschmar, G., Assessment of the proliferative capacity of the flavanones 8-

prenylnaringenin, 6-(1.1-dimethylallyl) naringenin and naringenin in MCF-7 cells and the rat mammary gland. *Mol. Cell Endocrinol.* **2014**, 392, 125-135.

- 174. Jiang, Y.; Gong, P.; Madak-Erdogan, Z.; Martin, T.; Jeyakumar, M.; Carlson, K.; Khan, I.; Smillie, T. J.; Chittiboyina, A. G.; Rotte, S. C., Mechanisms enforcing the estrogen receptor β selectivity of botanical estrogens. *FASEB J* 2013, 27, 4406-4418.
- Speltz, T. E.; Fanning, S. W.; Mayne, C. G.; Fowler, C.; Tajkhorshid, E.; Greene, G. L.; Moore, T. W., Branching Out: γ-Methylated Hydrocarbon Stapled Peptides for the Estrogen Receptor/Coactivator Interaction. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.* 2016, *55*, 4252-4255.
- 176. Gunther, J. R.; Du, Y.; Rhoden, E.; Lewis, I.; Revennaugh, B.; Moore, T. W.; Kim, S. H.; Dingledine, R.; Fu, H.; Katzenellenbogen, J. A., A set of time-resolved fluorescence resonance energy transfer assays for the discovery of inhibitors of estrogen receptor-coactivator binding. *J. Biomol. Screen* **2009**, *14*, 181-193.
- 177. Carroll, V. M.; Jeyakumar, M.; Carlson, K. E.; Katzenellenbogen, J. A., Diarylpropionitrile (DPN) enantiomers: synthesis and evaluation of estrogen receptor β-selective ligands. *J. Med. Chem.* **2011**, *55*, 528-537.
- 178. Song, X.; Pan, Z.-Z., Estrogen receptor-beta agonist diarylpropionitrile counteracts the estrogenic activity of estrogen receptor-alpha agonist propylpyrazole-triol in the mammary gland of ovariectomized Sprague Dawley rats. *J. Steroid Biochem.* **2012**, *130*, 26-35.
- 179. Paruthiyil, S.; Parmar, H.; Kerekatte, V.; Cunha, G. R.; Firestone, G. L.; Leitman, D. C., Estrogen receptor β inhibits human breast cancer cell proliferation and tumor formation by causing a G2 cell cycle arrest. *Cancer Res.* **2004**, *64*, 423-428.
- Ström, A.; Hartman, J.; Foster, J. S.; Kietz, S.; Wimalasena, J.; Gustafsson, J.-Å., Estrogen receptor β inhibits 17β-estradiol-stimulated proliferation of the breast cancer cell line T47D. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **2004**, *101*, 1566-1571.
- 181. Brandenberger, A. W.; Tee, M. K.; Jaffe, R. B., Estrogen receptor alpha (ER-α) and beta (ER-β) mRNAs in normal ovary, ovarian serous cystadenocarcinoma and ovarian cancer cell lines: down-regulation of ER-β in neoplastic tissues. *J. Clin. Endocr. Metab.* **1998**, *83*, 1025-1028.

- 182. Pujol, P.; Rey, J.-M.; Nirde, P.; Roger, P.; Gastaldi, M.; Laffargue, F.; Rochefort, H.; Maudelonde, T., Differential expression of estrogen receptor-α and-β messenger RNAs as a potential marker of ovarian carcinogenesis. *Cancer Res.* 1998, *58*, 5367-5373.
- 183. Foley, E. F.; Jazaeri, A. A.; Shupnik, M. A.; Jazaeri, O.; Rice, L. W., Selective loss of estrogen receptor β in malignant human colon. *Cancer Res.* 2000, 60, 245-248.
- 184. Hevir-Kene, N.; Rizner, T. L., The endometrial cancer cell lines Ishikawa and HEC-1A, and the control cell line HIEEC, differ in expression of estrogen biosynthetic and metabolic genes, and in androstenedione and estrone-sulfate metabolism. *Chem. Biol. Interact.* **2015**, *234*, 309-19.
- 185. Zhang, J.; Xu, H.; Zhou, X.; Li, Y.; Liu, T.; Yin, X.; Zhang, B., Role of metformin in inhibiting estrogen-induced proliferation and regulating ERalpha and ERbeta expression in human endometrial cancer cells. *Oncol. Lett.* **2017**, *14*, 4949-4956.
- 186. Carroll, V. M.; Jeyakumar, M.; Carlson, K. E.; Katzenellenbogen, J. A., Diarylpropionitrile (DPN) enantiomers: synthesis and evaluation of estrogen receptor beta-selective ligands. *J. Med. Chem.* **2012**, *55*, 528-37.
- 187. Harris, H. A.; Katzenellenbogen, J. A.; Katzenellenbogen, B. S., Characterization of the biological roles of the estrogen receptors, ERalpha and ERbeta, in estrogen target tissues in vivo through the use of an ERalpha-selective ligand. *Endocrinology* **2002**, *143*, 4172-7.
- Stauffer, S. R.; Coletta, C. J.; Tedesco, R.; Nishiguchi, G.; Carlson, K.; Sun, J.; Katzenellenbogen, B. S.; Katzenellenbogen, J. A., Pyrazole ligands: structureaffinity/activity relationships and estrogen receptor-alpha-selective agonists. *J. Med. Chem.* 2000, *43*, 4934-47.
- 189. Minutolo, F.; Macchia, M.; Katzenellenbogen, B. S.; Katzenellenbogen, J. A., Estrogen receptor β ligands: recent advances and biomedical applications. *Med. Res. Rev.* 2011, *31*, 364-442.
- 190. Tolleson, W. H.; Doerge, D. R.; Churchwell, M. I.; Marques, M. M.; Roberts, D. W., Metabolism of biochanin A and formononetin by human liver microsomes in vitro. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* **2002**, *50*, 4783-4790.

- 191. Wilkinson, J. M.; Hayes, S.; Thompson, D.; Whitney, P.; Bi, K., Compound profiling using a panel of steroid hormone receptor cell-based assays. *J. Biomol. Screen.* **2008**, *13*, 755-765.
- Escande, A.; Pillon, A.; Servant, N.; Cravedi, J.-P.; Larrea, F.; Muhn, P.; Nicolas, J.-C.; Cavaillès, V.; Balaguer, P., Evaluation of ligand selectivity using reporter cell lines stably expressing estrogen receptor alpha or beta. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 2006, *71*, 1459-1469.
- 193. Harrington, W. R.; Sheng, S.; Barnett, D. H.; Petz, L. N.; Katzenellenbogen, J. A.; Katzenellenbogen, B. S., Activities of estrogen receptor alpha-and beta-selective ligands at diverse estrogen responsive gene sites mediating transactivation or transrepression. *Mol. Cell. Endocrinol.* **2003**, *206*, 13-22.
- 194. Liu, J.; Burdette, J. E.; Xu, H.; Gu, C.; van Breemen, R. B.; Bhat, K. P.; Booth, N.; Constantinou, A. I.; Pezzuto, J. M.; Fong, H. H.; Farnsworth, N. R.; Bolton, J. L., Evaluation of estrogenic activity of plant extracts for the potential treatment of menopausal symptoms. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* **2001**, *49*, 2472-2479.
- 195. Overk, C. R.; Yao, P.; Chadwick, L. R.; Nikolic, D.; Sun, Y.; Cuendet, M. A.; Deng, Y.; Hedayat, A. S.; Pauli, G. F.; Farnsworth, N. R.; van Breemen, R. B.; Bolton, J. L., Comparison of the in vitro estrogenic activities of compounds from hops (Humulus lupulus) and red clover (Trifolium pratense). *J. Agric. Food Chem.* **2005**, *53*, 6246-53.
- 196. Hajirahimkhan, A.; Dietz, B. M.; Bolton, J. L., Botanical modulation of menopausal symptoms: Mechanisms of action. *Planta Med.* **2013**, *79*, 538-553.
- 197. Jia, M.; Dahlman-Wright, K.; Gustafsson, J. A., Estrogen receptor alpha and beta in health and disease. *Best Prac. Res. Clinical Endocrinol. Metab.* **2015**, *29*, 557-68.
- 198. Lobo, R. A., Hormone-replacement therapy: current thinking. *Nat. Rev. Endocrinol.* **2016**, *13*, 220-231.
- 199. Chlebowski, R. T.; Manson, J. E.; Anderson, G. L.; Cauley, J. A.; Aragaki, A. K.; Stefanick, M. L.; Lane, D. S.; Johnson, K. C.; Wactawski-Wende, J.; Chen, C.; Qi, L.; Yasmeen, S.; Newcomb, P. A.; Prentice, R. L., Estrogen plus progestin and breast cancer incidence and mortality in the Women's Health Initiative Observational Study. *J. Natl. Cancer Inst.* **2013**, *105*, 526-35.
- 200. Manson, J., The Women's Health Initiative: the latest findings from long-term follow-up. *Womens Health* **2014**, *10*, 125-8.
- 201. Rossouw, J. E.; Anderson, G. L.; Prentice, R. L.; LaCroix, A. Z.; Kooperberg, C.; Stefanick, M. L.; Jackson, R. D.; Beresford, S. A.; Howard, B. V.; Johnson, K. C.; Kotchen, J. M.; Ockene, J., Risks and benefits of estrogen plus progestin in healthy postmenopausal women: principal results From the Women's Health Initiative randomized controlled trial. *JAMA* **2002**, 288, 321-33.
- 202. Huang, B.; Warner, M.; Gustafsson, J. A., Estrogen receptors in breast carcinogenesis and endocrine therapy. *Mol. Cell. Endocrinol.* **2015**, *418*, 240-4.
- 203. Sareddy, G. R.; Vadlamudi, R. K., Cancer therapy using natural ligands that target estrogen receptor beta. *Chin. J. Nat. Med.* **2015**, *13*, 801-7.
- 204. Shanle, E. K.; Xu, W., Selectively targeting estrogen receptors for cancer treatment. *Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev.* **2010**, *62*, 1265-76.
- 205. Thomas, C.; Gustafsson, J. A., The different roles of ER subtypes in cancer biology and therapy. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* **2011**, *11*, 597-608.
- 206. Marzagalli, M.; Marelli, M. M.; Casati, L.; Fontana, F.; Moretti, R. M.; Limonta, P., Estrogen Receptor beta in Melanoma: From Molecular Insights to Potential Clinical Utility. *Front. Endocrinol.* **2016**, *7*, 140.
- 207. Leung, Y. K.; Lee, M. T.; Lam, H. M.; Tarapore, P.; Ho, S. M., Estrogen receptorbeta and breast cancer: translating biology into clinical practice. *Steroids* **2012**, 77, 727-37.
- 208. Omoto, Y.; Iwase, H., Clinical significance of estrogen receptor beta in breast and prostate cancer from biological aspects. *Cancer Sci* **2015**, *106*, 337-43.
- 209. Jarry, H.; Spengler, B.; Porzel, A.; Schmidt, J.; Wuttke, W.; Christoffel, V., Evidence for estrogen receptor beta-selective activity of Vitex agnus-castus and isolated flavones. *Planta Med.* **2003**, *69*, 945-947.
- 210. Setchell, K. D.; Clerici, C.; Lephart, E. D.; Cole, S. J.; Heenan, C.; Castellani, D.; Wolfe, B. E.; Nechemias-Zimmer, L.; Brown, N. M.; Lund, T. D.; Handa, R. J.; Heubi, J. E., S-equol, a potent ligand for estrogen receptor beta, is the exclusive

enantiomeric form of the soy isoflavone metabolite produced by human intestinal bacterial flora. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* **2005**, *81*, 1072-1079.

- 211. Harris, D. M.; Besselink, E.; Henning, S. M.; Go, V. L.; Heber, D., Phytoestrogens induce differential estrogen receptor alpha- or Beta-mediated responses in transfected breast cancer cells. *Exp. Biol. Med.* **2005**, 230, 558-68.
- 212. Chang, E. C.; Charn, T. H.; Park, S. H.; Helferich, W. G.; Komm, B.; Katzenellenbogen, J. A.; Katzenellenbogen, B. S., Estrogen Receptors alpha and beta as determinants of gene expression: influence of ligand, dose, and chromatin binding. *Mol. Endocrinol.* **2008**, *22*, 1032-43.
- van Meeuwen, J. A.; Korthagen, N.; de Jong, P. C.; Piersma, A. H.; van den Berg, M., (Anti)estrogenic effects of phytochemicals on human primary mammary fibroblasts, MCF-7 cells and their co-culture. *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.* 2007, 221, 372-83.
- Booth, N.; Overk, C. R.; P., Y.; Burdette, J. E.; Nikolic, D.; Chen, S. N.; Bolton, J. L.; Van Breemen, R. B.; Pauli, G. F.; Farnsworth, N. R., The chemical and biologic profile of a red clover (*Trifolium pratense* L.) phase II clinical extract. *J. Altern. Complement. Med.* 2006, *12*, 133-139.
- 215. Overk, C. R.; Guo, J.; Chadwick, L. R.; Lantvit, D. D.; Minassi, A.; Appendino, G.; Chen, S. N.; Lankin, D. C.; Farnsworth, N. R.; Pauli, G. F.; van Breemen, R. B.; Bolton, J. L., In vivo estrogenic comparisons of Trifolium pratense (red clover) Humulus lupulus (hops), and the pure compounds isoxanthohumol and 8prenylnaringenin. *Chem Biol Interact* **2008**, *176*, 30-39.
- 216. Helferich, W. G.; Andrade, J.; Hoagland, M., Phytoestrogens and breast cancer: a complex story. *Inflammopharmacology* **2008**, *16*, 219-226.
- 217. Song, W. O.; Chun, O. K.; Hwang, I.; Shin, H. S.; Kim, B. G.; Kim, K. S.; Lee, S. Y.; Shin, D.; Lee, S. G., Soy isoflavones as safe functional ingredients. *J. Med. Food* **2007**, *10*, 571-80.
- 218. Dietz, B. M.; Hajirahimkhan, A.; Dunlap, T. L.; Bolton, J. L., Botanicals and their bioactive phytochemicals for women's health. *Pharmacol. Rev.* **2016**, *68*, 1026-1073.

- 219. Asl, M. N.; Hosseinzadeh, H., Review of pharmacological effects of *Glycyrrhiza* sp. and its bioactive compounds. *Phytother. Res.* **2008**, *22*, 709-724.
- 220. Kondo, K.; Shiba, M.; Nakamura, R.; Morota, T.; Shoyama, Y., Constituent properties of licorices derived from *Glycyrrhiza uralensis*, *G. glabra*, or *G. inflata* identified by genetic information. *Biol. Pharm. Bull.* **2007**, *30*, 1271-1277.
- 221. Madak-Erdogan, Z.; Gong, P.; Zhao, Y. C.; Xu, L.; Wrobel, K. U.; Hartman, J. A.; Wang, M.; Cam, A.; Iwaniec, U. T.; Turner, R. T., Dietary licorice root supplementation reduces diet-induced weight gain, lipid deposition, and hepatic steatosis in ovariectomized mice without stimulating reproductive tissues and mammary gland. *Mol. Nutr. Food Res.* **2016**, *60*, 369-380.
- 222. Boonmuen, N.; Gong, P.; Ali, Z.; Chittiboyina, A. G.; Khan, I.; Doerge, D. R.; Helferich, W. G.; Carlson, K. E.; Martin, T.; Piyachaturawat, P.; Katzenellenbogen, J. A.; Katzenellenbogen, B. S., Licorice root components in dietary supplements are selective estrogen receptor modulators with a spectrum of estrogenic and anti-estrogenic activities. *Steroids* **2016**, *105*, 42-49.
- 223. Jiang, Y.; Gong, P.; Madak-Erdogan, Z.; Martin, T.; M., J.; Carlson, K.; Khan, I.; Smillie, T. J.; Amar G. Chittiboyina, A. G.; Rotte, S. C. K.; Helferich, W. G.; Katzenellenbogen, J. A.; Katzenellenbogen, B. S., Mechanisms enforcing the estrogen receptor β selectivity of botanical estrogens. *FASEB J.* **2013**, *27*, 4406-4418.
- 224. Nomura, T.; Fukai, T.; Akiyama, T., Chemistry of phenolic compounds of licorice (Glycyrrhiza species) and their estrogenic and cytotoxic activities. *Pure Appl. Chem.* **2002**, *74*, 1199-1206.
- Simons, R.; Vincken, J. P.; Mol, L. A. M.; The, S. A. M.; Bovee, T. F. H.; Luijendijk, T. J. C.; Verbruggen, M. A.; Gruppen, H., Agonistic and antagonistic estrogens in licorice root (Glycyrrhiza glabra). *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.* 2011, 401, 305-313.
- 226. Hu, C.; Liu, H.; Du, J.; Mo, B.; Qi, H.; Wang, X.; Ye, S.; Li, Z., Estrogenic activities of extracts of Chinese licorice (*Glycyrrhiza uralensis*) root in MCF-7 breast cancer cells. *J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol.* **2009**, *113*, 209-16.
- 227. Xu, M. J.; Wu, B.; Ding, T.; Chu, J. H.; Li, C. Y.; Zhang, J.; Wu, T.; Wu, J.; Liu, S. J.; Liu, S. L.; Ju, W. Z.; Li, P., Simultaneous characterization of prenylated

flavonoids and isoflavonoids in Psoralea corylifolia L. by liquid chromatography with diode-array detection and quadrupole time-of-flight mass spectrometry. *Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom.* **2012**, *26*, 2343-58.

- 228. Lee, M. H.; Kim, J. Y.; Ryu, J. H., Prenylflavones from Psoralea corylifolia inhibit nitric oxide synthase expression through the inhibition of I-kappaB-alpha degradation in activated microglial cells. *Biol. Pharm. Bull.* **2005**, *28*, 2253-7.
- 229. Jain, A. C.; Lal, P.; Seshadri, T. R., A Study of Nuclear Prenylation of Beta-Resacetophenone .2. Synthesis of Bavachalcone, 4'-O-Methylbavachalcone and Bavachin. *Tetrahedron* **1970**, *26*, 2631-2635.
- 230. Du, G.; Feng, L.; Yang, Z.; Shi, J.; Huang, C.; Guo, F.; Li, B.; Zhu, W.; Li, Y., Separation and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma agonist activity evaluation of synthetic racemic bavachinin enantiomers. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **2015**, *25*, 2579-83.
- 231. Baker, M., Reproducibility: Check your chemistry. *Nature* **2017**, *548*, 485-488.
- 232. Rimoldi, G.; Christoffel, J.; Seidlova-Wuttke, D.; Jarry, H.; Wuttke, W., Effects of chronic genistein treatment in mammary gland, uterus, and vagina. *Environ. Health Perspect.* **2007**, *115*, 62-8.
- Jaric, I.; Zivanovic, J.; Miler, M.; Ajdzanovic, V.; Blagojevic, D.; Ristic, N.; Milosevic, V.; Nestorovic, N., Genistein and daidzein treatments differently affect uterine homeostasis in the ovary-intact middle-aged rats. *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.* 2017, 339, 73-84.
- 234. Dietz, B. M.; Hajirahimkhan, A.; Dunlap, T. L.; Bolton, J. L., Botanicals and their bioactive phytochemicals for women's health. *Pharmacol. Rev.* **2016**, *68*, 1026-1073.
- 235. Kao, T. C.; Wu, C. H.; Yen, G. C., Bioactivity and potential health benefits of licorice. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* **2014**, *62*, 542-553.
- 236. Geller, S. E.; Studee, L., Botanical and dietary supplements for menopausal symptoms: what works, what does not. *J. Womens Health* **2005**, *14*, 634-649.

- 237. Pitkin, J., Alternative and complementary therapies for the menopause. *Menopause International* **2012**, *18*, 20-27.
- 238. Hajirahimkhan, A.; Simmler, C.; Yuan, Y.; Anderson, J. R.; Chen, S. N.; Nikolić, D.; Dietz, B. M.; Pauli, G. F.; van Breemen, R. B.; Bolton, J. L., Evaluation of estrogenic activity of licorice species in comparison with hops used in botanicals for menopausal symptoms. *PLoS One* **2013**, *8*, e67947.
- 239. Wang, Z. Q.; Weber, N.; Lou, Y. J.; Proksch, P., Prenylflavonoids as nonsteroidal phytoestrogens and related structure–activity relationships. *ChemMedChem* **2006**, *1*, 482-488.
- Wong, S. P.; Shen, P.; Lee, L.; Li, J.; Yong, E., Pharmacokinetics of prenylflavonoids and correlations with the dynamics of estrogen action in sera following ingestion of a standardized Epimedium extract. *J. Pharmaceut. Biomed.* 2009, *50*, 216-223.
- 241. Shen, P.; Guo, B.; Gong, Y.; Hong, D. Y.; Hong, Y.; Yong, E., Taxonomic, genetic, chemical and estrogenic characteristics of Epimedium species. *Phytochemistry* **2007**, *68*, 1448-1458.
- 242. Frasor, J.; Barnett, D. H.; Danes, J. M.; Hess, R.; Parlow, A. F.; Katzenellenbogen, B. S., Response-specific and ligand dose-dependent modulation of estrogen receptor (ER)α activity by ERβ in the uterus. *Endocrinology* **2003**, *144*, 3159-3166.
- 243. Diel, P.; Thomae, R. B.; Caldarelli, A.; Zierau, O.; Kolba, S.; Schmidt, S.; Schwab, P.; Metz, P.; Vollmer, G., Regulation of gene expression by 8prenylnaringenin in uterus and liver of Wistar rats. *Planta Med.* **2004**, *70*, 39-44.
- Dahlman-Wright, K.; Cavailles, V.; Fuqua, S. A.; Jordan, V. C.; Katzenellenbogen, J. A.; Korach, K. S.; Maggi, A.; Muramatsu, M.; Parker, M. G.; Gustafsson, J. Å., International union of pharmacology. LXIV. Estrogen receptors. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 2006, 58, 773-781.
- 245. Heldring, N.; Pike, A.; Andersson, S.; Matthews, J.; Cheng, G.; Hartman, J.; Tujague, M.; Strom, A.; Treuter, E.; Warner, M., Estrogen receptors: how do they signal and what are their targets. *Physiol. Rev.* **2007**, *87*, 905-931.

- 246. Jeyakumar, M.; Carlson, K. E.; Gunther, J. R.; Katzenellenbogen, J. A., Exploration of dimensions of estrogen potency parsing ligand binding and coactivator binding affinities. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2011**, 286, 12971-12982.
- 247. Gustafsson, J. A., Estrogen receptor beta—a new dimension in estrogen mechanism of action. *J. Endocrinol.* **1999**, *163*, 379-383.
- 248. Rietjens, I. M.; Sotoca, A. M.; Vervoort, J.; Louisse, J., Mechanisms underlying the dualistic mode of action of major soy isoflavones in relation to cell proliferation and cancer risks. *Mol. Nutr. Food Res.* **2013**, *57*, 100-113.
- 249. Park, B. W.; Kim, K. S.; Heo, M. K.; Ko, S. S.; Lee, K. S.; Hong, S. W.; Yang, W. I.; Kim, J. H.; Kim, G. E., Expression of estrogen receptor β in normal mammary and tumor tissues: is it protective in breast carcinogenesis? *Breast Cancer Res. Treat.* **2003**, *80*, 79-85.
- 250. Shaaban, A. M.; O'neill, P. A.; Davies, M. P.; Sibson, R.; West, C. R.; Smith, P. H.; Foster, C. S., Declining estrogen receptor-β expression defines malignant progression of human breast neoplasia. *Am. J. Surg. Pathol.* **2003**, 27, 1502-1512.
- 251. Skliris, G. P.; Munot, K.; Bell, S. M.; Carder, P. J.; Lane, S.; Horgan, K.; Lansdown, M. R.; Parkes, A. T.; Hanby, A. M.; Markham, A. F., Reduced expression of oestrogen receptor β in invasive breast cancer and its reexpression using DNA methyl transferase inhibitors in a cell line model. *J. Pathol.* **2003**, *201*, 213-220.
- 252. Rody, A.; Holtrich, U.; Solbach, C.; Kourtis, K.; Von Minckwitz, G.; Engels, K.; Kissler, S.; Gatje, R.; Karn, T.; Kaufmann, M., Methylation of estrogen receptor β promoter correlates with loss of ER-β expression in mammary carcinoma and is an early indication marker in premalignant lesions. *Endocr. Relate. Cancer* **2005**, *12*, 903-916.
- Gustafsson, J.-Å.; Warner, M., Estrogen receptor β in the breast: role in estrogen responsiveness and development of breast cancer. *J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol.* 2000, 74, 245-248.
- 254. Huang, B.; Omoto, Y.; Iwase, H.; Yamashita, H.; Toyama, T.; Coombes, R. C.; Filipovic, A.; Warner, M.; Gustafsson, J. Å., Differential expression of estrogen

receptor  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ 1, and  $\beta$ 2 in lobular and ductal breast cancer. *P. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA **2014**, *111*, 1933-1938.

- 255. Paruthiyil, S.; Parmar, H.; Kerekatte, V.; Cunha, G. R.; Firestone, G. L.; Leitman, D. C., Estrogen receptor β inhibits human breast cancer cell proliferation and tumor formation by causing a G2 cell cycle arrest. *Cancer Res* **2004**, *64*, 423-428.
- 256. Warbrick, E.; Lane, D. P.; Glover, D. M.; Cox, L. S., A small peptide inhibitor of DNA replication defines the site of interaction between the cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p21WAF1 and proliferating cell nuclear antigen. *Curr. Biol.* **1995**, *5*, 275-282.
- 257. Chen, J.; Jackson, P. K.; Kirschner, M. W.; Dutta, A., Separate domains of p21 involved in the inhibition of Cdk kinase and PCNA. *Nature* **1995**, *374*, 386.
- 258. Sammartino, A.; Di Carlo, C.; Mandato, V.; Bifulco, G.; Di Stefano, M.; Nappi, C., Effects of genistein on the endometrium: ultrasonographic evaluation. *Gynecol. Endocrinol.* **2003**, *17*, 45-49.
- 259. Lian, Z.; Niwa, K.; Tagami, K.; Hashimoto, M.; Gao, J.; Yokoyama, Y.; Mori, H.; Tamaya, T., Preventive effects of isoflavones, genistein and daidzein, on estradiol-17β-related endometrial carcinogenesis in mice. *Jpn. J. Cancer Res.* **2001**, *92*, 726-734.
- 260. van de Schans, M. G.; Ritschel, T.; Bovee, T. F.; Sanders, M. G.; de Waard, P.; Gruppen, H.; Vincken, J. P., Involvement of a hydrophobic pocket and helix 11 in determining the modes of action of prenylated flavonoids and isoflavonoids in the human estrogen receptor. *ChemBioChem* **2015**, *16*, 2668-2677.
- 261. Strunck, E.; Stemmann, N.; Hopert, A. C.; Wünsche, W.; Frank, K.; Vollmer, G., Relative binding affinity does not predict biological response to xenoestrogens in rat endometrial adenocarcinoma cells. *J. Steroid Biochem.* **2000**, *74*, 73-81.
- 262. Wong, C. W.; Komm, B.; Cheskis, B. J., Structure–function evaluation of ER α and β interplay with SRC family coactivators. ER selective ligands. *Biochemistry* **2001**, *40*, 6756-6765.
- 263. Helle, J.; Kräker, K.; Bader, M. I.; Keiler, A. M.; Zierau, O.; Vollmer, G.; Welsh, J.; Kretzschmar, G., Assessment of the proliferative capacity of the flavanones 8-

prenylnaringenin, 6-(1.1-dimethylallyl) naringenin and naringenin in MCF-7 cells and the rat mammary gland. *Mol. Cell Endocrinol.* **2014**, 392, 125-135.

- 264. Kretzschmar, G.; Zierau, O.; Wober, J.; Tischer, S.; Metz, P.; Vollmer, G., Prenylation has a compound specific effect on the estrogenicity of naringenin and genistein. *J. Steroid Biochem.* **2010**, *118*, 1-6.
- 265. Li, X.; Huang, J.; Yi, P.; Bambara, R. A.; Hilf, R.; Muyan, M., Single-chain estrogen receptors (ERs) reveal that the ERα/β heterodimer emulates functions of the ERα dimer in genomic estrogen signaling pathways. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **2004**, 24, 7681-7694.
- 266. Zand, R. S. R.; Jenkins, D. J.; Diamandis, E. P., Steroid hormone activity of flavonoids and related compounds. *Breast Cancer Res. Treat.* **2000**, *62*, 35-49.
- 267. An, J.; Tzagarakis-Foster, C.; Scharschmidt, T. C.; Lomri, N.; Leitman, D. C., Estrogen receptor β-selective transcriptional activity and recruitment of coregulators by phytoestrogens. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2001**, 276, 17808-17814.
- 268. Peterson, T. G.; Coward, L.; Kirk, M.; Falany, C. N.; Barnes, S., The role of metabolism in mammary epithelial cell growth inhibition by the isoflavones genistein and biochanin A. *Carcinogenesis* **1996**, *17*, 1861-1869.
- Lee, J. S.; Ettinger, B.; Stanczyk, F. Z.; Vittinghoff, E.; Hanes, V.; Cauley, J. A.; Chandler, W.; Settlage, J.; Beattie, M. S.; Folkerd, E., Comparison of methods to measure low serum estradiol levels in postmenopausal women. *J. Clin. Endocr. Metab.* 2006, *91*, 3791-3797.
- 270. Cheng, G.; Wilczek, B.; Warner, M.; Gustafsson, J. Å.; Landgren, B.-M., Isoflavone treatment for acute menopausal symptoms. *Menopause* **2007**, *14*, 468-473.
- 271. Xu, F.; Ding, Y.; Guo, Y.; Liu, B.; Kou, Z.; Xiao, W.; Zhu, J., Anti-osteoporosis effect of Epimedium via an estrogen-like mechanism based on a system-level approach. *J. Ethnopharmacol.* **2016**, *177*, 148-160.
- 272. Zhang, B.; Chen, X.; Zhang, R.; Zheng, F.; Du, S.; Zhang, X., Metabolite profiling, pharmacokinetics, and in vitro glucuronidation of icaritin in rats by ultra-performance liquid chromatography coupled with mass spectrometry. *J. Anal. Methods Chem.* **2017**, 2017, 1-3.

- 273. Liu, H.; Wang, J.; Zhou, W.; Wang, Y.; Yang, L., Systems approaches and polypharmacology for drug discovery from herbal medicines: an example using licorice. *J. Ethnopharmacol.* **2013**, *146*, 773-793.
- 274. Reddy, A. S.; Zhang, S., Polypharmacology: drug discovery for the future. *Expert Rev. Clin. Phar.* **2013**, *6*, 41-47.
- 275. Lamartiniere, C. A., Protection against breast cancer with genistein: a component of soy. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* **2000**, *71*, 1705S-1707S.
- 276. Kurzer, M. S., Hormonal effects of soy in premenopausal women and men. *J. Nutr.* **2002**, *132*, 570S-573S.
- Overk, C. R.; Guo, J.; Chadwick, L. R.; Lantvit, D. D.; Minassi, A.; Appendino, G.; Chen, S. N.; Lankin, D. C.; Farnsworth, N. R.; Pauli, G. F., In vivo estrogenic comparisons of Trifolium pratense (red clover) Humulus lupulus (hops), and the pure compounds isoxanthohumol and 8-prenylnaringenin. *Chem-Biol. Interact.* 2008, *176*, 30-39.
- 278. Cordell, G. A., Ecopharmacognosy and the responsibilities of natural product research to sustainability. *Phytochem. Lett.* **2015**, *11*, 332-346.
- 279. Smith, T.; Lynch, M.; Johnson, J.; Kawa, K.; Bauman, H.; Blumenthal, M., Herbal dietary supplement sales in US increase 6.8% in 2014. *HerbalGram* **2015**, *107*, 52-59.
- 280. Dietz, B. M.; Chen, S.-N.; Alvarenga, R. F. R.; Dong, H.; Nikolić, D.; Biendl, M.; van Breemen, R. B.; Bolton, J. L.; Pauli, G. F., DESIGNER extracts as tools to balance estrogenic and chemopreventive activities of botanicals for women's health. *J. Nat. Prod.* **2017**, *80*, 2284-2294.

#### Appendices 1





Dear Obinna C. Mbachu,

Your permission requested is granted and there is no fee for this reuse. In your planned reuse, you must cite the ACS article as the source, add this direct link <u>https://pubs.acs.org/doi/10.1021/acs.jnatprod.7b01070</u>, and include a notice to readers that further permissions related to the material excerpted should be directed to the ACS.

If you need further assistance, please let me know.

Sincerely,

Raquel Picar-Simpson ACS Publications Support Customer Services & Information Website:<u>https://help.acs.org/</u>





Dear Dr. Mbachu,

Thank you for contacting ACS Publications Support.

Your permission requested is granted and there is no fee for this reuse. In your planned reuse, you must cite the ACS article as the source, add this direct link <<u>https://pubs.acs.org/doi/10.1021/acs.chemrestox.8b00345</u>>, and include a notice to readers that further permissions related to the material excerpted should be directed to the ACS.

Sincerely,

Budimir Jelic ACS Publications Customer Services & Information Website: <u>https://help.acs.org</u>

#### Appendices 2

Note: The raw and annotated NMR data, as well as the <sup>1</sup>H iterative full spin analysis (HiFSA) of 8-prenylapigenin, 4'O-methylbavachalcone and its isomer, abyssinone II, and licochalcone C are made freely available at Harvard Dataverse doi:10.7910/DVN/JZOL2U

- S1. <sup>1</sup>H NMR and chromatographic analyses of fraction 8 (2.1% w/w crude GI extract)
- a. Comparative 1H NMR spectra of fractions 8 with its four major isolated compounds



#### b. Semi-preparative chromatogram of fraction 8 after NMR analysis



Column: YMC- Pack ODS AQ (1250 x10 mm ID, S-10  $\mu$ m, 12 mm AQ12S11-251 OWT) Gradient: (B: Acetonitrile, A: Water) 58% B for 40 minutes in isocratic mode. Flow rate at 1.8 ml/min

Both the semi-preparative LC-UV chromatogram and the <sup>1</sup>H NMR spectrum indicate that licochalcone A and licochalcone C are the most abundant compounds in fraction 8, whereas 8-prenylapigenin (8-PA) is a minor metabolite. Knowing the fraction yield (7.13 mg = 2.1% w/w extract), the proportion of 8-PA in fraction 8 has been estimated at 5.1%w/w fraction, and thus the proportion of 8 PA in the crude extract is estimated at 0.11% w/w.

S2. Annotated  $^{1}H/^{13}C$  NMR and MS/MS spectra of 8-PA (DMSO- $d_{6}$ , 600 and 145MHz)

# a. Annotated <sup>1</sup>H NMR spectrum of verified 8-PA



# b. Annotated <sup>13</sup>C NMR spectrum of verified 8-PA



		8-prenylapigenin (Licoflavone C)		
Position	mult.	δ <sub>H</sub> ( <i>J</i> in Hz)	δ <sub>C</sub>	
C=O			181.74	
2			163.73	
3	1H	6.78, s	102.72	
5 (OH)		12.85, <i>s</i>	159.10	
6		6.28, <i>s</i>	98.38	
7			161.64	
8			106.10	
9			154.49	
10			103.66	
1'	1H		121.54	
2'/6'	2H	7.89 AA' type (J <sub>H2'/6'-H3'/5'</sub> :8.63/0.24, J <sub>H2'/6'-H2'/6'</sub> :2.88)*	127.61	
3'/5'	2H	6.92 XX' type (J <sub>H2'/6'-H3'/5'</sub> :8.63/0.24, J <sub>H3'/5'-H3'/5</sub> :2.88)*	115.17	
4'	1H		161.15	
1"	2H	3.42 d (J <sub>H2"-1"</sub> :7.039, J <sub>H1"-4"</sub> :0.96, J <sub>H1"-5"</sub> :0.73)*	22.06	
2"	1H	5.21 <i>ddqq</i> type ( <i>J</i> <sub>H2"-1"</sub> :7.04, <i>J</i> <sub>H2"-4"</sub> : -1.57, <i>J</i> <sub>H2"-5"</sub> : - 1.37)*	122.56	
3"			131.03	
4" CH3	3H	1.62 brs (J <sub>H1"-4"</sub> :0.96, J <sub>H2"-4"</sub> : -1.57)*	25.47	
5" CH3	3H	1.75 brs (J <sub>H1"-5"</sub> :0.74, J <sub>H2"-5"</sub> : -1.37)*	17.85	
7'- <u>OH</u>		10.78 brs		
4'-OH		10.37 brs		

c. <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C NMR data of 8-prenylapigenin

\*Calculated values obtained through full spin analysis using Perch NMR software, in order to obtain the exact coupling constants.

#### d. MS/MS spectrum of verified 8-prenylapigenin



MS/MS spectrum of verified 8-prenylapigenin. The MS/MS spectrum was taken with a CE ramp between 6-50 eV in positive ionization mode.

Synonym: 8-prenylapigenin, licoflavone C CAS Registry Number: 72357-31-4 Pubchem CID: 10246505

Molecular Formula: C20H18O5 Chemspider ID: 8421992

S3. Annotated <sup>1</sup>H/ <sup>13</sup>C NMR and MS/MS spectra of 4'-O-methylbavachalcone claimed to be 8-PA

a. <sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of sample acquired at 2-year interval (DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>, 600-900MHz)



The results presented here clearly demonstrated the isomerization of the chalcone into its flavanone isomer, in the NMR tube. The <sup>13</sup>C data was acquired on the 2 year-sample and thus reflects only the <sup>13</sup>C resonances of the flavanone isomer.

# b. Annotated <sup>13</sup>C NMR spectrum of 2-year sample containing mainly bavachinin (syn.

#### Bavachinin A, 7-O-methylbavachinin)



# c. Annotated <sup>1</sup>H NMR spectrum of 4'O-methylbavachalcone (DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>, 600 MHz)



d. Annotated <sup>1</sup>H NMR spectrum of bavachinin (DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>, 900 MHz)



		4'O-methylbavachalcone	Bavachinin ( flavanone isomer )		
Pos.	mult	δ <sub>H</sub> ( <i>J</i> in Hz)	δ <sub>c</sub> <sup>a</sup>	δ <sub>H</sub> ( <i>J</i> in Hz)	δ <sub>c</sub> <sup>d</sup>
	•		101.0		
C=O			191.9		nd
0			0		70.40
2	411	Not present		$5.45 \ dd \ (J_{3a-2}:13.13; \ J_{3b-2}:2.84)^{\circ}$	79.19
30	1H			$3.14, dd (J_{3a-3b} :-16.95; J_{3b-2}:13.13)^{\circ}$	43.13
3a	1H		00.44	$2.63, dd (J_{3a-3b}:-16.95; J_{3a-2}:2.84)^{\circ}$	00.44
3' (8)	1H	6.49, s (J <sub>H3'-6'</sub> :0.92)	99.14	6.61, s (J <sub>8-5</sub> :0.006)	99.14
4 (4')			nd		nd
5' (6)			121.0		123.47
6' (5)		7.99, <i>s</i> (J <sub>H3'-6'</sub> :0.92)	130.0	7.48, s (J <sub>H5-8</sub> :0.006)	125.95
<i>a</i>	11	$7.67 d(h_{12})$	4	Not prosont	
ß	111	$7.07, d(0_{H\alpha-\beta}, 15.13)$		Not present	
р 1'(10)		$7.74, 0 (0_{H\alpha-\beta}, 10.15)$	112 5	Not present	114 17
1 (10)	1H		2		114.17
2'(0)			164.5		162.20
2 (3)			6		102.29
2/6 (2'/6')	2H	7.71 AA'(J <sub>H2/6-H3/5</sub> :8.29/0.80, J <sub>H2/6-H2/6</sub> :1.69)*	131.1	7.34 AA' (J <sub>H2'/6'-H3'/5'</sub> :8.15/0.62, J <sub>H2'/6'-H2'/6</sub> :1.71)*	128.29
			6		444.05
3/5 (375)	2H	6.75 XX (J <sub>H2/6-H3/5</sub> :8.63/0.24, J <sub>H3/5-H3/5</sub> :1.87) <sup>*</sup>	na	$6.79 XX (J_{H2'/6'-H3'/5'}:8.15/0.62, J_{H3'/5'-H3'/5}:1.71)^{-1}$	114.95
4'(7)	1H		163.4		164.13
O-CH3	3H	3.84. s	56.03	3.83. s	56.03
1"	2H	$3.23. d (J_{H2",1"}; 7.64. J_{H1",4"}; -0.80. J_{H1",5"}; 0.64)^*$	28.56	3.18. <i>d</i> (J <sub>H2"-1"</sub> :7.45. J <sub>H1"-4"</sub> :-0.34. J <sub>H1"-5"</sub> :0.79)*	27.29
2"		5.22, $ddga (J_{H2",4"}; 7.64, J_{H2",4"}; -1.57, J_{H2",5"}; -1.34)^*$	123.1	5.22, $ddgg(J_{H2",1"}; 7.45, J_{H2",4"}; -1.39, J_{H2",5"}; -$	121.92
_	1H	·····; ····; ·····; ·····; ·····; ·····; ·····; ·····; ·····; ·····; ·····; ·····;	9	1.24)*	
3"			131.1		132.0
			3		
4" CH3	3H	1.67, brs (J <sub>H1"-4"</sub> :-0.80, J <sub>H2"-4"</sub> : -1.57)*	26.01	1.65, <i>br</i> s (J <sub>H1"-4"</sub> : -0.34, J <sub>H2"-4</sub> ": -1.39)*	26.08
5"CH3	3H	1.71, brs (J <sub>H1"-5"</sub> :0.64, J <sub>H2"-5"</sub> : -1.37)*	17.25	1.70, brs (J <sub>H1"-5"</sub> :0.79, J <sub>H2"-5"</sub> : -1.23)*	17.86

# e. <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C NMR data of 4'O-methylbavachalcone and its isomer (DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>, 600 MH, 145 MHz)

The numbers between brackets are related to bavachinin \*Calculated values obtained through full spin analysis using Perch NMR software, in order to obtain the exact coupling constants. nd=- not detected <sup>d</sup> determined from HMBC/HSQC data and <sup>13</sup>C data for bavachinin.

#### f. LC-MS chromatogram of the sample received and MS/MS spectrum of 4'-O-

#### methylbavachalcone



LC-MS Chromatogram (left side) and MS/MS spectrum (right side) obtained for the sample claimed to be 8-prenylapigenin. The MS/MS spectrum was taken with a CE ramp between 6-50 eV in positive ionization mode. The extracted ion chromatogram (m/z 339) dysplayed two peaks with the exact same MS /MS spectra, thereby suggesting the presence of two isomeric forms

Pubchem CID: 5321765 CAS Registry Number: 20784-60-5 Chemspider ID: 4479431 Molecular Formula: C<sub>21</sub>H<sub>22</sub>O

# S4. Annotated <sup>1</sup>H NMR spectrum of Abyssinone II (DMSO-*d*<sub>6</sub>, 600 MHz)

# a. Annotated <sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra



Position	mult.	δ <sub>H</sub> (J in Hz) in ppm	õ <sub>c</sub> in			
			ppm			
C=O			191.97			
2	1H	5.41 <i>dd</i> ( <i>J</i> <sub>H2-3b</sub> :12.78, <i>J</i> <sub>H2-3a</sub> :2.92)*	79.31			
3a	1H	2.62 <i>dd</i> ( <i>J</i> <sub>H3a-3b</sub> :-16.76, <i>J</i> <sub>H2-3a</sub> :2.92)*	43.56			
3b	1H	3.11 <i>dd</i> ( <i>J</i> <sub>H3a-3b</sub> :-16.76, <i>J</i> <sub>H2-3b</sub> :12.78)*				
5	1H	7.64, <i>d</i> ( <i>J</i> <sub>H6-5</sub> : 8.22, <i>J</i> <sub>H5-8</sub> :0.55)*	128.79			
6	1H	6.50, <i>dd</i> (J <sub>H6-5</sub> :8.22, J <sub>H8-6</sub> 2.25)*	110.60			
7 (OH)			164.80			
8	1H	6.32, <i>d</i> (J <sub>H8-6</sub> : 2.25, J <sub>H5-8</sub> :0.55)*	102.85			
9			162.29			
10			114.33			
1'			nd			
2'	1H	7.17, <i>d</i> ( <i>J</i> <sub>H2'-6</sub> : 2.4, <i>J</i> <sub>H5'-2</sub> : 0.21, <i>J</i> <sub>H2'-1"ab</sub> : 0.05)*	128.75			
3'		W	nd			
4' (OH)			156.58			
5'	1H	6.80, <i>d</i> (J <sub>H5'-6'</sub> 8.66, J <sub>H5'-2</sub> : 0.21)*	nd			
6'	1H	7.15, dd (J <sub>H5'-6'</sub> 8.66, J <sub>H2'-6'</sub> : 2.41)*	125.68			
1"a		3.22 <i>d</i> (J <sub>H2<sup>"-1</sup>"a</sub> :7.40, J <sub>H1</sub> "a-4":0.70, J <sub>H1</sub> "a-5":0.93 ,	27.50			
1"b	1H	J <sub>H1"a-b</sub> :-18, J <sub>H2'-1"a</sub> : 0.05)*				
	1H	3.22 <i>d</i> (J <sub>H2"-1"b</sub> :7.16, J <sub>H1"b-4"</sub> :1.02, J <sub>H1"b-5"</sub> :0.61 ,				
		J <sub>H1"a-b</sub> :-18 J <sub>H2'-1"b</sub> : 0.05)*				
2"	1	5.27 <i>ddqq</i> (J <sub>H2"-1"a</sub> :7.40, J <sub>H2"-1"b</sub> :7.16, J <sub>H2"-4</sub> ":-1.53,	123.06			
		J <sub>H2"-5</sub> ": -1.28)*				
3"			132.02			
4" CH3	3H	1.68, brs (J <sub>H1"a-4"</sub> :0.70, J <sub>H1"b-4"</sub> :1.02, J <sub>H2"-4"</sub> :-1.53) *	26.15			
5" CH3	3H	$1.67$ brs $(J_{\mu_1 n_2}, 5n_1; 0.93, J_{\mu_1 n_2}, 5n_2; 0.61, J_{\mu_2 n_2}; -1.28)$ *	18 27			

b. <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C NMR data (DMSO- $d_6$ , 600MHz)

5" CH33H1.67, brs ( $J_{H1"a-5"}:0.93$ ,  $J_{H1"b-5"}:0.61$ ,  $J_{H2"-5"}:-1.28$ ) \*18.27\*Calculated values obtained through full spin analysis using Perch NMR software, in order to obtain the exact coupling constants. Nd=- not detected <sup>d</sup> Determined from HMBC/HSQC data.

- S5. Annotated <sup>1</sup>H NMR spectrum of licochalcone C (DMSO-*d*<sub>6</sub>, 600 MHz)
- a. Annotated <sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra



<b>D.</b> $H$ and $C$ NMR data (DMSO-d <sub>6</sub> , 600 MHZ)					
Position	mult.	δ <sub>H</sub> in ppm ( <i>J</i> in Hz)	$\delta_{c}$ in ppm		
C=O			nd		
1			113.47		
2 (-OMe)			158.31		
3			nd		
4 (-OH)			159.89		
5		6.71, <i>d</i> (J <sub>H5-6</sub> : 8.58)	112.32		
6	1H	7.72, <i>d</i> (J <sub>H5-6</sub> 8.58)	127.35		
2', 6'	2H	8.00, AA' type (J <sub>H2'/6'-H3'/5'</sub> :8.55/0.37, J <sub>H2'/6'-</sub>	131.45		
		<sub>H2'/6'</sub> :2.19)*			
5', 3'	2H	6.88, XX' type (J <sub>H2'/6'-H3'/5'</sub> :8.55/0.37, J <sub>H3'/5'</sub>	115.80		
		нз'/5':2.26)*			
α	1H	7.67, <i>d</i> (J <sub>Hα -β</sub> 15.56)*	119.71		
β	1H	7.82, <i>d</i> (J <sub>Hα - β</sub> 15.56)*	138.64		
1"	2H	3.25, <i>d</i> (J <sub>H2"-1"</sub> :7.04, J <sub>H1"-4"</sub> : 1.36, J <sub>H1"-5"</sub> : -1.36)*	22.88		
2"	1H	5.16 <i>ddqq</i> (J <sub>H2"-1"</sub> :7.04, J <sub>H2"-4"</sub> : 0.84, J <sub>H2"-5"</sub> : -1.34)*	123.53		
-CH3 (4")	3H	1.63, <i>br</i> s (J <sub>H1"-4"</sub> : 1.37, J <sub>H2"-4"</sub> : - 0.84) *	26.11		
-CH3 (5")	3H	1.73, <i>br</i> s (J <sub>H1"-5"</sub> : -1.36, J <sub>H2"-5"</sub> : -1.34) *	18.06		
O-CH3	3H	3.68 s	63.50		

b. <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C NMR data (DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>, 600 MHz)

\*Calculated values obtained through full spin analysis using Perch NMR software, in order to obtain the exact coupling constants. Nd=- not detected <sup>d</sup> Determined from HMBC/HSQC data.

### VITA

## EDUCATION:

University of Illinois at Chicago Graduate College,2014 to 2019Chicago, IL.2014 to 2019

Ph.D., Medicinal Chemistry, Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences

• Research advisor: Dr. Judy L. Bolton

## Midwestern University College of Pharmacy,

2010 to 2014

Downers Grove, IL.

• PharmD conferred May 22, 2014.

## **RESEARCH EXPERIENCE**:

(NIH Botanical Dietary Supplements Research Center)

Work on 3 projects to study differential modulation of estrogenic activity in estrogen receptor (ER) $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  by flavonoids in women's health botanicals with chemopreventive properties.

- **Project 1:** Identification of ERβ-preferential small molecules, (iso)flavonoids, present in health botanicals with potential chemoprotective properties *in vitro*.
  - In collaboration with UIC Botanical Center/analytical core, prepped botanical extracts, isolated and characterized respective bioactive compounds by UHPLC and NMR.
  - Performed colorimetric cell-based (alkaline phosphatase and ERE-Luciferase) assays using uterine and breast carcinoma cell lines to determine and compare ERα and ERβ activity of select botanical extracts/bioactive compounds.
- **Project 2:** Pharmacological study to determine optimal (ER)β-preferential (iso)flavonoid structures present in select botanicals *in vitro* 
  - Performed SAR on various related (iso)flavonoids to determine lead compound structures that favor ERβ activity.
  - Performed alkaline phosphatase and ERE-Luciferase assays using uterine and breast carcinoma cell lines to determine ERβ-preferential compound structures.
- **Project 3:** *In vivo* assessment of chemoprevention through antiproliferative activity by ERβ-preferential flavonoid 8-prenylapigenin (licoflavone C), isolated from licorice botanical extract.
  - Performed *in vivo* and histological study to assess (anti)proliferative activity of 8-prenylapigenin (licoflavone C) in animal tissue.
  - In collaboration with UIC Department of Pathology performed whole-mount tissue prep to study rodent mammary terminal end buds (TEB) as phenotypic biological endpoints and tissue biomarkers.

Adello Biologics, Chicago, IL.

Summer Intern, Manufacturing Science and Technology/Technical Services

- Developed and optimized of CEX and HIC methods for recombinant *granulocyte colony-stimulating growth factor* (GCSF) protein purification.
- Used protein solubilizing and refolding methods to perform upstream and downstream production.

## Quality Control Department

- Prepared samples using desalting columns for cation exchange HPLC and Empower<sup>®</sup> and Apex<sup>®</sup> software.
- Tabulated and verified recombinant GCSF protein sample stability data.

## Takeda Pharmaceuticals, Deerfield, IL

Summer 2011

Summer Intern, Department of Regulatory Affairs, Promotion, and Advertising

- Applied FDA regulation to ensure *fair balance* on drug label prior to new drug product launch.
- Assessed FDA drug-labelling compliance by top pharmaceutical companies in US.

## GRANTS AND AWARDS:

- Scientist Mentoring and Diversity Program Biotech Scholar Award 2019
   Oscar Robert Oldberg Award in Pharmaceutical Chemistry

   Awarded at: 21<sup>st</sup> Annual Graduate Students Awards Ceremony, UIC Research Day.
- Victor A. Drill Award, *Midwest Regional Chapter, Society of Toxicology* 2018
- W. E. van Doren Scholar Research Award 2018
  - Annual Graduate Student Awards Ceremony, UIC Research Day.
- Ruth L. Kirschstein National Research Service Award (NRSA) 2015
   Institutional Research Training Grant (T32)
  - Awarded by: NIH/National Center for Complementary & Integrative Health.
  - *Project Title:* Research Training in Natural Products, Complementary and Alternative Medicine.
- Midwestern University *Kenneth A. Suarez Research Award* 2012

Summer 2018

# SELECTED POSTER PRESENTATIONS (out of 12):

- Mbachu, O., Howell, C., Dong, H., Simmler, C., Chen, S.N., Malca-Garcia, G.R., Nikolic, D., Pauli, G.F., Dietz, B.M., Bolton, J. L.\* "Differential modulation of estrogenic activity in estrogen receptor (ER) α and β by flavonoids in women's health botanicals." *Great Lakes Drug Metabolism and Disposition Group Meeting, Ann Arbor, MI.* (May 2019)
- Mbachu, O., Howell, C., Hajirahimkhan, A., Simmler, C., Dong, H., Chen, S.N., Pauli, G.F., Dietz, B.M., Bolton, J. L.\* "SAR study of flavonoids/isoflavonoids on estrogen receptor α and β selectivity: prenylation enhances flavonoid estrogenicity but decreases isoflavonoid activity." *Society of Toxicology, Midwest Regional Chapter Meeting, Mundelein, IL.* (May 2018)
- **Mbachu**, **O**., Simmler, C., Green, S., Dong, H., Nikolic, D., Chen, S.N., Pauli G.F., van Breemen, R.B., Dietz, B.M., Bolton, J.L.\*8-Prenylapigenin (8-PA) contributes to the estrogenic activity of Glycyrrhiza inflata. *NIH Centers for Advancing Research on Botanicals and other Natural Products (CARBON) meeting/NIH Botanical Center Directors meeting, Bethesda, MD*. (May 2016)
- Puppala, B., Awan, I., Briyal, S., Mbachu, O., Leonard, M. and Gulati, A.\*
   "Ontogeny of Endothelin Receptors in brain, heart, and kidney of neonatal rats." *Midwestern University Kenneth A. Suarez Research Day, Downers Grove, IL.* (May 2012)

# SELECTED ORAL PRESENTATIONS (out of 6):

- "Is the Verification of Identity & Purity of Commercial Standards Necessary?" *NIH Centers for Advancing Research on Botanicals and other Natural Products (CARBON) meeting/NIH Botanical Center Directors meeting, Chicago, IL.* (May 2017)
- "Identification of Estrogen Receptor 
   Selective Agonist 8-Prenylapigenin from Licorice and SAR of Similar Phytoestrogens Found in Women's Health Botanicals" 55<sup>th</sup> Annual MIKI conference, Minneapolis, MN. (April 2017)
- "Estrogenic activities of flavonoids in women's health botanicals; importance of prenylation, C-ring unsaturation, and hydroxyl substituents." *NIH Botanical Center meeting, Chicago, IL.* (January and February, 2017)
- Presentation at Takeda Pharmaceuticals "*Clinical Studies by the Top 12 U.S. Pharmaceutical Companies from May 2011 to May 2012*", Deerfield, IL. (Summer 2012)

#### MANUSCRIPTS (\*indicates corresponding author, \*\* co-authorship):

- Mbachu, O., Howell, C., Dong, H., Simmler, C., Gonzalo, R. M. G., Chen, S.N., Pauli, G.F., Dietz, B.M., Bolton, J. L.\* "Comparative SAR study on estrogen receptor α/β activity of *(iso)*flavonoids: importance of prenylation, C-ring saturation, and hydroxyl substituents." *Journal of Agriculture and Food Chemistry* (2019) *(manuscript in preparation)*
- Hajirahimkhan, A \*\*., Mbachu, O.\*\*, Simmler, C., Green, S., Dong, H., Nikolic, D., Lankin, D., van Breemen, R., Chen, S., Pauli, G., Dietz, B., Bolton, J. L.\*
   "Estrogen Receptor (ER) Subtype Selectivity Identifies 8-Prenylapigenin as ERβ Agonist from G. inflata and Highlights the Importance of Chemical and Biological Authentication." *J Nat Prod.* 81 (4), 966 975 (2018)
- Bolton, J., Dunlap, T., Hajirahimkhan, Dr. A,. Mbachu, O., Chen, S., Chadwick, L., Nikolic, D., van Breemen, R., Pauli, G., Dietz, B. "The Multiple Biological Targets of Hops and Bioactive Compounds" *Chem Res Toxicol.* 32 (2), 222 - 233 (2018)
- Wang, S., Dunlap, T.L., Howell, C.E., Mbachu, O., Rue, E.A., Phansalkar, R.S., Chen, S.N., Pauli, G.F., Dietz, B.M. and Bolton, J.L.\* "Hop (Humulus lupulus L.) Extract and 6-Prenylnaringenin Induce P450 1A1 Catalyzed Estrogen 2-Hydroxylation." *Chem. Res. Toxicol.* 29 (7), 1142 -1150 (2016). American Chemical Society Press Release, June 22, 2016. <u>https://www.acs.org/content/acs/en/pressroom/presspacs/2016/acs-presspacjune-22-2016/hops-and-breas-cancer.html</u>. PMC4951797
- Puppala, B., Awan, I., Briyal, S., Mbachu, O., Leonard, M. and Gulati, A.\*
   "Ontogeny of Endothelin Receptors in brain, heart, and kidney of Neonatal Rats." Brain Dev. 37.2: 206-215 (2015)

## **References**

Supplied on request.